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PART I

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwarddimg statements that are based on our beliefsesdmptions regarding future events and
circumstances, including statements regarding oatsgies, our opportunities, developments in tealthcare market, our relationships with our
customers and contract manufacturer and other matiEhese statements are principally containedeml 1, Business; Item 1A, Risk Factors;
Item 7, Management's Discussion and Analysis ddriéial Condition and Results of Operations; andeotsections of this Annual Report

Form 1(-K. Forward-looking statements include statemelmés are not historical facts and can be identifdwords such as “project,”

“believe,” “anticipate,” “plan,” “expect,” “estimat e,” “intend,” “continue,” “should,” “would, will” or “may,” or

other similar words and phrases.

”ou ”ow ”u ”ou ” ” ”u

could ,” “potentially,

Forward-looking statements are subject to known and unkmisks, uncertainties and other factors that cocddise actual results to differ
materially from the results anticipated by theseverd-looking statements. These risks, uncertasndied factors include those we discuss in this
annual report in Item 1A, Risk Factors. You shaelad these risk factors and the other cautionaagyeshents made in this Annual Report on F
10-K as being applicable to all related forward-ling statements wherever they appear in this AnReglort on Form 10-K. It is not possible for
us to predict all risks that could affect us, nanave assess the impact of all factors on our lassiror the extent to which any factor, or
combination of factors, may cause actual resulidifier materially from those contained in any fangd-looking statements we may make.
Moreover, new risks emerge from time to ti

The forward-looking statements made in this AnfRegort on Form 10-K relate only to events as ofddie on which the statements are made.
We undertake no obligation to update publicly asryard-looking statements, whether as a resultea¥ mformation, future events or otherwise,
except as required by law.

ltem 1. Busines:

Overview

We are a provider of secure, integrated, intelliggmmunication solutions, focused on empowerindpitaavorkers in healthcare, hospitality,
energy, and other mission-critical mobile work eamiments, in the U.S. and internationally. Today ghgnificant majority of our business is
generated from sales of our solutions in the heaftthmarket, but we are working to expand our satesmarketing efforts to enter and grow in
other markets. We help our healthcare customersivepatient safety and satisfaction, and incréaseital efficiency and productivity through
our Communication and Care Experience solutionss&thave been installed in more than 1,200 headtlacal non-healthcare organizations
worldwide.

The Communication solution, which includes an iigeht enterprise software platform, a lightweighigarable, voice-controlled communication
badge, and smartphone applications, enables wseoshect instantly with other staff simply by saythe name, function or group name of the
desired recipient. It also securely delivers tegsaages and alerts directly to and from smartphoeplscing legacy pagers.

At the core of our Communication solution is a péfgrotected server software platform that we iditiced in 2002. We have significantly
enhanced and added features and functionalityigestiution through ongoing development based eguent interactions with our customers.
software platform is built upon a scalable architez and recognizes more than 100 spoken commblsdss can instantly communicate with
others using the Vocera communication badge outiitd/ocera Connect and Collaboration Suite clippiiaations for iPhone and Android
smartphones, as well as through Cisco wirelessitiigs. Our solution lets users communicate andlmmlate with each other using voice or
secure text, and unlike other solutions, allowssisereach people by their role, room number padenent, without ever knowing a person’s
name or phone number. The system can also broasto@sgency messages to a single department or la edvmpany. Our Communication
solution can be integrated with nurse call, patieahitoring and other clinical systems to immediatand efficiently alert hospital workers to
patient needs. In applications outside of healthcsimilar integrations are possible, such as ltiléyato integrate our Communication solution
with hospitality workflow management solutions magrove guest satisfaction and staff productivity.

Vocera Care Experience is a hosted, software saoltiite that coordinates and streamlines prowilgatient and provider-to-provider
communication across the continuum of care. Tlhetisa is used to provide personalized patientrirttons and education, to alert and notify
physicians and caregivers of patients’ changing péans or status and to track patient satisfagi@or to, during, and following hospitalization.

Our Experience Innovation Network, our thought Exatiip consulting division, complements our Vodgesie Experience solutions. It is a
membership-based program designed to spread titi@dof leading strategies to improve patient atadf experience.
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Our solutions are deployed in 970 hospitals andtiesre facilities, including large hospital systeramall and medium-sized local hospitals, and
a small number of clinics, surgery centers and aged facilities. Over 1,200 customers, includioghealthcare users, have deployed our
solutions. We sell our solutions to our health@argtomers primarily through our direct sales farcthe United States, with resellers for certain
U.S. Government business, and through direct saldselect distribution channels in internationathets.

On January 13, 2014, we acquired certain asset8/afum, Inc., an innovative provider of alarm masmgnt technology solutions for health
systems. This new acquisition specifically addregsenmunications breakdowns caused by alarm faggperienced by healthcare workers in
critical care facilities. The mVisum solution isgected to align well with our strategic vision @fifg the leader in integrated, intelligent
communications solutions for healthcare and othesion-critical environments.

We were incorporated in Delaware on February 1802Qur corporate headquarters are located at 526 Rtreet, San Jose, CA 95126, and our
main telephone number is (408) 88200. We maintain a website at www.vocera.com. ddrgents of our website are not incorporated ioto,
otherwise to be regarded as part of, this AnnualoReon Form 10-K.

Vocera® is our primary registered trademark inltmited States. Other trademarks appearing in thisiishent are the property of their respective
holders.

Industry overview

Vocera provides communication solutions for mobitakers in healthcare, hospitality, energy, edwcasind other industries. Healthcare is our
largest vertical market. Improving communicationoag the mobile and highly dispersed healthcaregggibnals in hospitals is extremely
important. Hospital communications are typicallyndocted through disparate systems, including oeetipaging, pagers and mobile phones,
often relying on written records of who is servingspecific roles during a particular shift. Thésgacy communication methods are inefficient,
often unreliable, noisy and do not provide “clossap” communication (in which a caller knows if @&ssage has reached its intended recipient).
These communication deficiencies can negativelyachpatient safety, delay patient care and resuperational inefficiencies.

Additionally, the increasing focus on improving ipats' experience is supported by federal healthe=form legislation, which incorporates
financial incentives for hospitals to improve thelity of care and patient satisfaction. A numbfenan-government organizations, such as The
Joint Commission, are requiring improvements inguatsafety and quality of care. These forces axeénd) hospitals to invest in technology and
process improvements to manage their operatione eféiciently and to improve safety, quality andtof care and patient satisfaction. Our
communication platform helps hospitals increaselpetivity and reduce costs by streamlining operetj@and improves patient and staff
satisfaction by enabling secure, integrated, atelligent communication.

We also serve other vertical industries, includiogpitality, nuclear energy and education. In thepitality industry, our Communication solution
can be used to increase guest satisfaction anthypga well as staff productivity and responsiv&ndn the nuclear energy industry, Vocera ce
used to instantly connect people and resourcesvi® time and steps, shorten refuel outages, antedtie potential for worker radiation
exposure. Schools can leverage our Communicatilomico to increase security and staff communicateord libraries can use our
Communication solution to enable their librariam$& more mobile and attentive to their patrons.

Our strategy

Our goal is to extend our leadership position peoaider of communication solutions in the healtiecaarket and expand our communications
solutions in non-healthcare markets

Key elements of our strategy include:

» Expand our business to new U.S. healthcare custosn  As of December 31, 2013, our solutions werdajegal in approximately 11% of
U.S. hospitals. We believe our unified communigagtatform can provide significant value to bottgland small hospitals. We plan to
continue to add new customers among hospitald sizals. We have structured and incentivized ol@ssarganization to focus on sales to
new customer sites, particularly within large healystems.

» Further penetrate our existing installed customease. Typically, our customers initially deploy ouno@munication solutions in a few
departments of a hospital and gradually expandiditianal departments as they come to fully apgtecihe value of our solutions. We
recognize the significant opportunity to up-sellamoss-sell to our existing customers, includimg inew hospitals that are part of an existing
healthcare system customer. Key sales strategiksls promoting further adoption of our Communicatsolution and demonstrating the
value of our Care Experience solutions to our edstustomers. We plan to continue expanding withinexisting customers in order to
grow our revenue and maintain and improve cust@axrperience.
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« Extend our technology advantage and create new prcidsolutions.  We intend to continue our investment in redeared development to
enhance the functionality of our communication sohs and further differentiate them from other pating solutions. We plan to invest in
product upgrades, product line extensions and méwisgns to enhance our portfolio, such as ouonhtiction of the Collaboration Suite client
application for iPhone and Android mobile platforms

* Pursue acquisitions of complementary businessesht®logies and asset We have completed five small acquisitions sid@#0 to
expand our solutions offering, demonstrating thatcan successfully source, acquire and integratplemnentary businesses, technologies
and assets. We intend to continue to pursue atiguisipportunities that we believe can accelefda¢egrowth of our business.

« Grow our international healthcare presence. Today, in addition to our core U.S. market,se# primarily into other English-speaking
markets, including Canada, the United Kingdom, Aaligt and New Zealand. As of December 31, 2013 solutions were deployed in over
125 healthcare facilities outside the United Statés plan both to utilize our direct sales force &verage channel partners to expand our
presence in other English-speaking markets and eateEnglish speaking countries. We have als@dhitced localized versions of our
Communication solution for the French languagefandnglish speakers in Singapore.

« Expand our communication solutions in nc-healthcare markets. While our primary focus is on the healthcarekag we believe that our
communication solutions can also provide valuedn-healthcare markets. Our Communication solutitng been deployed at over 200
customers in markets beyond healthcare includirspitelity, energy and other mission critical mohilerk environments. Currently, this is
not a material portion of our revenue, but longemt, we believe these markets could represent patepportunities for growth.

Our products, technology and services

Our solutions include the Vocera Communication 8ystVocera Care Experience suite and our Experiemezation Network, a thought
leadership collaborative. To complement our sohgjave provide services, support and educatiorlip dur customers optimize the benefits of
our solutions.

Vocera Communication System

The Vocera Communication solution is comprised ohmue software platform that connects commuriecatievices, including our hands-free,
wearable, voice-controlled communication badged,taimd-party mobile devices that use our softwaplications to become part of the Vocera
system. The system transforms the way mobile werkemmunicate by enabling them to instantly connéttt the right person simply by saying
the name, function or group name of the person weayt to reach, often while remaining at the paifitare. Our system responds to over 100
spoken commands.

Some examples of common commands are shown below.

Action Spoken commands

Call by name Call John Smith.

Call a group member Call anAnesthesiologist.

Dial a phone number or extension Dial extensior8145.

Initiate a broadcast to a group Broadcast t&Emergency Response Team
Locate nearest member of a group Where is the nearest membeiSafcurity?
Send a voice message Record a message fBediatric Nursing

Components of the Vocera Communication System dieclu

» Software platform. At the heart of our Vocera Communication Systew fgtent-protected enterprise-class software phatfbat runs on
our customers’ Windows-based servers. The intelligeof our client-server system is contained prilparithin our server-software. This
platform contains an optimized speech recognitingiree and call management functionality. In additid controls the calling and messaging
functions of the mobile client devices and mairgginofiles for users and groups that enable cugtation of workflow patterns for each
customer. Our scalable software platform can suppaltiple geographic sites and multiple facilitiw#hin a healthcare system to help
clinicians stay connected to the latest statubeaif patients.

In addition to the primary system server, our safevplatform includes usage and diagnostic reppttinls, as well as our telephony softw
to interface to customers’ existing phone systebus. solution is further embedded into the cliniealrkflow of the hospital through the
ability to integrate with over 50 third-party clgal systems, including nurse call, patient monitgprnd electronic medical record systems.
These integrated solutions enable the immediateestglof alerts to hospital workers, helping to imoye patient safety and satisfaction.
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» Communication badge Our communication badge is a wearable device wegglgiss than two ounces that operates over cussbmer
industry-standard Wi networks, the use of which has become incresprgvalent in hospitals. The badge is worn clghpza shirt or on
lanyard. It can be used to conduct hands-free camuation and is the only hands-free device of it&lklt enables instant two-way voice
conversations without the need to remember a phoner or use a handset. An over-the-air updatdhameem seamlessly updates device
software. Our badge also incorporates automatgndistic mechanisms that feed data on wireless metperformance back to the software
platform for reporting and diagnosis of problemBeocera B3000 badge, our fourth generation conication badge, offers improved
durability, a louder speaker for noisy environmeantd proprietary acoustic noise reduction technotogmprove speech recognition by
eliminating background noise.

» Vocera Connect. Vocera Connect mobile applications allow Voceraamers to enable authorized users to access the walling
capability of our system on third-party mobile dms, including iPhone, Android and other mobileickes. In 2012, we added Cisco wireless
IP phones to the list of mobile devices we suppdftien used in a Wi-Fi environment, the Vocera Cohn@bile application enables non-
Vocera devices to receive voice communicationatetil within the Vocera system, including role-bas&lts and group broadcasts. Onscreen
presence information enables users to see thes gthtther users and instantly connect with paldicindividuals, functional roles or entire
groups using voice commands or our click-to-configttionality.

* Vocera Secure Messagin@he Vocera Secure Messaging suite is a securepeiseemessaging and alerting solution that provaheartphon
users robust, reliable, HIPAA-compliant deliveryooitical pages, text, messages, alarms, and aléstrs can receive and send messages
from smartphones, and send through a web-basedleons through integrated third-party clinical ®ms. Our solution delivers text
messages, alerts and other information, directhni from smartphones. It is designed to replagingeand unsecure short message service,
or SMS, systems. Our solution is comprised of d@rrpnise-grade software platform and client appiiees that run on iPhone or Android
devices. The software platform provides the cemtitalligence, database of users and contacts amitoning controls that display a ret@he
dashboard of delivery, receipt confirmations argpomses.

» Vocera Collaboration Suite The Vocera Collaboration Suite that we recentlycamted will create a seamless user experience,inorgb
the unique calling, texting, alerting and contestrébution capabilities of Vocera into one, segugasy-to-use smartphone application. Key
features include support for shared and personpleAi®S and Android devices, ability to call by r@rfunction or group, secure and
auditable delivery and response reporting for slend texts and management of critical alarms asbages delivery through on-call
scheduling.

* Vocera Alarm Management Systers a result of the early 2014 acquisition of mVisunt., we expect to offer in mig014 an FDA cleare
technology that acts as a secondary alarm nofificatystem and provides clinical context, includwaveforms, like ECGs, and vital signs,
offering decision support and insight into theicality of every alarm. The Alarm Management systesas patented push notification
technology to connect with and distribute data femost any hospital alarm-generating device. Quméible dashboards allow users to
monitor alarms and alarm responses at the flossenand individual bed levels. In addition, theesoif connected care solutions delivers
patient details to physicians and specialists eir gmartphone.

Vocera Care Experience

Our Vocera Care Experience solution is a hostetivaoé suite we developed to improve patient anifl sxperience. Vocera Care Experience
suite offers caregivers communication solutions ¢ipan the entire care continuum - before admissioring treatment and after discharge. This
patient-centric solution is designed to enable tialspand health systems to improve care qualit/safety, enhance patient experience and
satisfaction, simplify and automate manual taskbs@ocedures, improve patient satisfaction sconeleuthe Hospital Consumer Assessment of
Healthcare Providers and Systems Survey ("HCAHRSIY,otherwise increase revenue and decrease costs.

Vocera Care Experience includes the following mesgul

» Good to Go®- Live discharge instructions are recorded, andrebg made available for patients, families anceottare providers to
review at any time, using any device.

» Care Calls- Streamlines patient follow-up calls and workflousing best practice checklists, risk stratificatioformation, and recorded
discharge instructions.

» Care Rounds- Measures and manages patient experience dufingmtal stay in real-time to evaluate gaps irsattion and provide
service recovery interventions.

» Performance Analytics- Multi-dimensional dashboards identify gaps in coamication, compliance and performance for eaciepit
by department and for the entire enterprise, adtessontinuum of care.

» PCP (Primary Care Physician) Notification- Patient updates can be sent by the hospital\stafext and/or email to primary care
physicians to keep them up-to-date on their patieire.

»  SNF (Skilled Nursing Facility) Communication- Patient discharge notifications along with reeat@dare instructions can be sent to
skilled nursing facilities, ensuring safer carasidions.
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Services

Our customer-centric strategy is supported by earises and support capabilities, which help cust@optimize their use of Vocera solutions
and enhance users' experience with our productssé@vices organization consists of the following:

»  Experience Innovation Network. T he Experience Innovation Network is a membershiggm that partners with healthcare provider
organizations to further the development of innmret and solutions that improve patient experieanwt clinical and operational
performance. Services offered by the Experiencevation Network include: advisory services focusaddeveloping organizational
alignment around patient experience strategy aiodiies, developing process improvement plansitwease patient and caregiver
satisfaction, providing curriculum and implemerdattools on topics such as improving plan of cammunication, service line experience
mapping, and developing physician and nurse paatines.

Professional services. Our professional services are key to helping custsrauccessfully deploy, manage, update and/omebbeir
Vocera systems in order to gain the full benefitewr solutions. As of December 31, 2013, our wsienal services team consisted of 40
professionals with expertise in wireless commuiaegiclinical workflow, end-user training, speediesice and project management,
approximately half of whom are nurses who undetstard can assist clients in addressing the chakeaficlinical communication issues.
We offer a full suite of services, including clinlavorkflow design, wireless assessment, solutmrfiguration, training and project
management, enabling customers to integrate outieos and improve workflow efficiency and stafbductivity. We also provide classroc
and distance learning curricula for systems adnmatisrs, information technology professionals almi@al educators.

» Technical support We provide 24x7 technical support to our custontiesugh our support centers in San Jose, Califpiiraeonto,
Canada; Knoxville, Tennessee and Reading, Unitedddm. As of December 31, 2013, our technical sttgpam consisted of 41 technical
support professionals with expertise in wireleskephony, integration, servers and client devi€es.team utilizes remote diagnostic tools to
proactively assess the performance of customeemgstEach support center includes bilingual Frérglish engineers. We assign technical
account management resources to our largest asctuhélp them expand the use of our solutiondacititate adoption of new functionalit
Additional services, including an annual Remotet&ysHealth Assessment and biweekly technical welgdacation, are offered as project-
based consulting or through our membership colktiba.

* Vocera UniversityWe provide hands-on, interactive educational expee through classroom training, distance learaimgustomized
courseware covering best practices, implementatimhuse of our solutions. Training courses areigeal/for systems administrators, IT
professionals, as well as industry-specific, engl-aslucators.

Sales and marketing
Sales

We use a direct sales model to call on hospitadsh@althcare systems in the United States, theed#itngdom, Australia and New Zealand. A
December 31, 2013, we had 106 sales employeessalégteam is organized to allow us to better seuveustomers and to support the different
elements of our sales strategy. Certain membeteedfales team focus on the development of nevemgstrelationships with large integrated
health systems and government healthcare facilides compensation is structured to incentivize aeesount development, including higher
commissions paid for new customers. We supplemansaes organization by utilizing a U.S. governtreuthorized reseller to facilitate our
sales to Veterans Administration and Departmemefense healthcare facilities. Sales team membssd@cus on new customer development
with smaller systems and individual hospitals. $hkes team further includes account managers whusfon service and additional sales to
existing customers. We enhance our sales effortsdhyding in our sales staff individuals with ning backgrounds to address clinical uses with,
and provide utilization advice to, customers antéptial customers. We have also staffed our sebs twith system engineers who focus on the
technical elements of system optimization, paréidylwireless, and overall product configuratiam2013, we staffed a small team of direct sales
people to focus on developing our non-healthcasiness, including hospitality, energy and othersinis critical mobile work environments.

We strive to hire sales people with at least 10ye&experience selling enterprise solutions ialtheare and who have experience selling in
competitive and complex environments with multigézision makers. In markets outside the UnitedeStatur sales efforts are supplemented
select group of resellers and distributors.

In addition, as of December 31, 2013, we had 25@eps responsible for sales and services support.

Marketing

Our marketing efforts focus on product managendsmand generation, sales support and brand managéMe believe continuing to increase
our brand recognition is important for the growftoar business. As of December 31, 2013, we haeh22loyees in marketing and business
development.
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Our product roadmap and requirements are driveoolly primary and secondary research that is caatinualidated with current and prospect
customers. We collect customer feedback througlegsrand focus groups, customer visits, a custaahesory board, user forums and
participation in industry standards organizatiddsr customer-centric marketing strategy is keyeneagating new sales leads as word of mouth
advertising and testimonials are some of our malstable marketing tools. A number of our custonienge agreed to participate in video
testimonials, white papers and case studies thigiata the efficacy and the financial benefits of solutions. We have been featured in numerous
articles and on network television demonstratirggeased patient satisfaction, streamlined hospiatations and enhanced employee safety.
Additionally, we sponsor numerous customer-led wats to demonstrate customer success and to gtqotive customers hear from their peer
group about the positive impact that our solutibage made on their hospitals. Many of our saledsleame from referrals of existing customers
or users who have moved from a hospital alreadygugbcera to a new facility or health system. 1120we also developed marketing tools and
website content to support our non-healthcare lpgsin

Demand generation is created through high toudhites across multiple platforms including prinedia, phone, direct mail and e-mail
campaigns and participation in tradeshows and otlgeistry sponsored events. We use a variety eSdabls with prospective customers
including collateral, ROI calculators and produictens and presentations.

Throughout 2013, we received the exclusive endoes¢wf AHA Solutions, a subsidiary of the Ameriddaspital Association, for our Vocera
Communication and Care Transition solutions. As phthis endorsement, we are able to participatistomer events sponsored by AHA
Solutions. Further, we believe hospital customére/this endorsement as a validation of the qualitgur solutions.

Customers

Our customers include 970 hospitals and other Inegade facilities, of which over 125 are outsidehef United States. In addition, we have
deployed our Vocera Communication solution in &2@® customers in other non-healthcare marketsh@aithcare customers include national
and international health and hospital systemselargl mediunsized independent and academic hospitals, smalitatssand healthcare facilitie
and U.S. governmental hospitals and care facilies diverse customer base has very low custoevenue concentration. During 2013, our
largest end customer represented only1.1% of rexenu

Currently, we sell primarily into English speakimgirkets including the United States, Canada, theediKingdom, Australia, New Zealand and
Singapore. During 2013 and 2012 , non-U.S. maregesented approximately 10.5% and 10.7% of ougmmae, respectively. In addition to
introduction of a localized French language versibaur Vocera Communication solution, we are depigg plans to offer our solutions in a
wider range of international markets including othen-English speaking countries.

Competition

We do not believe any single competitor offersraalligent voice communication system to the health market that allows instant, hands-free
communication through voice-activated, role-basedl activity-based calling using a combination aflidated, proprietary devices as well as
accommodating the use of third-party smartphondso#mer devices.

At this time, the primary alternative to our systeomsists of traditional communication methodsazitij wired phones, Wi-Fi in-building phones,
smartphones, pagers and overhead intercoms.

The most significant alternative with which we catefor sales in the hospital are in-building wess telephones. While we compete with the
providers of these wireless phones in making salé®spitals, they do not at this time purportdatain the system intelligence and convenience
of our Communication solution. The market for inlbing wireless phones is dominated by large comigations companies such as Cisco
Systems, Ascom and Spectralink.

We believe that the use of mobile smartphone ampldalthcare and the hospital will continue toagin our target market and may represent a
source of competition to our Communication soluti®ar Vocera Collaboration Suite smartphone applesahese hospital workers to connec
our software platform and participate as userswrGmmmunication system.

We believe that the primary competitive factorsvatk in our market include:

« comprehensiveness of the solution and the feapumsdec
» product performance and reliabi

« the initial cost and ongoing cost of owner:

» customer service and support capabil
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We may face increased competition in the futureluting competition from large, multinational comes with significant resources. Potential
competitors may have existing relationships withchasers of other products and services withirhtgpital, which may enhance their ability to
gain a foothold in our market.

Research and development

Our continued investment in research and developmemnitical to our business. We have assemblach$eof engineers with expertise in various
fields, including software, firmware, database desapplications, speech recognition, wireless camication and hardware design. We employ
research and development personnel in San Jostigr@ial;, Knoxville, Tennessee; Toronto, Canada Badgalore, India. There were 71 full-time
research and development employees as of Decerhp2083 . We also utilize small teams of contractorindia and Ukraine to assist with
quality assurance testing and automation, andteaigievelopment efforts. Our research and developeenditures were $14.9 million , $11.6
million and $9.3 million in 2013 , 2012 and 20Xrkspectively.

Intellectual property

Our success depends, in part, upon our abilitydtept our core technology and intellectual propefb accomplish this, we rely on a
combination of intellectual property rights, incing patents, trade secrets, copyrights and trademas well as customary contractual protect

We held, as of December 31, 2013, 18 U.S. patemtsiding patents on many capabilities of our saftvplatform and communication badge.
Subsequently, as of January 13, 2014, we acquiredgh mVisum an additional 7 U.S. patents coveadditional healthcare communications
technologies and had one more patent issued fiiabdf 26 U.S. Patents. The expiration dates e$é¢tpatents range from 2018 through 2029.
or more utility patents have also been issued istralia, Canada, India, Japan and the EuropeantRatice (with validation in Germany,
France, the United Kingdom and the Netherland€tufopean Community design patent has been issaég@rbtects the design in multiple
European jurisdictions. We have five patent apfiices pending in the United States, and one or ratligy patent applications are pending in
Canada and at the European Patent Office.

In addition to the foregoing protections, we getigr@ontrol access to and use of our proprietafingare and other confidential information
through the use of internal and external contialduding contractual protections with employeamtecactors, customers and partners. Our
software is also protected by U.S. and internatioopyright laws.

Our solutions include software developed and owneds as well as software components we have Bcehese non-exclusive licenses are
terminable by the licensor for cause. Certain efthlicenses are for a contractually specified tmchcannot be renewed without the assent of the
licensor. In the event one or more of these liceséerminated or is not renewed, we could beireduo redesign substantial portions of our
software in order to incorporate software composiéaim alternative sources. An unplanned redesigmsoftware could materially and
adversely affect our business.

Manufacturing operations and suppliers

We outsource the manufacturing of our device prtsdtaecoriginal design manufacturers and a contreantufacturer, SMTC Corporation. Our
communication badge is currently built in Mexicongscustom tools and test equipment owned by ugallvolumes of new products may be
manufactured by our contract manufacturer in UaBllifies. Most of our accessories, including bé¢te chargers and attachments, are built by
original design manufacturers in Asia.

These manufacturers are responsible for procutiigeacomponents included in our products as $jgecand approved by us. Some of these
components are sole-sourced off-the-shelf and someustom components built exclusively for ourdpieis. In the event we are unable to
procure certain components, we could be requireddesign some of our products in order to incafmtechnology from alternative sources. An
unplanned redesign of our products could mater&dly adversely affect our business.

We require our suppliers to perform both incoming autgoing product inspections. In addition, wefgren in-house quality control and ongoing
reliability testing.
Employees

As of December 31, 2013 , we had 383 employeesistimy of 27 in manufacturing and quality openasio71 in research and development, 153
in sales and marketing, 81 in services and 51 mege and administrative. None of our employee<avered by a collective bargaining
agreement or are represented by a labor union.dN&der current employee relations to be good.
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Backlog

Our backlog of undelivered orders was $24.4 milbowl $16.0 million at December 31, 2013 and 20&8pectively. Of the current backlog, all
but $3.8 million is expected to be delivered in 201

Government regulations and standards

Substantially all of our revenue is derived frora ttealthcare industry. The healthcare industrygbly regulated and is subject to changing
political, legislative, regulatory and other infhes. These factors affect the purchasing pradicdsperations of healthcare organizations, as
well as the behavior and attitudes of our usersltHeare reform has been recently enacted at thexdelevel. We expect federal and state
legislatures and agencies to continue to consigggrams to reform or revise aspects of the U.Sthese system. These programs may contain
proposals to increase governmental involvemeneaithcare or otherwise change the environment ichwiealthcare industry participants
operate.

HIPAA privacy and security standarc

In connection with our healthcare communicationsitess, we handle and have access to persondi h€alimation on behalf of our customers.
Accordingly, in the United States, we are subjedhe Health Insurance Portability and Accountgbifict of 1996, ("HIPAA"), and its
implementing regulations, which established unifetandards for certain “covered entities” (healtbgaroviders engaged in electronic
transactions, health plans and healthcare cleasirggs) governing the conduct of certain electrbeadthcare transactions and protecting the
security and privacy of protected health informatibhe American Recovery and Reinvestment Act @2@cluded sweeping expansion of
HIPAA'’s privacy and security standards as refledtethe Health Information Technology for Econoraiad Clinical Health Act, ("HITECH").
Among other things, the new law makes certain HIR#i&acy and security standards directly applicabl&business associates” - independent
contractors or agents of covered entities thativeaa obtain protected health information in cortie@n with providing a service on behalf of a
covered entity. HITECH also increased the civil arichinal penalties that may be imposed againsermy entities, business associates and
possibly other persons, and gave state attorneyergienew authority to file civil actions for danesgor injunctions in federal courts to enforce
federal HIPAA laws and seek attorney’s fees andscassociated with pursuing federal civil actiaiest of our customers are covered entities
under HIPAA and, to the extent that we handle pakbealth information on their behalf, we are tHbusiness associates” and are subject to
HIPAA and associated contractual obligations, alt aecomparable state privacy and security laws.

In addition, we are subject to privacy and secugtulations in other jurisdictions. For examples EU adopted the Data Protection Directive or
"DPD" (officially Directive 95/46/EC ), imposingritt regulations and establishing a series of nremuénts regarding the storage of personally
identifiable information on computers or record@dother electronic media. This has been implemelnyeall EU member states through national
laws. DPD provides for specific regulations requarall non-EU countries doing business with EU menstates to provide adequate data privacy
protection when receiving personal data from anghefEU member states. Similarly, Canada’s Perdaf@mation and Protection of Electronic
Documents Act provides Canadian residents withgasnprotections in regard to transactions with hesses and organizations in the private
sector and sets out ground rules for how privatéos®rganizations may collect, use and disclossguel information in the course of commer
activities.

These statutes, regulations and contractual oligatmpose numerous requirements regarding thengelisclosure of personal health
information with which we must comply, and subjestto material liability and other adverse impdetsur business in the event we fail to do so.
These include, without limitation, civil fines, orinal sanctions in certain circumstances, conteddiability to our customer, and damage to our
brand and reputation. We endeavor to mitigate thiske through measures we believe to be apprepitatthe specific circumstances, including
storing personal data under our control on passywostected systems in secure facilities, counselingcustomers as to best practices in usini
solutions, and encrypting such information.

Medical device regulatiol

The U.S. Food and Drug Administration ("FDA") regtds certain products, including software-basedymts, as “medical devices” based, in
part, on the intended use of the product and Hiethie device poses to the patient should the ddaitto perform properly. We have

concluded that our communication products are gdpempose communication devices not subject to F&lation. However, either the

FDA could disagree with our conclusion or changesur product or the FDA'’s evolving regulations keblead to the imposition of medical
device regulation on our products. In this evergt,would be subject to extensive regulatory requinaisy including the expense of compliance
with Medical Device Reporting and Quality Systerguiation and the potential of liability for failute comply, and we could be required to
obtain 510(K) clearance or premarket approval ofpsaducts from the FDA prior to commercial distrilton. Some of the new products acquired
as a result of the mVisum acquisition are regulétethe FDA as Class Il medical devices under apple law and FDA regulations, including
being subject to the new 2.3% excise tax undeAff@dable Care Act. Class Il devices are devices
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classified by the FDA as posing a moderate to higghand therefore subject to both “general costrahd “special controls”, as such terms are
defined in the Food, Drug and Cosmetics Act. Furtfoe other products we could become subject éo2tf3% excise tax if the FDA were to
determine in the future that they constitute mddiexices.

Electrical standards and FCC regulatior

Our products emit radio frequency energy in the@H¥ spectrum band for which licensing by U.S. atiger regulatory authorities is not
required, provided that the products conform tdaierequirements, e.g., maximum power output atetance of interference from other devices
sharing that spectrum band. We subject our prodadtssting by independent testing laboratoriectnpliance with the relevant standards is:
by various U.S. and international bodies, includimg European Union (with respect to the “CE” matkg International Electrotechnical
Commission, the Australian Communications and Médithority, Underwriters Laboratories and CSA Imigtional.

Information about segment and geographic revenue

Information about segment and geographic revensetiforth in Note 9 of the Notes to ConsolidatéthRcial Statements under Item 8 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition, finandiaflormation regarding our operations, assets atililiies, including our total net revenue and
net income (loss) for the years ended Decembe2(@®l3 , 2012 and 2011 , and our total assets agofbber 31, 2013 and 2012 , is included in
our Consolidated Financial Statements under ItexhtBis Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Executive officers

The names of our executive officers, their agesf ddarch 12, 2014, and their positions are showowe

Name Age Position

Robert J. Zollars 56 Executive Chairman

Brent D. Lang 46 President and Chief Executivic®f

William R. Zerella 57 Chief Financial Officer

Jay M. Spitzen, Ph.D., J.D. 64 General CounsglGorporate Secretary

M. Bridget Duffy, M.D. 54 Chief Medical Officer

Paul Johnson 50 Executive Vice President of SaldsServices

The Board chooses executive officers, who thenesatwthe Board discretion. There is no family relationship betweany of our directors
executive officers.

Robert J. Zollarsassumed the role of Executive Chairman effectiveeJl, 2013. Mr. Zollars served as our ChairmanhefBoard and Chi
Executive Officer and director from June 2007 tlgloMay 2013. From May 2006 to May 2007, he sernedhaef executive officer of Wou
Care Solutions, Inc., an operator of outsourcedribrwound care centers. From June 1999 to Mar®6,28ir. Zollars served as chief execu
officer and chairman of the board of directors @ofbrma, Inc., a healthcare technology companymRianuary 1997 to June 1999, Mr. Zol
served as executive vice president and group mnesiof Cardinal Health, Inc., a supplier of heaitire products and services, where he
responsible for five whollypwned subsidiaries. From 1985 to 1997, Mr. Zolkesred as a division president of four differeneraping units ¢
Baxter International, Inc., a medical instrumend aapply company. From 1979 to 1985, Mr. Zollanwed as area vice president and in vai
other capacities at American Hospital Supply Caaion, a medical supply company, which was acquine@axter International in 1985. Sir
February 2005, Mr. Zollars has served on the boadirectors of Diamond Foods, Inc., and as itdrohan since February 2012. Since May 2!
he has also served on the board of directors of Mi¢&national, LLC, a scientific equipment distribr. Since December of 2013, he also s¢
on the board of directors of Five9, a SaaS basédceater software provider. Mr. Zollars graduatedgna cum laude with a B.S. degre
Marketing from Arizona State University and earia@d\V.B.A. degree in Finance from John F. Kennedivérsity.

Brent D. Langassumed the role of President and Chief Executiffice® effective June 1, 2013. Mr. Lang served as Bresident and Ch
Operating Officer from October 2007 through May 20Erom February 2007 to October 2007, he servaalagxecutive Vice President, fre
January 2007 to June 2007, he served as our ACtimef Executive Officer, and from June 2001 througimuary 2007, he served as our '
President of Marketing and Business DevelopmemtmF8eptember 1995 to June 2001, Mr. Lang servesersr director of marketing for 3C«
Corporation, a networking company, where he wagarsible for 3Cons digital home products. From June 1991 to Jun&,19®. Lang worke
as a strategy consultant for Monitor Company, lacpnsulting firm, advising Fortune 500 companis.Lang earned a B.S. degree in Indus
and Operations Engineering from the University afiigan and an M.B.A. degree from the Stanford @rsity Graduate School of Business.
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William R. Zerellahas served as our Chief Financial Officer sinceo®et 2011. From July 2006 to September 2011, heedeas chief financi
officer for Forcel0 Networks Inc., a networking quany which was acquired by Dell Inc. in August 20Eflom December 2004 to June 2(
Mr. Zerella served as chief financial officer afilera Corporation, a manufacturer of higipacity optical transmission equipment for theise
provider market. From 2001 to November 2004, Mrella served as chief financial officer at Cali®&@tworks, Inc., a manufacturer of switc
for directing signals in fibeoptic communications networks. Prior to Calient,. Merella held various other senior level finan@ab busine:
management positions at companies including GTE@k&@ation and Deloitte & Touche LLP. Mr. Zerelleaguated magna cum laude wil
B.S. degree in Accounting from the New York Ingttef Technology and earned an M.B.A. degree frioenlteonard N. Stern School of Busir
at New York University and is a Certified Publicdeintant (inactive).

Dr. Jay M. Spitzelhas served as our General Counsel since April 20@llas our Corporate Secretary since June 2015diltzen has served
our counsel since our founding in February 2000nF1994 to 2000, he was a partner at Gray Cary \Bdfeeidenrich LLP (now DLA Pipe
LLP), a law firm. From September 1988 to 1994, Bpitzen was an attorney with Ware & Freidenrich.Palaw firm. From 1982 to 1985,
held positions as an engineering manager and viegident of planning for Convergent Technologies,,|la workstation company that he co-
founded in 1979. From 1978 to 1979, Dr. Spitzen avataff scientist with Xerox Corporation, a docmtnmanagement company. From Septel
1974 to March 1978, he worked as a software enginile SRI International, Inc., an independent, prarfit research institute. Dr. Spitzen ear

an A.B. degree in Applied Mathematics from Harv&allege, Ph.D. and S.M. degrees in Applied Math@adtom Harvard University, anc
J.D. degree from Harvard Law School.

M. Bridget Duffy, M.D.has served as our Chief Medical Officer since Jgn@@13 and as the Chief Executive Officer of Exgdealth fron
November 2010 to December 2012. From July 200ane 2009, Dr. Duffy served as chief experienceceffof the Cleveland Clinic, a n-profit
academic medical center. Dr. Duffy earned her DogtdMedicine in June 1991 from the University ofrfiesota and currently holds a Physi
and Surgeon license in both the states of MinnesmudaCalifornia.

Paul Johnsothas served as our Executive Vice President of SalésServices since October 2013. From August 20T&tober 2013, Mr.
Johnson served as Vice President of Sales at Dig#tight, a provider of online and mobile bankegutions. Mr. Johnson served as Vice
President of Sales and Relationship Managementuait's Financial Services Division (which was remed Digital Insight following Intuit's sale
of this business in August 2013) from January 2@1August 2013. From November 2007 to December 20&@erved as the Executive Vice
President, North America, Sage Business SolutionS#&ge Software, Inc., a provider of business g@mant software and services. In addition,
Mr. Johnson previously served in various salessandices functions at International Business Maghi@orporation. Mr. Johnson earned his
M.B.A and B.S degrees in Business Administratiamfrthe University of Southern California.

Available information

We make available our Annual Reports on Form 1@Harterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reportsa@m 8-K and amendments to those
reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 18¢sSection 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Ad384, as amended, free of charge on our
website atvww.vocera.comas soon as reasonably practicable after theglectronically filed with or furnished to the Seities and Exchange
Commission, or SEC. Additionally, copies of matsriled by us with the SEC may be accessed ab#@'s Public Reference Room at 100 F
Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549 onatw.sec.govk-or information about the SEC's Public ReferencerRacontact 1-800-SEC-0330.

Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degrferisk. You should carefully consider the rigkd uncertainties described below, toget
with all of the other information set forth in thAsinual Report on Form 10-K. Our business, finahotadition, results of operations or future
prospects could be materially and adversely harihady of the following risks, or other risks oraertainties that are not yet identified or that
currently believe are immaterial, actually occuheTtrading price of our common stock could dectine to any of these risks or uncertainties,
and, as a result, you may lose all or part of ymwestment.

Risks related to our business and industry

We have incurred significant losses in the pastdamay experience losses in the future. As a resoli; business may be harmed and our stock
price could decline
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We have incurred significant losses in the pastrapdrted a net loss of $10.5 million for the yeaded December 31, 2013 . As of December 31,
2013, we had an accumulated deficit of $64.4 anilli If we cannot achieve profitability in futurends, our business may be harmed and our
stock price could further decline.

Our ability to be profitable in the future depeng®n continued demand for our communication sahstiwom existing and new customers.
Further market adoption of our solutions, includingreased penetration within our existing cust@neéepends upon our ability to improve
patient safety and satisfaction and increase hadgfficiency and productivity, and to bring valiecustomers outside of healthcare. Additionally,
further adoption of our solutions in non-healthcawarkets depends on our ability to modify our piiduo successfully respond to the challenges
in those markets and our sales efforts to reackhuhtmers in those markets. In addition, our tabfiity will be affected by, among other things,
our ability to execute on our business strategytithing and size of orders, the pricing and co$taur solutions, macroeconomic conditions
affecting the health care industry and the extenthich we invest in sales and marketing, reseanchdevelopment and general and
administrative resources.

We depend on sales of our Vocera Communication sioluin the healthcare market for substantially adlif our revenue, and any decrease in
its sales would harm our business.

To date, substantially all of our revenue has lsemived from sales of our Vocera Communication thmfuto the healthcare market and, in
particular, hospitals. Any decrease in revenue fsates of our Vocera Communication solution wowddiour business. Sales of our Vocera
Communication solution to the healthcare markebanted for 91% and 92% of our revenue for the yeaded December 31, 2013 and 2012 ,
respectively. In addition, we obtained a significpartion of these sales from existing hospitatoo®rs. We anticipate that sales of our Vocera
Communication solution will represent a significaottion of our revenue for the foreseeable futMvhile we are evaluating new solutions for
non-healthcare markets, we may not be successéydptying our technology in any of these marketsn@elling our solutions to customers in
these markets. We do not anticipate that salesio¥ocera Communication solution in non-healthaasekets will represent a significant portion
of our revenue for the foreseeable future.

Our success depends in part upon the deploymentrofocera Communication solution by new hospitetomers, the expansion and upgrade of
our solution at existing customers, and our abilitgontinue to provide on a timely basis cost@fie solutions that meet the requirements of our
hospital customers. Our Vocera Communication smhutequires a substantial upfront investment byoeners. Typically, our hospital customers
initially deploy our solution for specific usersspecific departments before expanding our solutitmother departments or for other users. The
cost of the initial deployment depends on the nunobe@sers and departments involved, the size geathe hospital and the condition of the
existing wireless infrastructure, if any, withirethospital.

Even if hospital personnel determine that our Vacgommunication solution provides compelling besediver their existing communications
methods, their hospitals may not have, or may eavitling to spend, the resources necessary tallrestd maintain wireless infrastructure to
initially deploy and support our solution or expand solution to other departments or users. Halspére currently facing significant budget
constraints, ever increasing demands from a growingber of patients and impediments to obtainifnglarsements for their service. In

addition, hospitals, including both governmental aon-governmental customers, are experiencingdtirdgissues due to the ongoing effects of
and uncertainty around the continuing impact oéfatigovernment sequestration on Medicare reimmesérates and the federal budget, as well
as continuing changes in the implementation oRthtent Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2QMCA™) and other healthcare reform
legislation. As a consequence, we may continugperence a slowdown and deferral of orders for\éarera Communication solution that co
negatively impact our sales. We believe hospitascarrently allocating funds for capital and isfracture improvements to benefit from
electronic medical records incentives and, for dianpe with ICD-10 diagnosis coding requirementkjclt may impact their ability to purchase
and deploy our solution. We might not be able t&tan or increase our revenue from sales of oueX€ommunication solution, or achieve the
growth rates that we envision, if hospitals congiol face significant budgetary constraints andicedheir spending on communications systems.

Our sales cycle can be lengthy and unpredictabléjel may cause our revenue and operating resultdltwtuate significantly.

Our sales cycles can be lengthy and unpredict&hlesales efforts involve educating our custombmiaithe use and benefits of our solutions,
including the technical capabilities of our solacand the potential cost savings and productgaips achievable by deploying them. Customers
typically undertake a significant evaluation prageashich frequently involves not only our solutidng also their existing communications
methods and those of our competitors, and cantriesallengthy sales cycle of nine to twelve morghsore. We spend substantial time, effort
and money in our sales efforts without any asswanat our efforts will produce any sales. In a@dditpurchases of our solutions are frequently
subject to budget
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constraints, multiple approvals, and unplanned athtnative, processing and other delays. For exampe experienced elongated sales cycle:
to uncertainty surrounding healthcare reform ameelohospital admission trends in 2013. At this titmespitals in the U.S. face significant
uncertainty over the continuing impact of federaernment sequestration, the country’s debt ceding federal budget, and continuing changes
in the implementation and deadlines for complianite the ACA and other healthcare reform legislatias well as potential future statutes and
rulemaking.

If our business does not grow as we expect, or weersot able to manage our growth effectively, oyserating results will suffer

We have experienced significant growth in our rexenand operations in the past. Our growth hagg@lamd may continue to place, strains on
our management systems, infrastructure and otseurees. We plan to hire additional direct salasraarketing personnel domestically and
internationally, acquire complementary businesse$nologies or assets, and increase our invesimeesearch and development. Our future
operating results depend to a large extent on hlityato successfully implement these plans andhagge our anticipated expansion. To do so
successfully we must, among other things:

e manage our expenses in line with our operatingspdend current business environm

* maintain and enhance our operational, financialmadagement controls, reporting systems and proes
* integrate acquired businesses, technologies ofts:

* manage operations in multiple locations and tinmespan

« develop and deliver new solutions and enhancentemsisting solutions efficiently and reliak

We expect to incur costs associated with the imvests made to support our growth before the amtiegbbenefits or the returns are realized, if at
all. If we are unable to grow our business as ebgueor manage our future growth effectively, we maybe able to take advantage of market
opportunities or develop new solutions or enhancesn® existing solutions. We may also fail to Sgtcustomer requirements, maintain quality,
execute our business plan or respond to compefitessures, which could result in lower revenueaddcline in the share price of our common
stock.

Our revenue and operating results have fluctuateshd are likely to continue to fluctuate, which magake our quarterly results difficult to
predict, cause us to miss analyst expectations eadse the price of our common stock to decli

Our operating results may be difficult to predaten in the near term, and are likely to fluctusge result of a variety of factors, many of which
are outside of our control.

Comparisons of our revenue and operating results meriod-to-period basis may not be meaningfull ¥loould not rely on our past results as an
indication of our future performance. Each of thkofwving factors, among others, could cause ouraipey results to fluctuate from quarter to
quarter:

« the financial health of our healthcare custometskardgetary constraints on their ability to upgrttdgr communication

» changes in the regulatory environment affectinghealthcare customers, including impedimentbed ability to obtain reimbursement for
their services;

* our ability to expand our sales and marketing dpzra

» the procurement and deployment cycles of our healthcustomers and the length of our sales ¢

e variations in the amount of orders booked in argyicarter but not delivered until later quart

» our mix of solutions and pricing, including discdsibby us or our competito

e our ability to expand into nonealthcare marke

« our ability to forecast demand and manage leadstimethe manufacture of our solutions;

* our ability to develop and introduce new solutiansl features to existing solutions that achieveketaacceptanc

Developments in the healthcare industry and govergiregulations could negatively affect our busine

Substantially all of our revenue is derived fronstaumers in the healthcare industry, in particliaspitals. The healthcare industry is highly
regulated and is subject to changing politicalidiedive, regulatory and other influences. Develepts generally affecting the healthcare industry,
including new regulations or new interpretationgxikting regulations, could adversely affect spegan information technology and capital
equipment by reducing funding, changing healthpaigng or delivery or creating impediments for abing healthcare reimbursements, which
together with declining admission trends, couldseaour sales to decline and negatively impacbasiness. For example, the profit margins of
our hospital customers are modest, and pendinggelsan reimbursement for healthcare costs may eethecoverall solvency of our customers or
cause further deterioration in their financial asimess condition.
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Since 2009, three significant bills were signed liatwv that impact the U.S. healthcare system. @lits include The Health Information
Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Actaeted under Title XIlI of the American Recovery d&einvestment Act of 2009 ("HITECH
Act"), the ACA, and the Health Care and Educati@edhciliation Act of 2010. Together, these actgsalgubstantive changes over several ye:
the operating processes, reimbursements and rovesrgng the U.S. healthcare system. The actuakéfedt of these laws on the marketplace is
not yet fully understood.

We believe that our healthcare customers are umdule impact that a number of the elements afelercts will have on their business, and
cannot predict the timing and requirements of thal frules issued by the U.S. Department of Healtth Human Services ("HHS") for these
statutes, making managing their business operatiame difficult. Further, as has been experiersiede 2010, as these final rules are created by
HHS, a number of aspects of the acts have beempiated, modified or delayed. For example, suddemges in the rules for individuals buying
insurance through state or federal health insurarchanges, and individual and employer mandatkave and offer insurance coverage, have
challenged hospitals’ abilities to forecast patiatilization and revenues, and to set operatiotsaigpand budget accordingly.

Federal budget activities also impact our custome&te federal budget sequestration, which wemwtéfitect in March 2013, automatically cut
Medicare reimbursement rates and cut federal depaitbudgets, including at the Department of Defendich also operates hospitals that are
prospective customers. We believe sequestratioralsghificant impact on our customers and ourrmss in 2013. As part of the Bipartisan
Budget Act of 2013, signed into law on December24,3, the Medicare reimbursement rate cut estedaisn the March 2013 sequester was
maintained and extended, although the cuts to Drepat of Defense and its hospitals were lifted. ffther believe that it is likely that additior
legislative changes and rulemaking by HHS will comé. In addition, many state governments are dngmyy expanding their healthcare laws,
adding additional complexity to understanding tbeeptial impacts.

We are unable to predict the full impact of these/ mnd changing rules on our hospital customer#rets in the healthcare industry. Impac
these rules could materially affect our customabsfity to budget for or purchase our products. fikalthcare industry has changed significantly
in recent years and we expect that significant gaanvill continue to occur. We cannot assure yatitthe markets for our solutions will continue
to exist at current levels or that we will have quigte technical, financial and marketing resoutcesact to changes in those markets.

If we fail to increase market awareness of our bihand solutions, and expand our sales and marketoperations, our business could |
harmed.

We intend to continue to add personnel and reseuncgales and marketing as we focus on expandiagesess of our brand and solutions and
capitalize on sales opportunities with new andtegscustomers. Our efforts to improve sales ofsmlutions will result in an increase in our s:
and marketing expense and general and adminigrexpense, and these efforts may not be succeSsfuke newly hired sales and marketing
personnel may subsequently be determined to beduagtive and have to be replaced, resulting inataral and sales delays and incremental
costs. If we are unable to significantly incredseawareness of our brand and solutions or effelgtimanage the costs associated with these
efforts, our business, financial condition and agieg results could be harmed.

We primarily compete in the rapidly evolving andropetitive healthcare market, and if we fail to effievely respond to competitive pressures,
our business and operating results could be harmed.

We believe that at this time the primary competitior our Vocera Communication solution consistsraflitional methods using wired phones,
pagers and overhead intercoms. While we believteotitasystem is superior to these legacy methagtssa@ution requires a significant
infrastructure investment by a hospital and margpitals may not recognize the value of implementingsolution.

Manufacturers and distributors of product categosiech as cellular phones, smartphone applicati@ygrs, mobile radios and in-building
wireless telephones attempt to sell their prodietsospitals as components of an overall commuitalystem. Of these product categories, in-
building wireless telephones represent the mosifgagnt competition for the sale of our solutidrine market for in-building wireless phones is
dominated by communications companies such as Gigstems, Ascom and Spectralink. In addition, ttedifieration of smartphones and related
applications may represent a new category of catiyeeofferings.

While we do not have a directly comparable compethat provides a richly featured Vocera Commumicesystem for the healthcare market,
could face such competition in the future. Potémtienpetitors in the healthcare or communicatioask®ts include large, multinational
companies with significantly more resources to dadi to product development and sales and marké&these companies may have existing
relationships within the hospital, which may entatiwir ability to gain a
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foothold in our market. Customers may prefer tachase a more highly integrated or bundled solutiom a single provider or an existing
supplier rather than a new supplier, regardlegedbrmance or features. Accordingly, if we faileffectively respond to competitive pressures,
we could experience pricing pressure, reducedtprargins, higher sales and marketing expense®rimvenue and the loss of market share.
of which would harm our business, operating resaitnancial condition.

If we fail to offer high-quality services and support for any of our solaitis, our ability to sell those solutions will be tmaed.

Our ability to sell our Vocera Communication or E&xperience solutions is dependent upon our psinfiesl services and technical support te
providing high-quality services and support. Owfpssional services team assists our customergivathwireless infrastructure assessment,
clinical workflow design, communication solutionrdiguration, training and project management duthmgpre-deployment and deployment
stages. Once our solutions are deployed withinséoouer’s facility, the customer typically dependsour technical support team to help resolve
technical issues, assist in optimizing the useuofsolutions and facilitate adoption of new funptdty. If we do not effectively assist our
customers in deploying our solutions, succeed ipitg our customers quickly resolve technical atiteopost-deployment issues, or provide
effective ongoing support services, our abilityetgpand the use of our solutions with existing custis and to sell our solutions to new customers
will be harmed. If deployment of our solutions issatisfactory, as has been the case with certadparty deployments in the past, we may incur
significant costs to attain and sustain customgsfaation. As we rapidly hire new services andmuppersonnel, we may inadvertently hire
underperforming people who will have to be replacedail to effectively train such employees, leggin some instances to slower growth,
additional costs and poor customer relations. tlitewh, the failure of channel partners to providgh-quality services and support in markets
outside the United States could also harm salesio$olutions.

The implementation of our new enterprise resourdanming system could disrupt our business and adsady affect our financial results.

In the fourth quarter of 2012, we initiated a mykiar project to upgrade certain key internal systand processes, including our enterprise
resource planning (“ERP”) system and company-wig®dn resources management system. The first pgade/&” date was completed in the
third quarter of 2013. We have invested, and waitittue to invest, significant capital and humasoreces in the design and implementation of
these systems and processes. Any disruptions ayslel the design and implementation of the newesys or processes, particularly any
disruptions or delays that impact our operations)d adversely affect our ability to process custoorders, ship products, provide service and
support to our customers, bill and track our cusianfulfill contractual obligations, record andrisfer information in a timely and accurate
manner, file SEC reports in a timely manner, oeothise run our business. Even if we do not encauhtse adverse effects, the design and
implementation of these new systems and procesagdenmuch more costly than we anticipated. If veeumable to successfully design and
implement these new systems and processes as glanritthe implementation of these systems amndgsses is more costly than anticipated
business, financial condition, and results of opena could be negatively impacted.

We depend on a number of sole source and limitedrse suppliers, and if we are unable to source @mamponents from them, our business
and operating results could be harmed.

We depend on sole and limited source suppliersdeeral hardware components of our Vocera Commitimicaolution, including our batteries
and integrated circuits. We purchase inventory gdlyethrough individual purchase orders. Any aésk suppliers could cease production of our
components, cease to provide the necessary lefvglgport for our use of their components, expe&gerapacity constraints, material shortages,
work stoppages, financial difficulties, cost incses or other reductions or disruptions in outpehse operations or be acquired by, or enter into
exclusive arrangements with, a competitor. Thepeplgrs typically rely on purchase orders rathanttong-term contracts with their suppliers,
and as a result, even if available, the suppliey nta be able to secure sufficient materials as@aable prices or of acceptable quality to build ou
components in a timely manner. Any of these cirdamses could cause interruptions or delays in étigety of our solutions to our customers,
and this may force us to seek components fromreitise sources, which may not have the requiredifigations, or be available in time to meet
demand or on commercially reasonable terms, ifl.afny of these circumstances may also force ugttesign our solutions if a component
becomes unavailable in order to incorporate a corapbfrom an alternative source.

Our solutions incorporate multiple software compue@btained from licensors on a non-exclusiveshasich as voice recognition software,
software supporting the runtime execution of odtveare platform, and database and reporting so#w@ur license agreements can be termir
for cause. In many cases, these license agreespetsy a limited term and are only renewable beéyttwat term with the consent of the licensor.
If a licensor terminates a license agreement foseaobjects
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to its renewal or conditions renewal on modifieghte and conditions, we may be unable to obtaimsies for equivalent software components on
reasonable terms and conditions, including licemées, warranties or protection from infringemelatms. Some licensors may discontinue
licensing their software to us or support of thitvgare version used in our solutions. In such eimstances, we may need to redesign our solution:s
at substantial cost to incorporate alternativevgafé components or be subject to higher royaltyscémy of these circumstances could adversely
affect the cost and availability of our solutions.

Third-party licensors generally require us to immoate specific license terms and conditions inagreements with our customers. If we are
alleged to have failed to incorporate these liceaesas and conditions, we may be subject to claiythese licensors, incur significant legal costs
defending ourselves against such claims and, i slaims are successful, be subject to terminaifditenses, monetary damages, or an
injunction against the continued distribution oear more of our solutions.

Because we depend upon a contract manufacturer, operations could be harmed and we could lose sélese encounter problems with th
manufacturer.

We do not have internal manufacturing capabiliéied rely upon a contract manufacturer, SMTC Compmra("SMTC"), to produce the primary
hardware component of our Vocera CommunicationtesiuWe have entered into a manufacturing agre¢migh SMTC that is terminable by
either party with advance notice and that may bésterminated for a material uncured breach. Weraly on original design manufacturers, or
ODMs, to produce accessories, including battedleargers and attachments. Any of these suppliedsl c@ase production of our components,
cease to provide the necessary levels of suppoduiouse of their components, experience capaoitgtraints, material shortages, work
stoppages, financial difficulties, cost increasestber reductions or disruptions in output, cegerations or be acquired by, or enter into
exclusive arrangements with, a competitor. If SMarGn ODM is unable or unwilling to continue maraifaing components of our solutions in
the volumes that we require, fails to meet our iapecifications or significantly increases iticps, we may not be able to deliver our solutions
to our customers with the quantities, quality ard@rmance that they expect in a timely manneraAasult, we could lose sales and our operi
results could be harmed.

SMTC or ODMs may experience problems that couldaaiphe quantity and quality of components of oac&ta Communication solution,
including disruptions in their manufacturing opéras due to equipment breakdowns, labor strikeshortages, component or material shortages
and cost increases. SMTC and these ODMs geneedjiyn purchase orders rather than long-term cotstraith their suppliers, and as a result,
may not be able to secure sufficient componentgt@r materials at reasonable prices or of acckptalality to build components of our soluti

in a timely manner. The majority of the componesiteur Vocera Communication solution are manufaadun Asia or Mexico and adverse
changes in political or economic circumstancefasé locations could also disrupt our supply aralityuof components of our solutions.

Companies occasionally encounter unexpected diffésuin ramping up production of new products, amdmay experience such difficulties with
future generations of our products. SMTC and ouM3[lso manufacture products for other companiesie@lly, our orders represent a
relatively small percentage of the overall ordexsived by SMTC and these ODMs from their custopbesefore, fulfilling our orders may not
be a priority in the event SMTC or an ODM is coasted in its ability to fulfill all of its customesbligations. In addition, if SMTC or an ODM is
unable or unwilling to continue manufacturing coments of our solutions, we may have to identify onenore alternative manufacturers. The
process of identifying and qualifying a new contraanufacturer or ODM can be time consuming, anenag not be able to substitute suitable
alternative manufacturers in a timely manner araacceptable cost. Additionally, transitioningatoew manufacturer may cause us to incur
additional costs and delays if the new manufactuasrdifficulty manufacturing components of ourusioins to our specifications or quality
standards.

If we fail to forecast our manufacturing requiremes accurately, or fail to properly manage our inviemy with our contract manufacturer, w
could incur additional costs and experience manufadng delays, which can adversely affect our opting results.

We place orders with our contract manufacturer, 8Mand we and SMTC place orders with suppliersdaseforecasts of customer demand.
Because of our international low cost sourcingtsgy, our lead times are long and cause substgntialre risk to forecasting accuracy than
would result were lead times shorter. Our forecastshbased on multiple assumptions, each of whihintroduce errors into our estimates
affecting our ability to meet our customers' densafwd our solutions. We also may face additiona¢éasting challenges due to product
transitions in the components of our solutiongpasur suppliers discontinuing production of matkriand subcomponents required for our
solutions. If demand for our solutions increasgsificantly, we may not be able to meet demand timaly basis, and we may need to expend a
significant amount of time working with our custamméo allocate limited supply and maintain positbustomer relations, or we may incur
additional costs in order to source additional mal®and subcomponents to produce componentsrafabutions or to expedite the
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manufacture and delivery of additional inventofywé underestimate customer demand, our contractfaeturer may have inadequate materials
and subcomponents on hand to produce componeats gblutions, which could result in manufacturingrruptions, shipment delays, deferral
or loss of revenue, and damage to our customeiaeships. Conversely, if we overestimate custodenand, we and SMTC may purchase more
inventory than required for actual customer ordegsulting in excess or obsolete inventory, theliabyeasing our costs and harming our operi
results.

If hospitals do not have and are not willing to itedl, upgrade and maintain the wireless infrastruate required to effectively operate o
Vocera Communication solution, then they may exparce technical problems or not purchase our solutiat all.

The effectiveness of our Vocera Communication smtudlepends upon the quality and compatibilitylaf tommunications environment that our
healthcare customers maintain. Our solutions requoice-grade wireless, or Wi-Fi, installed throlgige enterprise environments, which can
vary from hospital to hospital and from departmendepartment within a hospital. Many hospitalsehawgt installed a voice-grade wireless
infrastructure. If potential customers do not haweireless network that can properly and fully ioperate with our Vocera Communication
solution, then such a network must be installe@groexisting Wi-Fi network must be upgraded or rfiedj for example, by adding access points
in stairwells, for our Vocera Communication soluatio be fully functional. The additional cost o§talling or upgrading a Wi-Fi network may
dissuade potential customers from installing olutgan. Furthermore, if changes to a customer'ssygay or information technology environment
cause integration issues or degrade the effectbgenfeour solution, or if the customer fails to tgate or maintain its environment as may be
required for software releases or updates or tarermur solution's effectiveness, the customer nzyoe able to fully utilize our solution or may
experience technical problems, or these changedmmact the performance of other wireless equiprbeirig used. If such circumstances arise,
prospective customers may not purchase or existisgpmers may not expand their use of or deployagsgl versions of our Vocera
Communication solution, thereby harming our bussreasd operating results.

If we fail to achieve and maintain certification focertain U.S. federal standards, our sales to Ugevernment customers will suffe

We believe that a significant opportunity existsédl our products to healthcare facilities in Yeterans Administration and Department of
Defense, or DoD. These customers require indepé¢mreetification of compliance with particular regeiinents relating to encryption, security,
interoperability and scalability. These requirensentlude compliance with Federal Information Pesteg Standard, or FIPS, 140-2 and, as to
DoD facilities, certification by the Joint Interajdility and Test Command of DoD and under the Dformation Assurance Certification and
Accreditation Process. We have received certificatinder certain of these standards for a milisggeific configuration of the Vocera
communication solution incorporating the B2000 mdye are carrying out activities intended to aohiadditional certifications, including
certifications applicable to the B3000 badge, etgetm the first half of 2014, and future produasswell. A failure on our part to comply in a
timely manner with these requirements, or to maintartification, both as to current products asdanew product versions, could adversely
impact our revenue.

Our expanded efforts to sell our communications stbns in non-healthcare markets may not be sucdaks

Our primary focus has been on selling our commuiuioa solutions to the healthcare market, with otharkets addressed only opportunistica
We recently expanded our sales efforts to customassde the healthcare markets, including hospitanergy and other mobile work
environments. We may not be successful in furtieeprating the non-healthcare markets upon whichareénitially focusing, or other new
markets. To date, our Vocera Communication solutias been deployed in over 200 customers in nolthicage markets. Total revenue from
non-healthcare customers accounted for 3% of amamnge for both the years ended December 31, 201 2@1® . If we cannot maintain these
customers by providing communications solutions theet their requirements, if we cannot succegsé®pand our communications solutions in
non-healthcare markets, or if our solutions argeetbmore slowly than we anticipate, we may noambsignificant revenue from these markets.
We may experience challenges as we expand in nalthbare markets, including pricing pressure onsmlmtions and technical issues as we
adapt our solutions for the requirements of newketar Our communications solutions also may notaiorthe functionality required by these
non-healthcare markets or may not sufficientlyediéhtiate us from competing solutions such thaoeners can justify deploying our solutions.

If we fail to successfully develop and introducewaolutions and features to existing solutions, a@venue, operating results and reputati
could suffer.

Our success depends, in part, upon our abilityeteelbp and introduce new solutions and featurexisting solutions that meet existing and new
customer requirements. We may not be able to dp\aid introduce new solutions or features on a
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timely basis or in response to customers’ changdagirements, or that sufficiently differentiateftam competing solutions such that customers
can justify deploying our solutions. We may expecietechnical problems and additional costs astreduce new features to our software
platform, deploy future models of our wireless beglgnd integrate new solutions with existing custodiinical systems and workflows. In
addition, we may face technical difficulties as exgand into non-English speaking countries andrppmate non-English speech recognition
capabilities into our Vocera Communication solutidve also may incur substantial costs or delayeeémmanufacture of any additional new
products or models as we seek to optimize productiethods and processes at our contract manufadtui@ldition, we expect that we will at
least initially achieve lower gross margins on maadels, while endeavoring to reduce manufacturosjscover time. If any of these problems
were to arise, our revenue, operating results epdtation could suffer.

If we do not achieve the anticipated strategic oveéncial benefits from our acquisitions or if we cegot successfully integrate them, ol
business and operating results could be harmed.

We have acquired, and in the future may acquinaptementary businesses, technologies or assetw¢hatlieve to be strategic, such as our
recent mVisum acquisition. We may not achieve thtecgpated strategic or financial benefits, or becessful in integrating any acquired
businesses, technologies or assets. If we canfeatigtly integrate our Vocera Communication sauotwith our Secure Messaging and Care
Experience solutions and successfully market alhdhsse solutions, we may not achieve market aecee for, or significant revenue from, th
new solutions.

Integrating newly acquired businesses, technolagielsassets could strain our resources, could fiensive and time consuming, and might not
be successful. Our recent acquisition exposes disvarwill be further exposed, if we acquire or istvim additional businesses, technologies or
assets, to a number of risks, including that we:may

» experience technical issues as we integrate actjoireinesses, technologies or assets into ouirgkistmmunications solutior

« encounter difficulties leveraging our existirajes and marketing organizations, and direct sddasnels, to increase our revenue from
acquired businesses, technologies or assets;

» find that the acquisition does not further ousiness strategy, we overpaid for the acquisitioin® economic conditions underlying our
acquisition decision have changed;

* have difficulty retaining the key personnel of aicgd businesse

» suffer disruption to our ongoing business aneédiion of our management's attention as a rebtrmsition or integration issues and the
challenges of managing geographically or culturdiiserse enterprises; and

» experience unforeseen and significant probleniisbilities associated with quality, technologyddegal contingencies relating to the
acquisition, such as intellectual property or eryplent matters.

In addition, from time to time we may enter int@ogations for acquisitions that are not ultimatebhsummated. These negotiations could result
in significant diversion of management time, ashaelsubstantial out-of-pocket costs. If we werprmceed with one or more significant
acquisitions in which the consideration includegtgave could be required to use a substantialgyodf our available cash. To the extent we i
shares of capital stock or other rights to purcltagetal stock, including options and warrants,dhaership of existing stockholders would be
diluted. In addition, acquisitions may result il ihcurrence of debt, contingent liabilities, langate-offs, or other unanticipated costs, evemts o
circumstances, any of which could harm our opegatisults.

We generally recognize revenue from maintenance augport contracts over the contract term, and clgas in sales may not be immediately
reflected in our operating results.

We generally recognize revenue from our customent@@ance and support contracts ratably over thér@ct term, which is typically 12 months,
in some cases subject to an early termination.rigetenue from our maintenance and support costeactounted for 31% and 26% of our
revenue for the years ended December 31, 2013G@k#®1,2espectively. A portion of the revenue weorem each quarter is derived from the
recognition of deferred revenue relating to maiater®@ and support contracts entered into duringqus\quarters. Consequently, a decline in new
or renewed maintenance and support by our customarsy one quarter may not be immediately refl@ateour revenue for that quarter. Such a
decline, however, will negatively affect our revenin future quarters. Accordingly, the effect @rsficant downturns in sales and market
acceptance of our services and potential changagrirate of renewals may not be fully reflectedim operating results until future periods.

Our success depends upon our ability to attracteigrate and retain key personnel, and our failure do so could harm our ability to grow our
business.
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Our success depends, in part, on the continuingcesrof our senior management and other key peedpand our ability to continue to attract,
integrate and retain highly skilled personnel, ipatérly in engineering, sales and marketing. Catitipa for highly skilled personnel is intense,
particularly in the Silicon Valley where our headgers are located. If we fail to attract, integrand retain key personnel, our ability to grow our
business could be harmed.

The members of our senior management and othepdwspnnel are at-will employees, and may termitietie employment at any time without
notice. If they terminate their employment, we may be able to find qualified individuals to regatiem on a timely basis or at all and our se
management may need to divert their attention fotimer aspects of our business. Former employeesatsayecome employees of a competitor.
We may also have to pay additional compensati@ittact and retain key personnel. We also antieipatng additional engineering, marketing
and sales, and services personnel to grow our égsi®ften, significant amounts of time and resesieze required to train these personnel. We
may incur significant costs to attract, integratd eetain them, and we may lose them to a competitanother company before we realize the
benefit of our investments in them.

Our international operations subject us, and maycieasingly subject us in the future, to operationéihancial, economic and political risks
abroad.

Although we derive a relatively small portion ofraavenue from customers outside the United Statedelieve that non-U.S. customers could
represent an increasing share of our revenue ifuthee. During the years ended December 31, 208132812 , we obtained 10.5% and 10.7% of
our revenue, respectively, from customers outsfideeUnited States, including Canada, the Unitaétgom, Australia, the Republic of Ireland
and New Zealand. Accordingly, we are subject tksrend challenges that we would not otherwise ifawe conducted our business solely in the
United States, including:

» challenges incorporating non-English speechgeition capabilities into our solutions as we exgparto nonEnglish speaking jurisdictior

« difficulties integrating our solutions with wirekeinfrastructures with which we do not have expeni

« difficulties integrating local dialing plans andpdigpable PBX standarc

» challenges associated with delivering supportningi and documentation in several langue

» difficulties in staffing and managing personnel aesellers

» the need to comply with a wide variety of forelgws and regulations, including increasinglyrgtent data privacy regulations, requirements
for export controls for encryption technology, eoyhent laws, changes in tax laws and tax audigdwernment agencies;

» political and economic instability in, or foreignrdlicts that involve or affect, the countries afr@ustomer:

« difficulties in collecting accounts receivable dadger accounts receivable payment cy:

» exposure to competitors who are more familiar wottal markets

» limited or unfavorable intellectual property prdiea in some countries; a

» currency exchange rate fluctuations, which coutdcfthe price of our solutions relative to locglypduced solution

Any of these factors could harm our existing ingional business, impair our ability to expand iimi@rnational markets or harm our operating
results.

Our solutions are highly complex and may containfs@are or hardware errors that could harm our repation and operating results.

Our solutions incorporates complex technology egldyed in a variety of complex hospital environtsesmd must interoperate with many
different types of devices and hospital systemsil&\ilie test the components of our solutions foedtf and errors prior to release, we or our
customers may not discover a defect or error aftiér we have deployed our solution, integratedtd the hospital environment and our customer
has commenced general use of the solution. Iniadditur solutions in some cases are integratdd iéitdware and software offered by
“middleware”vendors in order to interoperate with nurse catemyms, device alarms and other hospital systemge tfannot successfully integr
our solution with these vendors as needed or ifremgware or software of these vendors containglafgct or error, then our solution may not
perform as designed, or may exhibit a defect arerr

Any defects or errors in, or which are attributeddur solutions, could result in:

» delayed market acceptance of our affected solu

* loss of revenue or delay in revenue recogni

» loss of customers or inability to attract new costes

» diversion of engineering or other resources foragyng the defect or err
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« damage to our brand and reputat
» increased service and warranty costs
* legal actions by our customers and hospital patjéntluding product liability claim

If any of these occur, our operating results apaitation could be harmed.
We face potential liability related to the privaeynd security of personal information collected thugh our solutions.

In connection with our healthcare communicationsitess, we handle and have access to persondi h€alimation subject in the United States
to the Health Insurance Portability and Accountgbict of 1996, or HIPAA, the Health Informatiore€hnology for Economic and Clinical
Health Act of 2009, or HITECH, regulations issueniguant to these statutes, state privacy and $gtawnis and regulations, and associated
contractual obligations as a “business associdthealthcare providers. These statutes, regulatiodscontractual obligations impose numerous
requirements regarding the use and disclosurersbpal health information with which we must compur failure to accurately anticipate the
application or interpretation of these statutegul&tions and contractual obligations as we developsolutions, a failure by us to comply with
their requirements (e.g., evolving encryption aacusity requirements) or an allegation that defectsur products have resulted in noncomplic
by our customers could create material civil andfoninal liability for us, resulting in adverse ldicity and negatively affecting our business.

In addition, the use and disclosure of persondtihé@#ormation is subject to regulation in otharigdictions in which we do business or expect to
do business in the future. Those jurisdictions @idgmpt to apply such laws extraterritorially amotigh treaties or other arrangements with U.S.
governmental entities. We might unintentionallylate such laws, such laws may be modified and aewvg Imay be enacted in the future which
may increase the chance that we violate them. Anii sevelopments, or developments stemming froraterent or modification of other laws,
the failure by us to comply with their requiremeatgo accurately anticipate the application oeiiptetation of these laws could create material
liability to us, result in adverse publicity andgagively affect our business.

For example, the European Union, or EU, adopted#ta Protection Directive, or DPD, imposing strisgulations and establishing a series of
requirements regarding the storage of personadigtifiable information on computers or recordedbtimer electronic media. This has been
implemented by all EU member states through natieme. DPD provides for specific regulations reqg all non-EU countries doing business
with EU member states to provide adequate dataqyiprotection when receiving personal data fropnafithe EU member states. Similarly,
Canada’s Personal Information and Protection oftEdaic Documents Act provides Canadian resideriitts pvivacy protections in regard to
transactions with businesses and organizatiorfseiptivate sector and sets out ground rules for prvate sector organizations may collect, use
and disclose personal information in the courseoofimercial activities. A finding that we have fait® comply with applicable laws and
regulations regarding the collection, use and d&gle of personal information could create liapildr us, result in adverse publicity and
negatively affect our business.

Any legislation or regulation in the area of priyaand security of personal information could afféxet way we operate our services and could
harm our business. The costs of compliance witt ,the other burdens imposed by, these and othardawegulatory actions may prevent us f
selling our solutions or increase the costs assstiaith selling our solutions, and may affect ability to invest in or jointly develop solutions i
the United States and in foreign jurisdictions.tker, we cannot assure you that our privacy andrigg@olicies and practices will be found
sufficient to protect us from liability or adverpablicity relating to the privacy and security @rponal information.

The failure of our equipment lease customers to pesyunder leasing agreements with them that we @b sell to third party lease finance
companies could harm our revenue and operating ritsu

In 2012 we began offering our badges and relateditaae accessories to our customers through medti-gquipment lease agreements. In
connection with each sale, we recognize prodeietted revenue at the net present value of tiee [payment stream once our obligations relat
such sale have been met. We plan to sell the Huhese leases, including the related accountsvaales, to third party lease finance companies
on a non-recourse basis. We will have to retaimlanigases in-house, which will expose us to tlglitworthiness of such equipment lease
customers over the lease term. For the leasesvthegtain inhouse, our ability to collect payments from a cosoor to recognize revenue for
sale could be impaired if the customer fails to nitseobligations to us such as in the case dfarskruptcy filing or deterioration in its financial
position, or has other creditworthiness issues,ainyhich could harm our revenue and operatingltesu

Our use of open source and non-commercial softwatmponents could impose risks and limitations ornr @bility to commercialize our
solutions.
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Our solutions contain software modules licenseceungen source and other types of mommercial licenses, including the GNU Public Lise,
the GNU Lesser Public License, the Apache Licemseathers. We also may incorporate open sourcetmgt licensed software into our
solutions in the future. Use and distribution oflssoftware may entail greater risks than useidd{harty commercial software, as licenses of
these types generally do not provide warrantiesttoer contractual protections regarding infringetreé@ims or the quality of the code. Some of
these licenses require the release of our propyistaurce code to the public if we combine our pigpry software with open source software in
certain manners. This could allow competitors &ate similar products with lower development eftortl time and ultimately result in a loss of
sales for us.

The terms of many open source and other non-conahéoenses have not been judicially interpretad there is a risk that such licenses could
be construed in a manner that could impose ungat&d conditions or restrictions on our abilityctommercialize our solutions. In such event, in
order to continue offering our solutions, we cooddrequired to seek licenses from alternative soes which may not be available on a
commercially reasonable basis or at all, to re+eei our solutions or to discontinue the sale ofsolutions in the event we cannot obtain a
license or re-engineer our solutions on a timelkidany of which could harm our business and diperaesults. In addition, if an owner of
licensed software were to allege that we had notpdied with the conditions of the correspondingtise agreement, we could incur significant
legal costs defending ourselves against such didega In the event such claims were successfubaudd be subject to significant damages, be
required to disclose our source code, or be enjdiren the distribution of our solutions.

Claims of intellectual property infringement couldarm our business.

Vigorous protection and pursuit of intellectual peoty rights has resulted in protracted and experigigation for many companies in our
industry. Although claims of this kind have not evélly affected our business to date, there candosassurance of the absence of such claims in
the future. Any claims or proceedings against ugtiver meritorious or not, could be time consumiagult in costly litigation, require significa
amounts of management time, result in the diversiaignificant operational resources, or requsdalenter into royalty or licensing agreements,
any of which could harm our business and operatsglts.

Intellectual property lawsuits are subject to irmtruncertainties due to the complexity of the méedl issues involved, and we cannot be certain
that we will be successful in defending ourselvgairast intellectual property claims. In additiore wurrently have a limited portfolio of issued
patents compared to many other industry particigaartd therefore may not be able to effectivellzetiour intellectual property portfolio to ass
defenses or counterclaims in response to patamgeiment claims or litigation brought against yslhird parties. Further, litigation may involve
patent holding companies or other adverse patenemwvho have no relevant products and against whormpotential patents may provide little
or no deterrence.

Many potential litigants have the capability to ate substantially greater resources to enforeie ihtellectual property rights and to defend
claims that may be brought against them. Furthegpesuccessful claimant could secure a judgmantdiguires us to pay substantial damage
prevents us from distributing certain solutiongperforming certain services. We might also be nexgliio seek a license and pay royalties for the
use of such intellectual property, which may notlailable on commercially acceptable terms otlaffternatively, we may be required to
develop non-infringing technology, which could reggusignificant effort and expense and may ultiryatet be successful.

If we are unable to protect our intellectual propgrrights, our competitive position could be harmedwe could be required to inct
significant expenses to enforce our right

Our success depends, in part, on our ability tégotaur proprietary technology. We protect ourgpigtary technology through patent, copyright,
trade secret and trademark laws in the United Staid similar laws in other countries. We alsogmbbur proprietary technology through
licensing agreements, nondisclosure agreementstard contractual provisions. These protections naybe available in all cases or may be
inadequate to prevent our competitors from copyiegerse engineering or otherwise obtaining andgugur technology, proprietary rights or
solutions in an unauthorized manner. The laws ofesforeign countries may not be as protective t@llectual property rights as those in the
United States, and mechanisms for enforcementtelfféstual property rights may be inadequate. lditaath, third parties may seek to challenge,
invalidate or circumvent our patents, trademarkpycdghts and trade secrets, or applications fgradrthe foregoing. Our competitors may
independently develop technologies that are sutialigrequivalent, or superior, to our technologydesign around our proprietary rights. In each
case, our ability to compete could be significairtiypaired.

To prevent unauthorized use of our intellectuapprty rights, it may be necessary to prosecuter&tior infringement or misappropriation of
proprietary rights. Any such action could resulsignificant costs and diversion of our resources$ a
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management's attention, and there can be no assutat we will be successful in such action. Femtiore, many of our current and potential
competitors have the ability to dedicate substiytimeater resources to enforce their intellecpralperty rights than us. Accordingly, despite our
efforts, we may not be able to prevent third partiem infringing or misappropriating our intelleed property. While we plan to continue to
protect our intellectual property with, among ottténgs, patent protection, there can be no assartmat:

« current or future U.S. or foreign patent applicasiovill be approve:

» our issued patents will protect our intellectuaperty and not be held invalid or unenforceablehidllenged by third partie

» we will succeed in protecting our technology adeglyan all key jurisdictions in which we or ourropetitors operate;

» others will not independently develop similar omgaeting products or methods or design around atengathat may be issued to

Our failure to obtain patents with claims of a ssogcessary to cover our technology, or the inatiid of our patents, or our inability to protect
any of our intellectual property, may weaken oumnpetitive position and harm our business and operaesults. We might be required to spend
significant resources to monitor and protect oteliactual property rights. We may initiate claiorslitigation against third parties for
infringement of our proprietary rights or to establthe validity of our proprietary rights. Anyigiation, whether or not it is resolved in our favor
could result in significant expense to us and ditrex efforts of our technical and management perslh which may harm our business, operating
results and financial condition.

Some of our solutions are and others could becombjsct to regulation by the U.S. Food and Drug Admstration or similar foreign agencies
which could increase our operating costs.

We provide products that may become subject tolagign by the FDA, and similar agencies in othenrtoies, or the jurisdiction of these
agencies could be expanded in the future to inotwdlesolutions. The FDA regulates certain produaotduding software-based products, as
“medical devices” based, in part, on the intendse af the product and the risk the device posésetpatient should the device fail to perform
properly. Although we have concluded that our weisslbadge is a genemlfpose communications device not subject to FRAlaion, the FD/
could disagree with our conclusion, or changealinsolutions or the FDA'’s evolving regulation coldeéid to FDA regulation of our solutions. If
these products were deemed to be medical deviemsytould be subject to the 2.3% excise tax urtteAffordable Care Act. Canada and many
other countries in which we sell or may sell odusons could also have similar regulations apgileao our solutions, some of which may be
subject to change or interpretation. We may inalasgantial operating costs if we are required g¢gster our solutions or components of our
solutions as regulated medical devices under U.fareign regulations, obtain premarket approvairfthe FDA or foreign regulatory agencies,
and satisfy the extensive reporting requirementaddition, failure to comply with these regulagarould result in enforcement actions and
monetary penalties. A clinical communications prdcacquired from mVisum, Inc. is regulated by tti@AFas a Class || medical device.

Product liability or other liability claims could ause us to incur significant costs, adversely afféwe sales of our solutions and harm ol
reputation.

Our solutions are utilized by healthcare professi®and others in the course of providing pati@néclt is possible that patients, family members,
physicians, nurses or others may allege we ar@nsge for harm to patients or healthcare proéessls due to defects in, the malfunction of, the
characteristics of, or the operation of, our soludi Any such allegations could harm our reputagiod ability to sell our solutions.

Components of our solutions utilizing Wi-Fi alsoiemadio frequency, or RF, energy. RF emissionshasen alleged, in connection with cellular
phones, to have adverse health consequences. ivbdle components of our solutions comply with gids applicable to such emissions, some
may allege that these components of our solutianseadverse health consequences or applicableliga&lmay change making these
components of our solutions non-compliant. Regwasgencies in the United States and other counitnievhich we do or plan to do business
may implement regulations concerning RF emissitarsdards. In addition, healthcare professionale leéleged and may allege in the future that
magnets in our badges may emit electromagnetiatiadior otherwise interfere with implanted medisabther devices. Any such allegations or
non-compliance, or any regulatory developmentduding any changes affecting the transmission dioraignals, could negatively impact the
sales of our solutions, require costly modificasida our solutions and harm our reputation.

Although our customer agreements contain termscanditions, including disclaimers of liability, thare intended to reduce or eliminate our
potential liability, we could be required to spesignificant amounts of management time and ressurcdefend ourselves against product
liability, tort, warranty or other claims. If anysh claims were to prevail, we could be forced
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to pay damages, comply with injunctions or stopritisting our solutions. Even if potential claims dot result in liability to us, investigating and
defending against these claims could be expensigdime consuming and could divert managemengsitidh away from our business. We
maintain general liability insurance coverage, udihg coverage for errors and omissions; howehé ,doverage may not be sufficient to cover
large claims against us or otherwise continue tavadlable on acceptable terms. Further, the imsumeld attempt to disclaim coverage as to any
particular claim.

Our business is subject to the risks of earthquakié®, floods and other natural catastrophic eventand to interruption by man-made
problems such as power disruptions or terroris

Our corporate headquarters are located in the &arciBco Bay Area, a region known for seismic dgtiand many critical components of our
solutions are sourced in Asia and Mexico, regiamsan to suffer natural disasters. A significantunat disaster, such as an earthquake, fire or a
flood, occurring at our headquarters, our otheilifs or where our contract manufacturer or ipgliers are located, could harm our business,
operating results and financial condition. In aidait acts of terrorism could cause disruptionsunlmusiness, the businesses of our customers anc
suppliers, or the economy as a whole. We alsoarlinformation technology systems to communicateragrour workforce located worldwide,

and in particular, our senior management, genecbaministrative, and research and developmeiviteaet that are coordinated with our
corporate headquarters in the San Francisco Bag. Amy disruption to our internal communicationgiether caused by a natural disaster or by
man-made problems, such as power disruptionsgiisén Francisco Bay Area, Asia or Mexico couldyelar research and development efforts,
cause delays or cancellations of customer ordedelay deployment of our solutions, which couldrhaur business, operating results and
financial condition.

We may require additional capital to support our finess growth, and such capital may not be avaiéabl

We intend to continue to make investments to supgpiness growth and may require additional fundgspond to business challenges, which
include the need to develop new solutions or enhanisting solutions, enhance our operating infaastire, expand our sales and marketing
capabilities, expand into non-healthcare markets,azquire complementary businesses, technologigssets. Accordingly, we may need to
engage in equity or debt financing to secure fukgslity and debt financing, however, might not bailable when needed or, if available, might
not be available on terms satisfactory to us. Ifraise additional funds through equity financingg stockholders may experience dilution. Debt
financing, if available, may involve covenants riesing our operations or our ability to incur atidinal debt. If we are unable to obtain adequate
financing or financing on terms satisfactory to aus;, ability to continue to support our businessagh and to respond to business challenges !
be significantly limited as we may have to deladuce the scope of or eliminate some or all ofimitiatives, which could harm our operating
results.

As an“emerging growth company” under the JOBS Act, weegpermitted to, and may, rely on exemptions fronntain disclosure and
governance requirement:

As an “emerging growth company” under the Jumps£at Business Startups Act, or JOBS Act, we arenjitgd to, and may, rely on exemptions
from certain disclosure and governance requiremé&uatsexample, for so long as we are an emergiogthrcompany, which can last, at most,
until the first fiscal year following the fifth airersary of our initial public offering, we will idoe required to:

* have our independent registered public accogriiim report on our internal control over finarlai@porting pursuant to Section 404(b) of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act;

« comply with any requirement that may be adofgthe Public Company Accounting Oversight Boaghareing mandatory audit firm
rotation or a supplement to the auditor's repavigling additional information about the audit ahd financial statements;

» provide the “compensation discussion and anstlysid certain compensation tables for our namedwie officers in our Form 10-K or
annual proxy statement; and

» submit certain executive compensation mattestdokholder advisory votes, such as “say on pay

aay on frequency.”

We could be an emerging growth company for upue fiears. However, if the market value of our comrsick that is held by non-affiliates
exceeds $700 million as of June 30th of any yearcauld cease to be an “emerging growth companyf #se following December 31st. This
threshold was not reached for June 30, 2013. Afteeeding the threshold, as of each fiscal year@anmdndependent registered public accoun
firm will be required to evaluate and report on ouernal control over financial reporting undeicten 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. While
management has established plans to accommodaiddhmnal assessment and attestation procedncesetated costs of Section 404(b)
compliance, we may incur additional costs or regjatlditional management time to comply with Sectiod(b) in a timely manner.
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If we do not maintain effective internal control @v financial reporting or disclosure controls andrpcedures in the future, the accuracy at
timeliness of our financial reporting may be advety affected.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other thihgs we assess the effectiveness of our integratol over financial reporting annually and
disclosure controls and procedures quarterly. tiqudar, beginning with the year ending on Decentilg 2013, we must obtain confidence in
internal control over financial reporting to alleamanagement to report on the effectiveness of darrial control over financial reporting as
required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Batthe extent we find a material weakness or afleéiciency in our internal control over
financial reporting, the accuracy and timelinesswffinancial reporting may be adversely affected.

Multiple negative consequences could ensue if @natveakness in our internal control over finahcéporting is identified in the future, or we
are not able to comply with the requirements ofti8act04 in a timely manner or we do not maintdfective controls. For example, our reported
financial results could be materially misstated@uld be restated, we could receive an adverseéampiagarding our controls from our
independent registered public accounting firm (asweh opinion is required under the Sarbanes-Oxit), or we could be subject to
investigations or sanctions by regulatory authesitiAll of these outcomes would require additidmelncial and management resources, and the
market price of our stock could decline.

We will continue to incur increased costs as a réesaf operating as a public company and our managemh will have to devote substantial time
to public company compliance obligations.

As a public company, we will continue to incur stagial legal, accounting and other expenses teatfiel not incur as a private company. We
continue to incur substantial expenses even thawghs an “emerging growth compamyay rely upon the disclosure and governance exemyg
under the JOBS Act. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 200Barbane®xley Act, as well as rules subsequently implemeibiethe SEC and our stc
exchange, impose various requirements on publigenies, including changes in corporate governaragtipes. Our management and other
personnel will need to devote a substantial amofitine to these compliance requirements and amyrequirements that the Dodd-Frank Wall
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2049 immpose on public companies. Moreover, these rahel regulations, along with
compliance with accounting principles and regulaioterpretations of such principles, as amendethbyJOBS Act, have increased and will
continue to increase our legal, accounting anchfired compliance costs and have made and will naetio make some activities more time-
consuming and costly. For example, we expect thdes and regulations to make it more difficult andre expensive for us to obtain director
officer liability insurance, and we may be requiteciccept reduced policy limits and coverage ouiirsubstantial costs to maintain the same or
similar coverage.

We face risks related to securities litigation thabuld result in significant legal expenses and ti&tnent or damage awards.

We are currently, and may in the future becomejestito claims and litigation alleging violationktbe securities laws or other related claims,
which could harm our business and require us tariaignificant costs. For example, on August 1,28td August 21, 2013, purported securities
class actions were filed in the United States Ris@ourt for the Northern District of Californiggainst us and certain of our officers, our board of
directors, a former director and the underwritersour initial public offering. The suits purpod &llege claims for allegedly misleading statem

in the registration statement for our initial peldiffering and in subsequent communications reggrdur business and financial results.
Regardless of the outcome, these matters or fiitig@tion may require significant attention fromamagement and could result in significant legal
expenses, settlement costs or damage awards thdtlmve a material impact on our financial positieesults of operations and cash flows.

Compliance with the SEC's new rule for disclosures sourcing of "conflict minerals” may be time consning and costly and could adversely
affect our reputation.

Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and ConsuPnetection Act of 2010, the SEC has adopted anmésthat applies to companies that
use certain minerals and metals, known as comflinerals, in their products, including certain prots manufactured for them by third parties.
The new rule will require companies that use conffiinerals in the production of their productsdonduct diligence as to whether or not such
minerals originate from the Democratic Republi€Caingo and adjoining countries and to file certafioimation with the SEC about the use of
these minerals. We will incur additional costs eonply with the due diligence and disclosure requigats. In addition, depending upon our
findings, or our inability to make reliable findisgabout the source of any conflict minerals thatuse, our reputation could be harmed. The first
conflict minerals report is due June 2, 2014. Teedae have not incurred any material incremerdats; but we may in the future.

Risks related to our common stock

The market price of our common stock may be voltiind your investment in our stock could suffedacline in value.
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There has been significant volatility in the markete and trading volume of equity securities, allhis often unrelated or disproportionate to the
financial performance of the companies issuingsgmurities. These broad market fluctuations maytinegly affect the market price of our
common stock. The market price of our common staekd fluctuate significantly in response to thetfas described in this “Risk Factors”
section and elsewhere in this Form 10-K and otaetofs, many of which are beyond our control, idirig:

» actual or anticipated variation in anticipated @pieg results of us or our competitc

» the financial projections we may provide to the lpukany changes in these projections or our failiar meet these projectio

* announcements by us or our competitors of néutisas, new or terminated significant contractanmercial relationships or capital
commitments;

» failure of securities analysts to maintain cager of us, changes in financial estimates by acyriies analysts who follow our company, or
our failure to meet these estimates or the expgentabf investors;

» developments or disputes concerning our intellégtaperty or other proprietary righ

e commencement of, or our involvement in, litigat

« announced or completed acquisitions of businessesnologies or assets by us or our compe

» changes in operating performance and stock magteations of other technology companies generatlyhose in our industry in particul

» price and volume fluctuations attributable to insistent trading volume levels of our common st

e our public float relative to the total number ofgbs of our common stock that are issued and owlisig

» price and volume fluctuations in the overall stoté&rket, including as a result of trends in the ecaypas a whol

* rumors and market speculation involving us or ottenpanies in our indust

* any major change in our managem

» unfavorable economic conditions and slow or negagisowth of our markets; a

» other events or factors, including those resulfiogh war or incidents of terrorisi

If securities or industry analysts issue an adversemisleading opinion regarding our stock or do hpublish research or reports about ol
business, our stock price could decline.

The trading market for our common stock depengith on the research and reports that securitieslastry analysts publish about us and our
business. We do not control these analysts ordhtent and opinions included in their reports. Pphiee of our common stock could decline if one
or more analysts downgrade our common stock tioge analysts issue other unfavorable commentasgase publishing reports about us or our
business. If one or more analysts cease coveraga @ompany or fail to regularly publish report®at our company, we could lose visibility in
the financial market, which in turn could cause stoick price to decline. Further, securities oustdy analysts may elect not to provide research
coverage of our common stock and such lack of reeeaverage may adversely affect the market mficeir common stock.

The concentration of our capital stock ownershipttvinsiders will likely limit your ability to influence corporate matters.

Our executive officers, directors, current 5% aager stockholders and entities affiliated with ahthem together beneficially own
approximately 52% of our common stock outstandmgfaDecember 31, 2013 . These stockholders, yf dlee together, will have significant
influence over all matters requiring stockholdeprapal, including the election of directors and eqwal of significant corporate transactions, and
may take actions that may not be in the best ister@ our other stockholders. This concentratioovanership could also limit stockholders’
ability to influence corporate matters. Accordingtgrporate actions might be taken even if othegldtolders, including you, oppose them, or
not be taken even if other stockholders view thermahe best interests of our stockholders. Threentration of ownership may have the effect
of delaying or preventing a change of control af campany, may make the approval of certain trafwa difficult or impossible without the
support of these stockholders and might adverdédgtahe market price of our common stock.

Our stock price could decline due to the substahtiamber of outstanding shares of our common stdtlat are available for sale on the public
market.

All of our outstanding shares are freely tradahiiout restrictions or further registration undee federal securities laws, except for shares held
by directors, executive officers and other affémtvhich are subject to volume limitations undeleRu#4 of the Securities Act of 1933 and vari
vesting agreements. If the holders of substaatr@unts of such freely tradable shares sell, acate an intention to sell, the trading price of ou
common stock could decline. Additional sharesacitijo outstanding warrants, outstanding optiomsR®BUS, or reserved for future issuance
under our equity incentive and employee stock mselplans, could also become available for sateeipublic market to the extent permitted by
the provisions of various vesting agreements arlds€Rl44 and 701 under the Securities Act.
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We have never paid cash dividends on our capitatkf and we do not anticipate paying any dividerashe foreseeable future.

We have never paid cash dividends on any of outalagtock and currently intend to retain our fet@arnings to fund the development and
growth of our business. As a result, capital agptemn, if any, of our common stock will be the salource of gain for the foreseeable future.

Our charter documents and Delaware law could discage, delay or prevent a change of control of owmepany or change in our
management that stockholders consider favorable aadise our stock price to decline.

Certain provisions of our restated certificaterafarporation and restated bylaws and Delaware taddadiscourage, delay or prevent a change of
control of our company or change in our manageniextthe stockholders of our company consider favie: These provisions:

» authorize the issuance of “blank check” preféistck that our board of directors could issumtoease the number of outstanding shares anc
to discourage a takeover attempt;

» prohibit stockholder action by written consent,uieing all stockholder actions to be taken at atingeof stockholder:

» establish advance notice procedures for nonmnigatandidates to our board of directors or propgpeiatters that can be acted upon by
stockholders at stockholder meetings;

« limit the ability of our stockholders to call spatimeetings of stockholde

» prohibit stockholders from cumulating their votes the election of directol

» permit newly created directorships resultingrfran increase in the authorized number of direaiprscancies on our board of directors to be
filled only by majority vote of our remaining direcs, even if less than a quorum is then in office;

» provide that our board of directors is expresshharized to make, alter or repeal our byle

» establish a classified board of directors so tibataii members of our board are elected at one;

» provide that our directors may be removed oanly‘€ause” and only with the approval of the hotdef at least 66 2/3rds percent of our
outstanding stock; and

*  require supemajority voting to amend certain provisions in gertificate of incorporation and byla\

Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation by also discourage, delay or prevent a changerdfol of our company.
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comment

None

Item 2.  Properties

We do not currently own any of our facilities. Tioowing table sets forth the location, approximatze, primary use and lease expiration dates
of our leased facilities. Our facilities are in gogperating condition and adequately serve oumiegsineeds.

Approximate

Location square fee Primary use Lease expiration date
San Jose, California 70,00( Corporate headquarters and product warehot April 1, 2016
Knoxville, Tennessee 7,50z Development, sales and support March 31, 2016

San Francisco, California 3,09: Vocera Care Experience offices May 31, 2014
Toronto, Canada 4,26( Development, sales and support April 30, 2017
Reading, United Kingdom 1,00(¢ Sales and support December 31, 2014

Item 3. Legal Proceeding

On August 1, 2013 a purported securities classma@ntitiedBrado v. Vocera Communications Inc., et alas filed in the United States District
Court for the Northern District of California agatrus and certain of our officers, our board oécliors, a former director and the underwriters for
our initial public offering. A second purported seties class action, entitldduncan v. Vocera Communications Inc., et alas filed on August
21, 2013, also in the Northern District of Califnagainst the same parties. On September 27, B4 8ourt ordered the matters related. The
suits purport to allege claims under Sections 2{&a){2) and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933 anctiSa 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act of
1934 for
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allegedly misleading statements in the registrasiatement for our initial public offering and inbsequent communications regarding our
business and financial results. The suits are ptegly brought on behalf of purchasers of our siéegrbetween March 28, 2012 and May 3, 2
and seek compensatory damages, rescission, feeostisgd as well as equitable and injunctive orotékef. The plaintiffs’ motion for
consolidation of the actions and for appointmerieafl plaintiff has been granted, and we anticigaeéthe plaintiffs will file an amended
consolidated complaint. No response to the cuemtplaints is due at this time.

Due to the inherent uncertainties of litigation, @anot accurately predict the ultimate outcomihisf matter. We are unable at this time to
determine whether the outcome of the litigation lddwave a material impact on our results of opereti financial condition or cash flow. We
have not established any reserve for any potdiatality relating to this lawsuit.

From time to time, we may be involved in other laiis claims, investigations and proceedings, atimgj of intellectual property, commercial,
employment and other matters which arise in théarg course of business.

Iltem 4. Mine Safety Disclosure
None.
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PART Il

ltem 5. Market for Registrant’ s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer Purchases of Equity Securitie

Market Information

Our common stock has been listed on the New YaokKSExchange under the symbol “VCR#aihce March 28, 2012. Prior to that date, there
no public trading market for our common stock. @itial public offering was priced at $16.00 perash on March 27, 2012. The following table
sets forth for the periods indicated the high avd $ales prices per share of our common stockpastesl on the New York Stock Exchange:

High Low

Year ending December 31, 2013
First Quarter $ 2947 % 21.3:
Second Quarter $ 23.9¢ $ 11.9¢
Third Quarter $ 19.71 % 13.7¢
Fourth Quarter $ 18.9¢ $ 14.71
High Low

Year ending December 31, 2012
First Quarter (beginning March 28, 2012) $ 2491 % 20.2(
Second Quarter $ 28.1t % 20.7(
Third Quarter $ 3297 % 24.17
$ 3128 % 22.11

Fourth Quarter

Holders of Common Stoc

As of March 10, 2014, w e had 80 holders of readrdur common stock. The actual number of stockéi@ds greater than this number of record
holders, and includes stockholders who are beaéfievners, but whose shares are held in street bgrbeokers and other nominees. This nur
of holders of record also does not include stoaéid whose shares may be held in trust by othéiesnt

Dividend policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocapital stock, and we do not currently intemgay any cash dividends on our common
stock for the foreseeable future. We expect tdndtdaure earnings, if any, to fund the developmeemd growth of our business. Any future

determination to pay dividends on our common steitikbe at the discretion of our board of directarsd will depend upon, among other factors,
our financial condition, operating results, currantl anticipated cash needs, plans for expansiotuer factors that our board of directors may

deem relevant.

Stock Performance

This stock performance graph shall not be deemeticiing material” or to be “filed” with the SECdr purposes of Section 18 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or ExchangeAatherwise subject to the liabilities under ttgection, and shall not be deemed tc
incorporated by reference into any filing of Voc&ammunications, Inc. under the Securities AcherExchange Act.

The following stock performance graph comparesctiraulative total return provided to holders of tienmon stock of Vocera Communications,
Inc. relative to the cumulative total returns aé thew York Stock Exchange Composite Index and thad&ard & Poors 1500 Health Care
Technology Index since the pricing of the initialglic offering of Vocera’s common stock on March 2812. An investment of $100 is assumed
to have been made in our common stock and in efatie andexes on March 31, 2012, including reinwesit of dividends, and its relative
performance is tracked through December 31, 2013 .
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COMPARISON OF 21 MONTH CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN"®

AmongVocera Communicationsinc, the NYSE Composite Index,
andthe S5&F Health Care Technology Index

m -
520 -
&0
J2aM2 12131112 121314113
—&— Vocera Communications Inc. ——- NY 5E Composite ---&r--- §&P Health Care Technology
Prior year-end End of performance
Assumed investment dat performance period
3/28/201.! 12/31/201: 12/31/201.
Vocera Communications Inc. 100.0( 119.3¢ 74.2%
NYSE Composite 100.0( 105.0: 132.6:
S&P Health Care Technology 100.0( 101.9¢ 146.3¢

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securiti¢

During the three months ended December 31, 20E3digvnot repurchase any of our securities.
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ltem 6. Selected Financial Dat

The following selected consolidated financial dgttauld be read in conjunction with Item 7, “Manageit's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and the cadat#d financial statements and related notesdeclun Item 8, “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report on Fo¥Kl The selected consolidated financial data is $lection are not intended to replace the
consolidated financial statements and are qualifigteir entirety by the consolidated financiatsments and related notes included elsewhere in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We derived the consolidated statement of operatiate for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2042011 and the consolidated balance
sheet data as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 fromunlited financial statements included elsewhetbis report. We derived the consolidated
statement of operations data for the years endedrlger 31, 2010 and 2009 and the consolidated dmkireet data as of December 31, 2011,
2010 and 2009 from our audited financial statem#rasdo not appear in this report. Our historieallts are not necessarily indicative of the
results to be expected in the future.

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands, except per share data) 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Consolidated statements of operations data:

Total revenue $ 10249 $ 100,95 ¢ 79,50! $ 56,80! $ 41,13¢
Gross profit 64,18¢ 64,33¢ 47,99¢ 35,62¢ 25,27:
Net (loss) income (10,469 2,89:¢ (2,479 1,21( (992)
Less: undistributed earnings attributable to pguditing

securities — (1,36¢) — (1,210 —
Net (loss) income attributable to common stockheide $ (10,46H) $ 1527 $% (2,479 $ — % (992)

Net (loss) income per share attributable to comstookholders
Basic and diluted $(0.43) $0.08 $(0.74) $0.00 $(0.49)

Weighted average shares used to compute net {wsshe per
share attributable to common stockholders

Basic 24,62 17,97¢ 3,37( 2,22¢ 2,03¢
Diluted 24,62 20,60¢ 3,37( 2,84¢ 2,03¢

As of December 31,

(in thousands) 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Consolidated balance sheet data:

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments $ 127,67t $ 12751 $ 14,89¢ $ 8,64: % 8,931
Total assets 173,10° 167,30! 49,81¢ 33,93: 19,80:
Total borrowings — — 8,33: 5,40¢ 1,777
Convertible preferred stock warrant liability — — 1,85:% 1,125 802
Convertible preferred stock — — 53,01 52,75¢ 52,75¢
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) 125,56: 123,12! (49,399 (50,369 (53,379
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ltem 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial@dition and Results of Operation

The following discussion and analysis of our firahcondition and results of operations should kead together with our consolidated financial
statements and related notes included in Item &&Rcial Statements and Supplementary Data” inctuohethis Annual Report on Form 10-K.
This discussion and analysis contains forwhroking statements that involve risks, uncertagtiad assumptions, such as statements of our
objectives, expectations and intentions. The caatipstatements made in this Annual Report on FI®AK should be read as applying to all
related forward-looking statements wherever theyegp in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our actegults may differ materially from those
anticipated in these forward-looking statements assult of many factors, including but not limitedhose set forth under Iltem 1A, “Risk
factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Business overview

We are a provider of secure, integrated, intelliggmmunication solutions, focused on empoweringpiteavorkers in healthcare, hospitality,
energy, and other mission-critical mobile work eamiments, in the U.S. and internationally. Today shgnificant majority of our business is
generated from sales of our solutions in the heafthmarket, but we are working to expand our satesmarketing efforts to enter and grow in
other markets. We help our healthcare customersowempatient safety and satisfaction, and incréaseital efficiency and productivity through
our Communication and Care Experience solutionss&thave been installed in more than 1,200 headtlacad non-healthcare organizations
worldwide.

We outsource the manufacturing of our products. @sourced manufacturing model allows us to soatdusiness without the significant
capital investment and on-going expenses requiredtablish and maintain manufacturing operatidfeswork closely with our contract
manufacturer, SMTC Corporation, and key suppliensdnage the procurement, quality and cost of coeps. We seek to maintain an optimal
level of finished goods inventory to meet our fastcsales and unanticipated shifts in sales vokmdemix.

We primarily sell products and maintenance servitiesctly to end users. To date, substantiallypfbur revenue has been derived from sales of
our Vocera Communication solution, including prodo@intenance and related services. Revenue g tb $102.5 million in 2013 from
$101.0 million in 2012 , and our 2012 revenue g2&u0% from $79.5 million in 2011 . For the year eddecember 31, 2013 we recorded a net
loss of $10.5 million . For the year ended Decen®#ier2012 , we recorded a net income of $2.9 miliad net income attributable to common
stockholders of $1.5 million .

Our diverse customer base ranges from large hbsgigtems to small local hospitals, as well as ofi@althcare facilities and customers in non-
healthcare markets. We are not reliant on any astomer. For 2013, our largest end customer repted only 1.1% of revenue. While we have
international customers in other English speakimgntries such as Canada, the United Kingdom andr&lizs most of our customers are located
in the United States. International customers mpred 10.5% and 10.7% of our revenue in 2013ra@012 , respectively. We are developing
plans to expand our presence in other English spgaharkets and enter non-English speaking markets.

2013 was a challenging year for our U.S. hospitat@mers. Many hospitals responded to the fedeidddt sequestration in March 2013 by
freezing or cutting operating and departmental letslg

These U.S. hospital industry trends affected otlityalto expand the adoption of our solutions withexisting customers, which has traditionally
been a key factor in our revenue growth. At theestime, however, we experienced 19% growth in nestaners. New customers most often
our solutions from capital expenditure budgets,clvhviere less affected than departmental operatidgéts. This helped offset the reduced
expansion of the use of our solutions within erigttustomers.

Federal hospitals, which include Veterans Admiatibn (VA) and Department of Defense (DoD), welféedéently affected by these healthcare
reform trends. VA hospitals were specifically exd#d from the sequester budget cutbacks, and weatsamg growth in VA contracts in the year.
The DoD, however, was a primary target of the ssteuts, which caused active military hospitalsut spending budgets.

We experienced strong growth from internationalpitats in 2013, although it is a small portion eir @urrent revenues, as is our non-healthcare
business in hospitality, energy and other industiigh mobile workers.

Entering 2014, the rules, dates and actual imgamitical parts of the Affordable Care Act and etthealthcare reform legislation remain
uncertain based on the significant changes in 20/8believe many U.S. hospitals are maintaining teutious outlook for revenue and
budgeting into 2014. At the same time, we furthedidwve that productivity, safety and patient satitibn are top priorities for many hospitals.
With the new customer demand we experienced in 2¥1@ur core Vocera Communication System, plugsswnew products being introduce:
2014, we believe we are well positioned to helppitats achieve those objectives.
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Components of operating results

Revenue. We generate revenue from the sale of products emvitss. As discussed further in the section titfedtical accounting policies and
estimates—Revenue recognition and deferred revemieiv, revenue is recognized when persuasive se&ef an arrangement exists, delivery
has occurred, the price is fixed or determinabbt @oilection is reasonably assured.

Revenue is comprised of the following:

Product. Our solutions include both hardware and software.réfer to hardware revenue as device revenuehvitnitudes revenue from
sales of our communication badges, badge accessimiduding batteries, battery chargers, lanyastiiss and other ancillary badge
components. Software revenue is derived primardynfthe sale of perpetual licenses to our Vocemai@onication System. We derive
additional software revenue from the sale of tdomrises or services provided, which can be ren@neadsubscription basis. Product revenue
is generally recognized upon shipment of hardwartkperpetual licenses and, in the case of termsiee or subscription services, ratably
the applicable term.

Service. We receive service revenue from sales of softwaimtenance, extended hardware warranties and grofes services. Software
maintenance is typically invoiced annually in ads&recorded as deferred revenue, and recognizedersue ratably over the service per
Our professional services revenue is based ontlméhand materials, and fixed price contracts, iarrdcognized as the services are provi
Extended warranties are invoiced in advance, retbas deferred revenue, and recognized ratablytbgextended warranty period.

Cost of revenue. Cost of revenue is comprised of the following:

Cost of product. Cost of product is comprised primarily of materiedssts, software license costs, write-offs for escand obsolete
inventory, warranty, and manufacturing overheadscfus test engineering, material requirementsmitagnand our shipping and receiving
functions. These overhead costs also include figsiliequipment depreciation, amortization of depetl technology and stock-based
compensation expenses. We expect material costayawith the product life cycle of our devices.

Cost of service. Cost of service is comprised primarily of employesges, benefits and related personnel expenses ¢éahnical support
team, our professional consulting personnel andraining teams. Cost of service also includedifg@nd information technology costs. We
expect our cost of service will increase as weinotto invest in support services to meet the seédur customer base.

Operating expenses. Operating expenses are comprised of the following:

Research and developmentResearch and development expenses consist prirnéelyployee wages, benefits and related personnel
expenses, hardware materials, and consultant fekex@enses related to the design, developmetihgesid enhancements of our solutions.
We intend to continue to invest in improving thadtionality of our solutions and the developmennheiv solutions. As a result, we expect
research and development expense to increasecféorgseeable future.

Sales and marketing. Sales and marketing expenses consist primarilyngi@/ee wages, benefits and related personnel esgpeas well as
trade shows, marketing programs and collateralpafdic relations programs. Sales commissions amgeelavhen an order is received from a
customer, and as a result, in some cases theseissioms are expensed in an earlier period thapehied in which the related revenue is
recognized. Historically, our bookings have tenttedeak in the fourth quarter of each year driviigher sales commissions, and to be
lowest in the first quarter. We intend to continiaeexpand our direct sales force, invest in salepart functions and new marketing progr:
for the foreseeable future, and accordingly, expalds and marketing expenses to increase.

General and administrative. General and administrative expenses consist pilyraremployee wages, benefits and related perdonne
expenses, consulting, accounting fees, legal feé®ther general corporate expenses. We expectajemel administrative expense to
increase for the foreseeable future due to thafgignt costs we expect to incur as we continueuitd and maintain the infrastructure
necessary to comply with the regulatory requiremefibeing a public company and as we add persaarseipport our growth.

Interest income, interest expense and other incofeepense), net

Interest income. Interest income consists primarily of interest imeoearned on our cash, cash equivalent and shortitgestment
balances. Our interest income will vary each repgnperiod depending on our average cash, caskaqnot and short-term investment
balances during the period and market interess rate
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* Interest expens. Interest expense includes interest expenaterkto debt and financing obligations resultiragrfrour credit facility and
security agreement, which was paid off in full opriA3, 2012. Since then interest expense has imeeraterial, but could potentially fluctue
in the future with changes in our borrowings.

» Other income (expense), netOther income (expense), net consists primarilynobime from a stipend for market research regarithiag
industry in which our company operates that we joled to a market research firm, and the changedridir value of our convertible
preferred stock warrants. Our convertible prefestedk warrants were classified as liabilities amisuch, were marked-to-market at each
balance sheet date with the corresponding gaiossrfrom the adjustment recorded as other incorpe(ese), net. Upon the consummatio
our initial public offering, on April 2, 2012, thesvarrants converted into warrants to purchase aomstock and are no longer marked-to-
market. Other income (expense), net also includgdaeign exchange gains and losses.

Provision for income taxes. We are subject to income taxes in the countriegevive sell our solutions. We anticipate that infiitare as we
expand our sale of solutions to customers outsidéJhited States, we will become subject to tardbased on the foreign statutory rates in the
countries where these sales took place and ouwtiefeax rate could fluctuate accordingly. Curhgn¢ach of our international subsidiaries is
operating under cost plus agreements where thepdr8nt company reimburses the international sidygifor its costs plus an arm's length pri

Income taxes are computed using the asset antitliabethod, under which deferred tax assets aatullities are determined based on the
difference between the financial statement and&ses of assets and liabilities using enactedatas in effect for the year in which the
differences are expected to affect taxable incorfatuation allowances have been established to eedaferred tax assets to the amount
reasonably expected to be realized. Changes imt@tuallowances are reflected as component ofigimvfor income taxes.

At December 31, 2013, we held a $21.0 milk@tuation allowance against our deferred tax as¥éésreview on a quarterly basis our conclus
about the appropriate amount of its deferred inctaresset valuation allowance.
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Results of operations

The following table is a summary of our consolidbséatements of operations for the years endedrbleee31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 .

Years ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
(in thousands, except percentages) Amount % Revenue  Amount % Revenue Amount % Revenue
Consolidated statements of operations data:
Revenue
Product $ 62,39: 60.£% $  65,02¢ 64..% $ 50,32 63.2%
Service 40,10¢ 39.1 35,92¢ 35.€ 29,18: 36.7
Total revenue 102,49t 100.( 100,95 100.( 79,50: 100.(
Cost of revenue
Product 21,71« 21z 21,55: 21 17,46: 22.C
Service 16,59: 16.2 15,07( 14.¢ 14,04: 17.7
Total cost of revenue 38,30¢ 37.4 36,62: 36.% 31,50° 39.€
Gross profit 64,18¢ 62.€ 64,33¢ 63.7 47,99¢ 60.4
Operating expenses
Research and development 14,91¢ 14.¢ 11,61¢ 11.t 9,33t 11.7
Sales and marketing 44,92¢ 43.¢ 33,43: 33.1 28,15: 35.4
General and administrative 14,90¢ 14.¢ 14,39( 14.: 11,31¢ 14.2
Total operating expenses 74,74¢ 72.€ 59,44( 58.¢ 48,80: 61.4
(Loss) income from operations (10,560 (20.9) 4,89¢ 4.8 (80€) (2.0
Interest income 257 0.2 171 0.2 17 —
Interest expense — — (84) (0.7 (332) (0.9
Other expense, net (53 (0.3 (1,469 (1.4 (1,079 (1.9
(Loss) income before income taxes (20,35¢) (20.7) 3,52( S (2,199 (2.9)
Provision for income taxes (209 (0.3 (627) (0.€) (28%) (0.9
Net (loss) income $ (10,46 (10.9% $ 2,89: 2% $ (2,479 (3.)%

Years ended December 31, 2013 compared to DeceBhe2012

Revenue
Years ended December 31,
2013 2012 Change
(in thousands, except percentages) Amount Amount Amount %
Product Revenue
Device $ 46,63t $ 47,728 % (2,089 (2.9%
Software 15,757 17,30: (2,54¢) (8.9
Total product revenue 62,39: 65,02¢ (2,635 (4.7)
Service revenue
Maintenance and support 31,55¢ 26,231 5,32 20.3
Professional services and training 8,54¢ 9,69: (1,14¢ (11.9)
Total service revenue 40,10¢ 35,92¢ 4,17¢ 11.€
Total revenue $ 102,49t $ 100,95 $ 1,541 1.E

Total revenue increased $1.5 million, or 1.5%, fr2®12 to 2013.
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Product revenue decreased $2.6 million, or 4.120i8. Device revenue decreased $1.1 million, d¥62ahd software revenue decreased $1.5
million, or 8.9%. The 2013 decrease in device reeemvhich related entirely to our Vocera Commurndéasolution, was due primarily to a
decrease in the average selling price for badgestama lesser extent, a slight decrease in thebeuwf badges sold. The lower average selling
price was primarily a result of a promotion in geeond quarter of 2013. The list prices for oudpmts did not change substantially in 2013. The
2013 decrease in software revenue was primarilytaaedecrease in the number of server licenses selt for customer expansions for our Voice
Communication solution. We believe this decreashiesto the impact on hospital operating budgets fthe federal budget sequestration in
March 2013 and uncertainty around the impact oftheare reform within the US healthcare marketyltésy in greater scrutiny of expenses and
elongation of the sales cycle.

Service revenue increased $4.2 million, or 11.620b3. Software maintenance and support revenueased $5.3 million, or 20.3%, and
professional services and training revenue decdedd million, or 11.8%. The 2013 increase inwafe maintenance and support revenue was
primarily a result of a larger customer base bso aicluded $2.1 million from extended warranty tcacts. The 2013 decrease in professional
services and training revenue was due to a reduitithe number of deployments completed in 20&Btiqularly related to our existing customer
base.

Cost of revenue:

Years ended December 31,

2013 2012 Change
(in thousands, except percentages) Amount Amount Amount %
Cost of revenue
Product $ 21,71:  $ 2155 % 162 0.8%
Service 16,59t 15,07( 1,52¢ 10.1
Total cost of revenue $ 38,30¢ % 36,62 $ 1,68¢ 4.6
Gross margin
Product 65.2% 66.%% 1.7%
Service 58.€ 58.1 0.t
Total gross margin 62.€ 63.7 (1.1

Cost of product revenue increased $0.2 millior).886, from 2012 to 2013. This increase was primalile to a $1.4 million increase in warranty
expenses and a $0.7 million increase in overhepdreses, offset by decreases in product costs 8fr#lion due to lower per unit material and
manufacturing costs as a result of increased whitnve. The increase in warranty expenses was phntesed on a manufacturing defect
impacting a discrete batch of badges, resultirgnimcrease in warranty expense of $0.7 million.

Cost of service revenue increased $1.5 milliorl, A%, from 2012 to 2013. This increase was primdrtie to a $1.2 million increase in
employee wages and other personnel costs in dumited support and professional services orgaminatio support growth in customer
deployments and in our installed base.

Operating expenses:

Years ended December 31,

2013 2012 Change
(in thousands, except percentages) Amount Amount Amount %
Operating expenses:
Research and development $ 14,91F $ 11,61¢ % 3,297 28.4%
Sales and marketing 44,92¢ 33,43: 11,49¢ 34.4
General and administrative 14,90¢ 14,39 51€ 3.€
Total operating expenses $ 74,74¢  $ 59,44C § 15,30¢ 25.€

Research and development expe. Research and development expense increasgdiiBon, or 28.4%, from 2012 to 2013. This incseavas
primarily due to an increase in employee wagesadner personnel related costs of $2.3 million, & $fillion increase in stock compensation

expenses and $0.4 million increase in other supquats. Headcount in our research and developmganization increased from 59 employee
December 31, 2012 to 71 employees at Decembel03B, 2

Sales and marketing expenseSales and marketing expense increased $11.5 mitiod4.4%, from 2012 to 2013. This increase wasamily
due to a $6.6 million increase in employee wagesaiher personnel costs, a $1.7 million increase in
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stock compensation expenses, a $1.3 million inereagavel, a $1.6 million increase in marketinpenses and a $0.8 million increase in outside
services, offset by a $0.5 million decrease in gangint and supplies. Headcount in our sales andetiagkorganization increased from 136
employees at December 31, 2012 to 153 employdesamber 31, 2013.

General and administrative expenseGeneral and administrative expense increased $llibrmor 3.6%, from 2012 to 2013. This increasasw
due to a $1.7 million increase in stock compensagxpense, a $0.6 million increase in employee wage other personnel costs, a $0.2 million
increase in outside services, offset by a $1.7aniklecrease of bonus accrual and a $0.2 millimnedese in administrative/other. Headcount ir
general and administrative organization increaseth 44 employees at December 31, 2012 to 51 emgdogeDecember 31, 2013.

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands, except percentages) 2013 2012 Change
Non-operating income (expense) elements:

Interest income $ 257 $ 171 % 8€
Interest expense — (84) 84
Other (expense) income, net (53 (1,467 1,41C

Income taxes:

Provision for income taxes (209 (627) 51¢
(Loss) income before income taxes (10,35¢) 3,52( (13,87¢)
Effective tax rate % (1.2)% 17.8% (18.9%

Interest income. Interest income increased $0.1 million from 2012@3d3 due to higher cash balances from the proa#feals initial public
offering and follow-on offering completed in 2012.

Interest expense. Interest expense decreased $0.1 million from 202013 as we paid all outstanding debt upon conapleif our initial public
offering.

Other income (expense), netOther expense decreased $1.4 million from 201D482As 2012 included $1.6 million of expense relatethe
fair market value of convertible preferred stockraats. This decrease was offset by a $0.1 millienease in interest expense related to our lease
financing program and a $0.1 million increase irefgn exchange losses.

Provision for income taxe

The $0.1 million provision on $10.4 million of paatloss in 2013 represented a negative effectiveat® of 1.1%. For 2012, the provision of $0.6
million on the consolidated pretax income of $3iiam represented an effective tax rate of 17.8%e negative effective tax rate for 2013 was
due primarily to the impact of pre-tax losses i@ thS. operations, offset by income taxes fromifpreperations. The effective tax rate of 17.8%
for 2012 is due primarily to the impact of the iaakion of the valuation allowance on net deferteedassets, together with permanent tax
adjustments for stock options.

Years ended December 31, 2012 compared to DeceBhe2011

Revenue:
Years ended December 31,
2012 2011 Change
(in thousands, except percentages) Amount Amount Amount %
Product Revenue
Device $ 47,72t $ 37,08t $ 10,63" 28.1%
Software 17,30 13,23¢ 4,06¢ 30.7
Total product revenue 65,02¢ 50,32: 14,70¢ 29.2
Service revenue
Maintenance and support 26,23’ 21,43¢ 4,79¢ 22.¢
Professional services and training 9,69: 7,742 1,95( 25.2
Total service revenue 35,92¢ 29,18 6,74¢ 23.1
Total revenue $ 100,95 $ 79,50 $ 21,45¢ 27.C
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Total revenue increased $21.5 million, or 27.0%nf2011 to 2012.

Product revenue increased $14.7 million, or 29.2%2012. Device revenue increased $10.6 millior2&¥v%, and software revenue increased
million, or 30.7%. The 2012 increase in device rewg which related entirely to our Vocera Commutiizasolution, was driven by an increast
unit sales of badges and related accessories fesnrcastomers making initial purchases, existingarasrs expanding deployments within their
facilities to new departments and users, and custeneplacing badges. The list prices for our petaldid not change substantially in 2012. The
2012 increase in software revenue was compris&d.6fmillion from an increase in the sale of licensf our Vocera Communication solution to
new and existing customers and $0.6 million frolreotsoftware revenue.

Service revenue increased $6.7 million, or 23.1%20bh2. Software maintenance and support revenueased $4.8 million, or 22.4%, and
professional services and training revenue incee&2eD million, or 25.2%. The 2012 increase inwafe maintenance and support revenue was
primarily a result of a larger customer base bso aicluded $1.0 million from extended warranty tcacts and $0.3 million from other software
services. The 2012 increase in professional sendnd training revenue included $0.9 million assult of an increase in the number of new
deployments and expansions of our Vocera Commuaicablution. The remaining increase in profesdiseavices and training revenue of $0.9
million was from other service offerings.

Cost of revenue:

Years ended December 31,

2012 2011 Change
(in thousands, except percentages) Amount Amount Amount %
Cost of revenue
Product $ 2155 $ 17,46 % 4,08¢ 23.%%
Service 15,07( 14,04: 1,02¢ 7.3
Total cost of revenue $ 36,62 $ 31507 $ 5,11¢ 16.2
Gross margin
Product 66.%% 65.2% 1.€%
Service 58.1 51.¢ 6.2
Total gross margin 63.7 60.4 3.2

Cost of product revenue increased $4.1 millior221%, from 2011 to 2012. This increase was prifydte to the higher product revenue, offset
by decreases due to lower per unit material andufaaturing costs as a result of increased unitmel@and lower warranty expenses in 2012 due
to lower return rates on our B3000 badge compardiet B2000 badge and to lower cost estimatesfarlsishment and replacement alternatives.
In 2011, we recorded a $0.6 million provision facess inventory of the Vocera Wi-Fi smartphone uguantities-on-hand exceeding forecast
demand. Excluding the excess inventory charge,ystagioss margins in 2011 would have been only daWer than those realized in 2012.

Cost of service revenue increased $1.0 millior¥,.8%, from 2011 to 2012. This increase was primpatile to a $0.9 million increase in employee
wages and other personnel costs in our technipgistiand professional services organizations ppesrt growth in customer deployments and in
our installed base. Headcount in our services drgtan increased from 71 employees at Decembe2@11 to 80 employees at December 31,
2012.

Operating expenses:

Years ended December 31,

2012 2011 Change
(in thousands, except percentages) Amount Amount Amount %
Operating expenses
Research and development 11,61¢  $ 9,33t % 2,28: 24.5%
Sales and marketing 33,43: 28,15 5,281 18.¢
General and administrative 14,39( 11,31¢ 3,07¢ 27.2
Total operating expenses 59,44( $ 48,80: § 10,63¢ 21.€

Research and development expe.

primarily due to an increase in employee wagesadner personnel related costs of $1.6 million, 8$0

Research and development expense increasgdniiRon, or 24.5%, from 2011 to 2012. This incseavas
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million increase in stock compensation expensess@nt million increase in other support costs. Headt in our research and development
organization increased from 50 employees at DeceBhe2011 to 59 employees at December 31, 2012.

Sales and marketing expenseSales and marketing expense increased $5.3 midiob8.8%, from 2011 to 2012. This increase wangrily due
to a $4.1 million increase in employee wages ahdrgbersonnel costs to support corporate marketidgsales efforts, a $1.0 million increase in
stock compensation expenses, $0.4 million increasavel, $0.5 million increase in other suppoftset by a $0.7 million decrease in brand and
product launch expenses associated with the B3€l6@gse in 2011. Headcount in our sales and magkettgmnization increased from 115
employees at December 31, 2011 to 136 employdesamber 31, 2012.

General and administrative expenseGeneral and administrative expense increased $ilikrmor 27.2%, from 2011 to 2012. This increagas
due to a $2.9 million increase in employee wagesaiher personnel costs, a $0.6 million increas#donk compensation expense, a $0.4 million
increase in outside services costs as we prepatgecbme a public company, partially offset by &8$8illion decrease in other support costs.
Headcount in our general and administrative orgditia increased from 35 employees at December@1l, & 44 employees at December 31,
2012.

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands, except percentages) 2012 2011 Change
Non-operating income (expense) elements:

Interest income $ 171 % 17 $ 154
Interest expense (84) (332) 24¢
Other (expense) income, net (1,467%) (1,073 (390

Income taxes:

Provision for income taxes (627) (285) (342)
Income (loss) before income taxes 3,52( (2,199 5,71¢
Effective tax rate % 17.8% (13.0% 30.8%

Interest income. Interest income increased $0.2 million from 2012@3d2 due to higher cash balances from the proa#feals initial public
offering and follow-on offering completed in 2012.

Interest expense. Interest expense decreased $0.2 million from 262012 as we paid all outstanding debt upon conapleif our initial public
offering.

Other income (expense), netThe $0.4 million increase in other expense from12@12012 is due to a $0.7 million increase in faarket value
of the convertible preferred stock warrants offgets $0.2 million increase in other income and 4 $fillion decrease in foreign exchange losses.

Provision for income taxeThe $0.6 million provision on $3.5 million of pretsncome in 2012 represented an effective taxohter.8%. For
2011, the provision of $0.3 million on the consatietl pretax loss of $2.2 million represented a tiegaffective rate of 13.0%. The lower-than-
normal 17.8% rate for 2012 was due primarily toithpact of the utilization of the valuation allowanon net deferred tax assets, together with
permanent tax adjustments for stock options. Tigaitine 13.0% rate for 2011 is due primarily to itherease in the valuation allowance on net
deferred tax assets, together with tax liabilittethe foreign subsidiaries.

Liquidity and capital resources

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2013 2012 2011
Consolidated statements of cash flow data:

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities $ (1,259 $ 12,29: $ 5,617
Net cash used in investing activities (56,719 (37,537 (2,454
Net cash provided by financing activities 5,107 102,86: 3,19¢
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalent $ (52,869 $ 77,620 $ 6,25¢

As of December 31, 2013 , we had cash and caskatgots and short-term investments of $127.7 milaod no debt.
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On April 2, 2012, we completed our initial publiffering in which we and existing stockholders s6}@d27,500 shares of common stock at $16.00
per share, before underwriting discounts and cosions. We sold 5,000,000 shares and existing stdd&ts sold an aggregate of 1,727,500
shares, including 877,500 shares as a result afrttlerwriters’ exercise of their over-allotmentiopt We recorded net proceeds of $70.5 million
from the initial public offering, after subtractia@f underwriters’ discounts and commissions, aridriofg expenses incurred in both 2011 and
2012. We did not receive any proceeds from the&adbares by existing stockholders in our inigiablic offering.

On September 12, 2012, we completed a foltlmwpublic offering in which we and existing stoclders sold 5,548,750 shares of common sto
$28.75 per share, before underwriting discountscamamissions. We sold 1,337,500 shares and existowkholders sold an aggregate of
4,211,250 shares, including an aggregate of 723%&fes as a result of the underwriters' exerditteedr over-allotment option. We received net
proceeds of approximately $36.0 million, after dgthg underwriting discounts and commissions am@ioexpenses of the offering. We did not
receive any proceeds from the sale of shares Isyimgyistockholders in our follow-on public offering

We have also financed a portion of our operatiorsacquisitions with term loans, equipment linesrefit and revolving lines of credit. In
January 2009, we entered into a loan and secigigeaent with Comerica Bank, N.A., or Comerica,clihivas subsequently amended in
February 2010 and December 2010. These amendnesetsed the working capital line of credit for $0lion, and increased the term loan
facility from $2.0 million to $5.0 million. In Apti2012, we used a portion of the proceeds fromimitial public offering to pay in full the
outstanding revolving line of credit of $4.5 mili@and the outstanding term loan balance of $3.BamilWe allowed this line of credit to expire
April 2012.

Proceeds from transfers of our sales-type leasesrtbparty financial companies are allocated fstwthe net investment in sales-type leases anc
the executory cost component for remaining seretiligations based on relative present value. Tfferdince between the amount of proceeds
allocated to the net investment in lease and thging value of the net investment in lease isudeld in product revenue. Proceeds allocated to
the executory cost components are accounted fiomargcing liabilities.

We are not a capital-intensive business, nor dexpect to be in the future. During 2013 , 2012 201 , our purchases of property and
equipment were $3.8 million, $2.6 million and $#hillion, respectively. The expenditures in 2013uded completion of the first phase of our
ERP implementation in August 2013 and build ouadditional leased space available in April 2013 €kpenditures in 2012 included progress
to date on our ERP implementation, as well as spgrtd support headcount growth with computer ajgiment needs. The expenditures in
2011 primarily related to leasehold improvement$ @smputer equipment to support the increase irheadcount and B3000 production
equipment.

We believe that our existing sources of liquidityl watisfy our anticipated working capital and taprequirements for at least the next
twelve months. Our future liquidity and capital ueg@ments will depend upon numerous factors, inolgidur rate of growth, the rate at which we
add personnel to generate and support future gr@mth potential future acquisitions.

In the future, we may seek to sell additional ggsécurities or borrow funds. The sale of additi@tpity or convertible securities may result in
additional dilution to our stockholders. If we miadditional funds through the issuance of dehir#tés or other borrowings, these securities or
borrowings could have rights senior to those of@mmon stock and could contain covenants thatlcagtrict our operations. Any required
additional capital may not be available on reastmntdyms, if at all.

Operating activities

Cash used by operating activities was $1.3 millipB013, due in part to the 2013 net loss of $18ilbon , together with inventory growth &3.0
million attributable to downward revision of profems for our 2013 shipments which did not sigrfidly reduce the lagged inventory receipt
commitments until year-end , accounts receivabbevgr of $1.9 million , and decrease in accrued @thér liabilities of $1.9 million . These were
partially offset by non-cash items, including stdidsed compensation of $8.7 million , higher thm@012, and depreciation of property and
equipment and intangibles amortization of $2.5iomll. Additional offset was provided by the increas deferred revenues of $4.2 milliand the
increase of $0.7 million in accounts payable.

Cash provided by operating activities was $12.3ionilin 2012, due in part to net income in 20122f9 million, based on 3.3% higher gross
margins on a 27% increase in revenues. Operatsigftav also excludes the following non-cash itedepreciation of property and equipment
and intangibles amortization of $2.6 million, thankrto-market valuation of preferred stock warrasft$1.6 million prior to our initial public
offering, and stock-based compensation of $4.2anillwhich was higher in 2012 than in 2011 duehthigher quantity and fair value of stock
option and RSU grants. Additional operating caslois were generated by the $5.8 million increasddferred revenues and $2.8 million
increase in accrued and other liabilities, bothelriby our continued business growth. These itesrg wartially offset by operating cash outflows
of $5.9
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million for the growth-driven increase in accourgseivable, $1.3 million for the increase in prepaxpenses and other current assets, and $1.1
million for the decrease in accounts payable.

Cash provided by operating activities was $5.5iamilin 2011, which was primarily due to an increasdeferred revenue of $6.3 million as a
result of the increase in sales in 2011, the chamgecounts payable of $3.0 million, an increasadcrued and other liabilities of $1.4 million,
stock-based compensation expense of $1.5 milllsanges in the valuation of preferred stock warrantsoption liabilities of $1.4 million, and
depreciation of property and equipment and amditizaf intangible assets of $2.0 million. This wfset by a net loss of $2.5 million and
change in accounts receivable of $6.7 million duthé increase in volume and the timing of prodingbments during 2011. Inventory increased
$1.1 million in 2011 as we began transitioningtte B3000 badge.

Investing activities

Cash used in investing activities was $56.7 miliio2013, which was primarily attributable to therghase of short-term investments of $118.7
million , net of maturities received of $65.7 nolli , plus the purchase of property and equipmeteasehold improvements of $3.8 milliofihe
short-term investment purchases primarily reflecteddecision in early 2013 to migrate all investitnend cash equivalents from our single asset
manager into new portfolios, split between two remset managers. The maturities reflected the pledeem the liquidation of the former asset
manager's portfolio, as well as fairly short-terratumities on the new portfolios, leading to a stiertn investments balance of $88.0 million as of
December 31, 2013, with the remainder investezhgh equivalents.

Cash used in investing activities was $37.5 miliio2012, which was primarily attributable to therghase of short-term investments of $104.9
million, net of maturities received of $69.9 milioplus the purchase of property and equipmenieasthold improvements of $2.6 million. The
short-term investment purchases reflected invedtfoemigher yields of the proceeds from the AROIL2 IPO and September 2012 follow-on
offerings. We allowed the short-term investmentigoidate down to a $35.0 million balance as ot@mber 31, 2012 , with the difference
invested in cash equivalents from the maturities.

Cash used in investing activities was $2.5 milio2011, which was primarily attributable to theghase of property and equipment and
leasehold improvements related to expansion otorporate offices. Our purchases of property andpagent during the year were higher than
normal as we expanded our leasehold improvemendtpr@ured additional computer equipment to supihb@rincrease in headcount. We also
invested in manufacturing tools and equipment fgpstt our newly introduced B3000 badge.

Financing activities

Cash provided by financing activities was $5.1 imnillin 2013, which was attributable to employeektpurchase plan proceeds of $3.0 million ,
exercises of stock options of $1.8 million , casinf lease-related performance obligations of $0IBom, exercise of common stock warrants of
$0.2 million , partially offset by $0.7 million déxes paid on behalf of employees for net shatieseant.

Cash provided by financing activities was $102.8iom in 2012, which was primarily attributable ttoe net proceeds received from our initial
public offering of $72.1 million and the net prodsdrom our follow-on offering of $36.0 million, gally offset by the $8.3 million repayment of
our credit facility and term loan. Additional finging activities that contributed cash included $1illion of proceeds from the exercise of stock
options and $1.1 million of cash received for fetexecutory costs for lease-related performandgatizins.

Cash provided by financing activities was $3.2 imnillin 2011, which was primarily attributable t&2.9 million net increase in debt and
$1.8 million in proceeds from the exercise of stopkions and preferred stock warrants offset b $illion of expenses related to our initial
public offering.
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Contractual obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual gdtiions as of December 31, 2013 :

Less than 1 More than
(in thousands) Total year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5years
Operating leased $ 3471 $ 1,54C $ 190¢ $ 28 $ =
Non-cancelable purchase commitmefits 3,11¢ 3,11¢ — — —
Total $ 6,59: $ 4,655 $ 1,90¢ $ 28 % —

(1) Consists of contractual obligations from reamcelable office space under operating le
(2) Consists of minimum purchase commitments with adependent contract manufacturer and other vel

As of December 31, 2013 we had $216,000 of netrdefdax liabilities and $170,000 from uncertair pasitions, both recorded within other
long-term liabilities. The timing and amounts ofygrayments which could result from the net defeteediabilities and unrecognized tax benefits
will depend upon a number of factors. Accordingg timing and amounts of any eventual payment@igoe estimated for inclusion in the table
above. We do not expect a significant tax paymelated to these obligations to occur within thetid&months. Such tax contingencies are
separately disclosed and discussed in Note 10.

Related party transactions

During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2@1dlled a related party, the University of Chicaddedical Center (‘UCMC”), $0.5 million

in each year for consulting services and technomgytions. One of our board members, Sharon O'&ésfalso the President of UCMC. These
transactions were recorded at arms-length pridestelwere no material related party transaction’/@MC in the year ended December 31,
2011 . During the year ended December 31, 2013hilesl a related party, the Hewlett-Packard Conypapproximately $9,200 for software and
support, at arms’ length prices. Through July dcf2QJohn N. McMullen, one of our directors, serasdlreasurer & Senior Vice President at
Hewlett-Packard. There were no material relatetygeansactions for Hewlett-Packard in the yeardesl December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Off-balance sheet arrangements

During 2013, we did not have any relationshipshwibhconsolidated organizations or financial paghigs, such as structured finance or special
purpose entities that would have been establistrethé purpose of facilitating off-balance sheeaagements or other contractually narrow or
limited purposes.

Critical accounting policies and estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial stegets requires us to make estimates and assumfhiatnsffect the amounts reported in the
consolidated financial statements and accompamuabgs. We evaluate our estimates on an ongoing,basiuding those related to revenue
recognition, stock-based compensation, accountingudsiness combinations and the provision fornmedaxes. We base our estimates and
judgments on our historical experience, knowledglactors affecting our business and our belieoaghat could occur in the future consider
available information and assumptions that we kielie be reasonable under the circumstances.

The accounting estimates we use in the preparafionr consolidated financial statements will cheiag events occur, more experience is
acquired, additional information is obtained and aperating environment changes. Changes in egsat made when circumstances warrant.
Such changes in estimates and refinements in dg&immaethodologies are reflected in our reportexliits of operations and, if material, the
effects of changes in estimates are disclosedeimtties to our consolidated financial statementghBir nature, these estimates and judgment
subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty atgbhoesults could differ materially from the amtaireported based on these estimates.

While our significant accounting policies are mary described in Note 1 of the “Notes to our colidated financial statements” included in
Item 8, “Financial Statements and SupplementanaDate believe the following reflects our critiGcounting policies and our more significant
judgments and estimates used in the preparationrdinancial statement

Revenue recognitiol
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We derive revenue from the sales of communicatamgbs, smartphones, perpetual software licensesfovare that is essential to the
functionality of the communication badges, softwar@ntenance, extended warranty and professiondtes. We also derive revenue from the
sale of licenses for software that is not essettitthie functionality of the communication badgeswell as certain subscription-based revenues.
Sales tax is excluded from reported total revenue.

Revenue is recognized when all of the below ceatare met:

» there is persuasive evidence that an arrangeexésts, in the form of a written contract, amendtado that contract, or purchase orders from
a third party;

» delivery has occurred or services have been redj
« the price is fixed or determinable after evaluatimg risk of concession; a
» collectability is reasonably assured based on cust@reditworthiness and past history of collec

A typical sales arrangement involves multiple eletagsuch as sales of communications badges, peiEetfitware licenses, professional services
and maintenance services which entitle customeausdpecified upgrades, bug fixes, patch releasgsedephone support. Revenue from the sale
of communication badges and perpetual softwaradies is recognized upon shipment or delivery attiséomers’ premises as the contractual
provisions governing sales of these products donotide any provisions regarding acceptance, pedoce or general right of return or
cancellation or termination provisions adversefgetfing revenue recognition. Revenue from the ghlaaintenance services on software licenses
is recognized over the period during which the ises/are provided, which is generally one year.eRae from professional services is recogn
either on a fixed fee basis based on milestones artime and materials basis as the servicesravidpd, both of which generally take place over
a period of two to twelve weeks.

For contracts that were signed prior to JanuaB010 and were not materially modified after thaedae recognize revenue on such
arrangements in accordance with the discussionruhdeuthoritative guidance for software reveraeagnition.

For revenue arrangements entered into or materialgified after January 1, 2010, we have adoptedgthended October 2009 guidance from
Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) fevenue recognition for tangible products contairsofjware components that function
together to deliver the products essential funetibpyn The new guidance also amended the multiigment arrangement accounting.

Under the new guidance, tangible products andgbkerdial software licenses that work together witth tangible products to provide them their
essential functionality are now not subject towafe revenue recognition accounting rules (nonaso# elements), while non-essential software
licenses are still governed under software reveacegnition rules (software elements).

The adoption of the amended revenue recognitiotiagngie did not result in any significant changethéoindividual deliverables to which we
allocate revenue as the fair value for most oftibléverables is based on VSOE, or to the timingeeEnue recognized from the individual
deliverables.

We also derive revenue from the provision of hosedices on a subscription basis and softwarelsadér term licenses. Revenue from the sale
of these products and services are not sold a®partiltiple element arrangements and such arrapgtsrare recognized ratably over the term of
the arrangement.

A portion of the Company's sales are made througlti-year lease agreements with customers. Whesethaangements are considered sales-
type leases, upon delivery of leased products stoaoers, the Company recognizes revenue for swtupts in an amount equal to the net pre
value of the minimum lease payments. Unearned iedsmecognized as part of product revenue unaeeffiective interest method. The
Company recognizes revenue related to executotg sash as extended warranty and battery refregiraams when such executory costs are
incurred.

Proceeds from transfers of sales-type leasesrtbplairty financial companies are allocated betwbemet investment in sales-type leases and the
executory cost component for remaining servicegaltions based on relative present value. The diffeg between the amount of proceeds
allocated to the net investment in lease and thging value of the net investment in lease isudeld in product revenue. Proceeds allocated to
the executory cost component are accounted faaligitas financing liabilities, with subsequent amimation recorded in revenue, for extended
warranty and battery refresh programs, offset bgrast expense.

Standard product warrantie

We provide for the estimated costs of product wiea at the time the related revenue is recogniZedts are estimated based on historical and
projected product failure rates, historical andgxted repair costs, and knowledge of specific pevéhilures (if any). The specific product
warranty includes parts and labor over a periocgaly ranging from one to three years.
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We provide no warranty for software. We reguladgess our estimates to evaluate the adequacy afdbeded warranty liabilities and adjust the
amounts as necessary. The total warranty expergglBwas $1.7 million, compared to $0.3 millior2®12. The increase in warranty expense
was due to a manufacturing defect relating to erdte batch of badges, aggregating $0.7 milliame ©f the key drivers to the warranty reserve
calculation is the estimated return rate of théeaihed base of products under standard warrantye¥tienate that a 1 percentage change in the
product return rate would impact the warranty esgsrby $85,000 per year.

Stock-based compensation
Stock options

We record all stock-based awards, which consistaifk option grants, at fair value as of the gdaie and recognize the expense over the
requisite service period (generally over the vesgiariod of the award). The expenses relatingesdlawards have been reflected in our financial
statements. Stock options granted to our employestsover periods of 12 to 48 months.

We use the Black-Scholes option-pricing model foudate the fair value of stock options on themmrdate. This model requires the following
major inputs: the estimated fair value of the utydleg common stock, the expected life of the optithre expected volatility of the underlying
common stock over the expected life of the optiba,risk-free interest rate and expected dividealtly The following assumptions were used for
each respective period for employee stock-basegensation:

Years ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Expected term (in years) 5.38-5.43 5.23-5.60 5.49-5.73
Volatility 46.7% - 48.1% 47.9% - 48.7% 44.7% - 47.6%
Risk-free interest rate 0.81% - 1.80% 0.72% - 1.03% 0.98% - 2.48%
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

The Company bases the risk-free rate for the eggeerm of options on the U.S. Treasury Constantikityg Rate as of the grant date. The
computation of expected life was determined basetthe historical exercise and forfeiture behavioow employees, giving consideration to the
contractual terms of the stotlased awards, vesting schedules and expectatiduticd employee behavior. The expected stock pritatility for
our common stock was estimated based on the toataolatility of a group of comparable companiesthe same expected term of our options.
The comparable companies were selected based ostiménd market capitalization data. We assumediitfidend yield to be zero, as we have
never declared or paid dividends and do not expet so in the foreseeable future.

Stock-based compensation expense is recognized basestraight-line amortization method over #sgpective vesting period of the award and
has been reduced for estimated forfeitures. Wenastid the expected forfeiture rate based on otoridal experience, considering voluntary
termination behaviors, trends of actual award farfes, and other events that will impact the fidfie rate. To the extent our actual forfeitureerat
is different from our estimate, the stock-based pensation expense is adjusted accordingly.

Restricted Stock Uni

During the year ended December 31, 2012, we begamngorating restricted stock units as an eleméatiocompensation plans. Beginning in
May 2012, we granted certain employees restridi@zkaunits, which vest one third on the first aramsary of the grant, one third on the second
anniversary of the grant and one third upon theltanniversary of the grant. We did not grant astricted stock units prior to May 2012. The
grant date fair value of the RSUs is the closingkmigprice on the date of grant; this amount isgbd to expense ratably over the requisite se
period. Beginning with 2012, RSU's have formedl#ingest form of stock compensation expense, ingerhgrant type.

Goodwill and intangible assets

We allocate the purchase price of any acquisitiortangible assets and liabilities and identifiabtangible assets acquired. Any residual purc
price is recorded as goodwill. The allocation & purchase price requires management to makeisgmiestimates in determining the fair val

of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, edhewigh respect to intangible assets. These es@mare based on information obtained from
management of the acquired companies and histaxgadrience. These estimates can include, butad@mited to, the cash flows that an asset is
expected to generate in the future, and the cesigmexpected to be derived from acquiring anta3$ese estimates are inherently uncertain and
unpredictable, and if different estimates were ukedourchase price for the acquisition could becated to the acquired
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assets and liabilities differently from the alldoatthat we have made. In addition, unanticipatezhts and circumstances may occur which affect
the accuracy or validity of such estimates, arsligh events occur we may be required to recorédayeragainst the value ascribed to an acquired
asset or an increase in the amounts recordeddanes liabilities.

Goodwill

Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reportingt level at least annually as of September 3@timore often if events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may eatelsoverable. No impairment was recorded in 2@(BL.2 or 2011 . As of December 31, 2013
no changes in circumstances indicate that goodwaitlying values may not be recoverable. Applicatibthe goodwill impairment test requires
judgment. Circumstances that could affect the wednaf goodwill include, among other things, arsfggant change in our business climate .

the buying habits of our customers along with cleang the costs to provide our products and sesvieer the September 30, 2013 goodwiill
impairment test, we used the qualitative assesspentitted under recent accounting guidance, andladed there was no goodwill impairment,
without proceeding to Steps 1 and 2 of the qudiM@approach.

Intangible asset

In connection with the acquisitions we made in 204€ recorded intangible assets. We applied amiecapproach to determine the values of
these intangible assets. The income approach nesathe value of an asset based on the future kkagh if is expected to generate over its
remaining life. The application of the income agmio requires estimates of future cash flows baped,.among other things, certain assumptions
about expected future operating performance arappropriate discount rate determined by our managernm applying the income approach,
used the excess earnings method to value our castatationships and in-process research and dawelot intangible assets and the relief from
royalty method to value our developed technology aade name intangible assets. We used the withagiimout method to value a non-compete
intangible asset. The cash flows expected to bergéad by each intangible asset were discounttbiopresent value equivalent using rates
believed to be indicative of market participantcdignt rates. Intangible assets are amortized beér éstimated useful lives. Upon completion of
development, acquired in process research andaf@veht assets are generally considered amortiZatite;lived assets and are amortized over
their estimated useful lives.

Finite-lived intangible assets consist of customedationships, developed technology, trademarksnamdcompete agreements. We evaluate our
intangible assets for impairment at the asset glewgd, which means the intangibles grouped witieotassets and liabilities at the lowest leve
which identifiable cash flows are largely indepemidef the cash flows of other assets and liabditdanagement has concluded that the
Company's asset groups align with the Companytatieg units. The intangibles assets are alloctiigte Product asset group, given that the
Product asset group is the lowest level for whisleréte cash flow information are identifiable, épendent from other assets. We assess the
recoverability of these assets whenever adversg®ee changes in circumstances or business climdigate that expected undiscounted future
cash flows related to such intangible assets mapeagufficient to support the net book value affrsassets. An impairment is recognized in the
period of identification to the extent the carryiggount of an asset exceeds the fair value of assbt. No impairment of intangible assets was
recorded in 2013 , 2012 or 2011 .

Significant judgments required in assessing theaimpent of goodwill and intangible assets includke identification of reporting units,
identifying whether events or changes in circumzarrequire an impairment assessment, estimatingefaash flows, determining appropriate
discount and growth rates and other assumptiorsn@ds in these estimates and assumptions couldiatigtaffect the determination of fair val
as to whether an impairment exists and, if soatheunt of that impairment.

Income taxes

We use the asset and liability method of accourfingncome taxes. Under this method, we recor@mlefl income taxes based on temporary
differences between the financial reporting ando@ses of assets and liabilities and use enactedtiss and laws that we expect will be in effect
when we recover those assets or settle thoseitiedilas the case may be, to measure those taxemses where the expiration date of tax
carryforwards or the projected operating resulthicate that realization is not likely, we provide & valuation allowance. Valuation allowances
are established when necessary to reduce defexebsets to the amounts expected to be realized.

We have deferred tax assets, resulting from deaedemporary differences that may reduce taxatderne in future periods. A valuation
allowance is required when it is more likely thant that all or a portion of a deferred tax assditwat be realized. In assessing the need for a
valuation allowance, we estimate future taxableine, considering the feasibility of ongoing taxspiang strategies and the realizability of tax
loss carryforwards. Valuation allowances relateddferred tax assets can be impacted by changas iaws, changes in statutory tax rates and
future taxable income levels. If we were to detenrthat we would be able to realize our deferrgditsets in the future in excess of the net
carrying amounts, we would decrease the recordegtian allowance through an increase to incoméénperiod in which that determination is
made. Due to the
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amount of net operating losses available for inctemeourposes through December 31, 2013 , we Halth\aluation reserve against our deferred
tax assets. We continue to evaluate the realipabifiour U.S. and Canadian deferred tax assetarlfinancial results improve, we will reassess
the need for a full valuation allowance each quanxtel, if we determine that it is more likely thaot the deferred tax assets will be realized, we
will adjust the valuation allowance.

At December 31, 2013, we had a valuation allowawyzenst net deferred tax assets of $21.0 mill\fe.intend to review on a quarterly basis our
conclusions about the appropriate amount of iterdefl income tax asset valuation allowance. Irothenary course of business, there is inherent
uncertainty in quantifying our income tax positiofge assess our income tax positions and recorddaagfits for all years subject to examination
based upon our managemeargvaluation of the facts, circumstances and indtion available at the reporting date. For thogeptasitions where

is more likely than not that a tax benefit will fgstained, we have recorded the highest amouakdfenefit with a greater than 50% likelihood of
being realized upon ultimate settlement with artgpauthority that has full knowledge of all relevarformation. For those income tax positions
where it is not more likely than not that a tax &ftrwill be realizable, no tax benefit has beetognized in our financial statements.

We include interest and penalties with income tatethe accompanying statement of operations. &uyéars after 2009 are subject to tax
authority examinations. Additionally, our net op@erg losses and research credits prior to 2013 @bgect to tax authority adjustment.

Recently issued accounting guidance

In July 2013, the FASB issued new guidance forgituess versus net presentation of unrecognizedeagflis. The FASB concluded that an
unrecognized tax benefit should be presented eduction of a deferred tax asset for a net operadiss (“NOL”) or other tax credit carryforward
when settlement in this manner is available unidetax law. The new guidance is effective for atat juarter of 2014, applied prospectively.
have the option to apply the rule retrospectivelgt aarly adoption is permitted. Adoption of thiaretard is not expected to impact our financial
position or results of operations.

Iltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Marlet Risk

The primary objective of our investment activitiego preserve principal while maximizing yieldsthaut significantly increasing risk. To achie
this objective, historically we have invested inmag market funds. With the proceeds from our twbligwofferings in 2012, we have invested i
broader portfolio of high credit quality short-tesmcurities. To minimize the exposure due to areesdvshift in interest rates, we maintain an
average portfolio duration of one year or less.

Our primary exposure to market risk is interesbme and expense sensitivity, which is affectedhi@nges in the general level of the interest
in the United States. However, because of the 4bort nature of our interest-bearing securitieB)%® change in market interest rates would not
be expected to have a material impact on our cifaet financial condition or results of operations

Historically our operations have consisted of resdeand development and sales activities in theddrbtates. As a result, our financial results
have not been materially affected by factors siscbhanges in foreign currency exchange rates aroeaic conditions in foreign markets. We are
developing plans to expand our international preseAccordingly, we expect that our exposure tangea in foreign currency exchange rates and
economic conditions may increase in future periods.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To The Board of Directors and Stockholders
of Vocera Communications, Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated badasheets and the related consolidated statemiespeiations, of stockholders' equity
(deficit), comprehensive income (loss) and casidlpresent fairly, in all material respects, thmaficial position of Vocera Communications, Inc.
and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2013 and Deeefl, 2012, and the results of their operationktheir cash flows for each of the three y

in the period ended December 31, 2013 in conformity accounting principles generally acceptechim nited States of America. These
financial statements are the responsibility of@menpany's management. Our responsibility is to@sgan opinion on these financial statements
and financial statement schedules based on outsaMdé conducted our audits of these statememsdordance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United Stat€hpse standards require that we plan and perfoenaadit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are fremaiérial misstatement. An audit includes examinama test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statemasgessing the accounting principles used andisigt estimates made by management, and
evaluating the overall financial statement pred@raWe believe that our audits provide a reastebasis for our opinion.

/s/ PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

San Jose, California
March 17, 2014
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Vocera Communications, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In Thousands, Except Share and Par Amounts)

December 31,

2013 2012
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 39,65: $ 92,52:
Short-term investments 88,02: 34,98¢
Accounts receivable, net 23,54 21,69:
Other receivables 882 55C
Inventories 5,66¢ 2,77:
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,89: 2,80¢
Total current assets 159,65! 155,33
Property and equipment, net 5,36t 3,631
Intangible assets, net 1,54+ 2,267
Goodwill 5,57¢ 5,57¢
Other long-term assets 96& 49t
Total assets $ 173,100 $ 167,30!
Liabilities and stockholders' equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 3531 % 2,85¢
Accrued payroll and other current liabilities 9,841 11,75¢
Deferred revenue, current 26,13 22,45!
Total current liabilities 39,50 37,05¢
Deferred revenue, long-term 6,39¢ 5,88:
Other long-term liabilities 1,641 1,23¢
Total liabilities 47 54 44.,18(
Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)
Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock, $0.0003 par value - 5,000,000eshanthorized as of December 31, 2013 and Decediber
2012; zero shares issued and outstanding — —
Common stock, $0.0003 par value - 100,000,000 sharthorized as of December 31, 2013 and Decem
31, 2012; 24,967,140 and 24,229,356 shares issubdwdstanding as of December 31, 2013 and Decen
31, 2012, respectively 7 7
Additional paid-in capital 189,96t 177,08:
Accumulated other comprehensive income 23 5
Accumulated deficit (64,43)) (53,969
Total stockholders’ equity 125,56: 123,12!
$ 173,100 $ 167,30!

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part oetheasolidated financial statements.
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Vocera Communications, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

Years ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Revenue
Product $ 62,39: $ 65,02¢ $ 50,32:
Service 40,10¢ 35,92¢ 29,18:
Total revenue 102,49¢ 100,95 79,50:
Cost of revenue
Product 21,71« 21,55: 17,46"
Service 16,59t 15,07( 14,04:
Total cost of revenue 38,30¢ 36,62: 31,507
Gross profit 64,18¢ 64,33¢ 47,99¢
Operating expenses
Research and development 14,91 11,61¢ 9,33t
Sales and marketing 44,92¢ 33,43 28,15
General and administrative 14,90¢ 14,39( 11,31¢
Total operating expenses 74,74¢ 59,44( 48,80:
(Loss) income from operations (20,560 4,89¢ (80€)
Interest income 257 171 17
Interest expense — (84) (332)
Other (expense) income, net (53 (1,467) (1,079
(Loss) income before income taxes (10,35¢) 3,52( (2,194
Provision for income taxes (209 (627) (285)
Net (loss) income (10,465 2,89: (2,479
Less: undistributed earnings attributable to pguditing securities — (1,36¢) —
Net (loss) income attributable to common stockheide $ (10,465 $ 1527 $ (2,479

Net (loss) income per share attributable to comstookholders
Basic and diluted $(0.43) $0.08 $(0.74)

Weighted average shares used to compute net inoss} per share attributable to
common stockholders

Basic 24,62 17,97¢ 3,37(
Diluted 24,62: 20,60¢ 3,37(

The accompanying notes are an integral part oetheasolidated financial statements.
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Vocera Communications, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive (Loss) lome
(In Thousands)

Years ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Net (loss) income $ (10,465 $ 2,89: % (2,479
Other comprehensive income, net:
Unrealized gain on investments, net of tax 18 5 —
Comprehensive (loss) income $ (10,44) $ 2,89t $ (2,479

The accompanying notes are an integral part oetheasolidated financial statements.
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Vocera Communications, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity (Oiit)
(In Thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Balance at December 31, 2010

Exercise of stock options

Vesting of early exercised stock options
Non-employee stock-based compensation expense
Employee stock-based compensation expense
ExperiaHealth performance awards

Repurchase of early exercised options

Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2011

Conversion of preferred stock to common stock
Issuance of common stock upon initial public offgri
Issuance of common stock upon follow-on offering

Reclassification of preferred stock warrant liailnto
additional paid-in capital upon initial public offeg

Exercise of stock options

Vesting of early exercised stock options

Cashless exercise of common stock warrants
Issuance of restricted stock awards

Non-employee stock-based compensation expense
Employee stock-based compensation expense
Income tax benefits from employee stock plans
Repurchase of early exercised options

Net income

Change in unrealized gain on available-for-saleisgées
Balance at December 31, 2012

Exercise of stock options

RSUs released and tax settlement

Common stock issued under employee stock purcHase p

Vesting of early exercised stock options

Cash exercise of common stock warrants

Employee stock-based compensation expense
Income tax shortfall from employee stock plans
Repurchase of early exercised options

Net loss

Change in unrealized gain on available-for-saleisges
Balance at December 31, 2013

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements

Common stock » Accum. other
Additional comprehensive Accumulated

Total

paid-in stockholders’

Shares Amount capital income deficit equity (deficit)
2,777,09 $ 19 4,017 — $ (5438) % (50,369
1,005,36! — 1,22¢ — — 1,22¢
— — 217 — — 217

— — 457 — — 457

— — 1,001 — — 1,001

— — 54¢ — — 54¢
(1,970 — @) — — @)
— — — — (2,479 (2,479
3,780,49 $ 19 7,461 — $ (56,86) $ (49,399
12,937,75 4 53,35: — — 53,35¢
5,000,00! 2 70,53t — — 70,53t
1,337,501 — 35,97¢ — — 35,97¢
— — 3,141 — — 3,141
1,073,73. — 1,68¢ — — 1,68¢
— — 307 — — 307
78,48 — — — — —
24,15 — — — — —
— — 29 — — 29

= — 4,20z — — 4,20:

— — 40€ — — 40€
(2,755 — (10) — — (10)
— — — — 2,89¢ 2,89¢

— — 5 — 5
24,229,35 $ 7% 177,08: $ 5 % (53969 $ 123,12
420,49:. — 1,657 — — 1,657
71,82« — (709) — — (709)
215,03¢ — 2,99¢ — — 2,99¢
— — 12z — — 12z
34,14 — 22€ — — 22€
— — 8,661 — — 8,661

- — (64) - — (64)
(3,719 — (14 — — (14
— — — — (10,46%) (10,46%)

— — — 18 — 18
24,967,14 $ 7% 189,96t $ 22 $§ (6443) $ 125,56:
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Vocera Communications, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In Thousands)

Years ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Cash flows from operating activities
Net (loss) income $ (10,465 $ 289 % (2,479
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to mshrovided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 2,54z 2,61t 2,01C
Non-cash interest income (72) (28 —
Loss on disposal of property and equipment — 27 —
Bad debt expense (recovery) 16 — (20
Inventory write-down 13€ 224 562
Change in lease-related performance liabilities (207) ) —
Stock-based compensation expense 8,667 4,23: 1,45¢
Excess tax benefits from employee stock plans — (325) —
Change in fair value of warrant liability — 1,631 981
Change in fair value of option liability — — 45(
Changes in assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable (1,86)) (5,91¢) (6,670)
Other receivables (434) 417 (74)
Inventories (3,029 367 (1,109
Prepaid expenses and other assets 44¢€ (1,34¢) (269)
Accounts payable 69C (1,145 2,96¢
Accrued and other liabilities (1,887) 2,802 1,37¢
Deferred revenue 4,19¢ 5,84( 6,301
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (1,259 12,29¢ 5,512
Cash flows from investing activities
Payment for purchase of property and equipment (3,770 (2,56%) (2,397
Purchase of short-term investments (118,66)) (104,869 —
Maturities of short-term investments 65,71« 69,90: —
Changes in restricted cash — — (62
Net cash used in investing activities (56,71 (37,537 (2,459
Cash flows from financing activities
Cash from lease-related performance obligations 847 1,11« —
Proceeds from borrowings — — 4,50(
Principal payment of borrowings — (8,337 (1,577)
Proceeds from initial public offering, net of ofifey costs — 72,07( —
Proceeds from secondary public offering, net oéifig costs — 35,97t —
Payment for repurchase of common stock (29 (20 4)
Excess tax benefits from employee stock plans — 32t —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock from thd@mmee stock purchase plan 2,99: — —
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 1,75¢ 1,72C 1,811
Tax withholdings paid on behalf of employees far steare settlement (70%) — —
Proceeds from exercise of common stock warrants 22¢ — —
Proceeds from exercise of preferred stock warrants — — 2
Common stock issuance costs — — (1,539
Net cash provided by financing activities 5,107 102,86: 3,19¢
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equisalent (52,869 77,62: 6,25¢€
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 92,52: 14,89¢ 8,64z
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 39,65: $ 9252: $ 14,89¢
Supplemental cash flow information
Cash paid for interest $ — 8 91 314



Cash paid for income taxes 54 55€ —
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing anihfincing activities
Costs related to the initial public offering in acats payable and accrued liabilities — — 86

Property and equipment in accounts payable andieddiabilities 104 321 165
The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. The Company and Summary of Significant Accounting Blicies

Background

Vocera Communications, Inc. (“the Company”) is aqider of secure, integrated, intelligent commutirasolutions, focused on empowering
mobile workers in healthcare, hospitality, energyd other mission-critical mobile work environmeiitsthe U.S. and internationally. Today the
majority of the Company's business is from healtadaut the Company is expanding its sales and etiagkefforts to enter and grow in other
markets. Vocera helps its healthcare customersoveppatient safety and satisfaction, and increaseital efficiency and productivity through its
Communication and Care Experience solutions. Thase been installed in more than 1,200 healthaaatenan-healthcare organizations
worldwide.

The Vocera Communication System, which includemtelligent enterprise software platform, a lightgre, wearable, voice-controlled
communication badge, and smartphone applicatiorahles users to connect instantly with other siafply by saying the name, function or
group name of the desired recipient. It also sdgweivers text messages and alerts directly thfasm smartphones, replacing legacy pagers.

The Company was incorporated in Delaware on Febrléy2000. The Company formed wholly-owned sulbsids Vocera Communications UK
Ltd and Vocera Communications Australia Pty Ltd2005, Vocera Hand-Off, Inc., Vocera Canada, Lidl BxperiaHealth, Inc. in 2010 and
Vocera Communications India Private Ltd. in 2018August 2013, we merged Vocera Hand-Off Commuianat Inc. and ExperiaHealth, Inc.
into our parent company, Vocera Communications, Inc

Since its inception, the Company has incurred @it losses and, as of December 31, 2013 , hadeumulated deficit of $64.4 million . The
Company has funded its operations primarily witetomer payments for its products and services gaax from the issuance of common stoc
connection with its IPO and follown offering and, before the IPO, from the issuardenvertible preferred stock and from borrowingsler it:
term loan facility and the utilization of its lire# credit. As of December 31, 2013 , the Compart/dash, cash equivalents and short-term
investments of $127.7 million , primarily as a fesd its two public offerings in 2012 and subsequeet cash flows.

The Company believes that its existing sourcemafdity will satisfy its working capital and capltrequirements for at least the next twelve
months. Failure to generate sufficient revenueieaehplanned gross margins, or control operatirggscmay require the Company to raise
additional capital through equity or debt financiSgich additional financing may not be availableaoceptable terms, or at all, and could require
the Company to modify, delay or abandon some qflé#aned future expansion or expenditures or redoage of its ongoing operating costs,
which could harm its business, operating resuhgnicial condition and ability to achieve its intlel business objectives. If the Company raises
additional funds through

further issuances of equity, convertible debt séesror other securities convertible into equity,existing stockholders could suffer significant
dilution in their percentage ownership of the Compand any new securities it issues could havegsjgiteferences and privileges senior to those
of holders of its common stock.

Basis of presentatiol

The consolidated financial statements include tdo@ants of the Company and its wholly owned subsigls. All significant inter-company
transactions and balances have been eliminatezhsptidation. The accompanying notes are preparaddordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”).

The board of directors of the Company and its stolders approved a 1-for-6 reverse stock splihef@ompany’s common and preferred shares
that was effected on March 26, 2012. All share perdshare information included in the accompanygimgsolidated financial statements have
been adjusted to reflect this reverse stock split.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith GAAP requires the Company to make estimate$ assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosui@afingent assets and liabilities at the datdeffinancial statements and the reported amounts o
revenue and expense during the reporting peridus.e§timates include, but are not limited to, reearecognition, warranty reserves, inventory
reserves, stock-based compensation expense, prvifsir income taxes and contingencies. Actualltesould differ from these estimates, and
such differences could be material to the Compafirygcial position and results of operations.

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments

The Company’s cash equivalents and short-term imargts consist of money market funds, commercipépaJ.S. government agency notes,
U.S. Treasury notes, municipal debt and corporale.d hese investments are classified as
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available-for-sale securities and are carriediat/flue with the unrealized gains and losses teplais a component of stockholders’ equity.
Management determines the appropriate classifitatidts investments at the time of purchase arelveduates the available-for-sale designations
as of each balance sheet date. Investments withiginal purchase maturity of less than three meuatte classified as cash equivalents, all those
with longer maturities are classified as short-témaestments, which are available-for-sale.

Restricted casl

Restricted cash was $0.3 million at December 31320hd 2012 , respectively, the majority of whislsécurity for a corporate travel card facility
and credit card processing services. All restricigsh is classified as curr ent, under prepaido#ret current assets on the consolidated balance
sheet, based on the underlying terms of the arrareggs.

Allowance for doubtful account:

The allowance for doubtful accounts reflects thengany’s best estimate of probable losses inhenethiel Company’s receivables portfolio
determined on the basis of historical experiengeciéic allowances for known troubled accounts atieer currently available evidence. The
Company has not experienced significant creditde$som its accounts receivable. The Company pada regular review of its customers’
payment histories and associated credit risks @dsei$ not require collateral from its customers.

The following table presents the changes in threnalhce for doubtful accounts:

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2013 2012 2011
Allowance—beginning of period $ — 3 — 3 (10
Provisions for bad debts (29) — —
Provisions charged to other accounts — — —
Recoveries from bad debts 13 — 1C
Write-offs and other 10 — —
Allowance—end of period $ 6 $ — —
Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of standard @@sich approximates actual cost on a first-irgtfout basis) or market (net realizable value or
replacement cost). The Company assesses the waludtinventory and periodically writes down thdueafor estimated excess and obsolete
inventory based upon assumptions about future deraad market conditions.

Concentration of credit risk and other risks and gartainties

Financial instruments that subject the Companytaentration of credit risk consist primarily ofsba cash equivalents and short-term
investments. The Company’s cash and cash equigadeatprimarily deposited with high quality fina@dinstitutions and in money market funds.
Deposits at these institutions and funds maynatdi exceed federally insured limits. Managemel\es that these financial institutions and
funds are financially sound and, accordingly, thatimal credit risk exists. The Company has notegignced any losses on its deposits of cash
and cash equivalents. Marketable securities atedstd fair value, and accounted for as availabteséle within short-term investments. The
counterparties to the agreements relating to thap2oy’s investment securities consist of major cmafpions, financial institutions and
government agencies of high credit standing.

The primary hardware component of the Company’dlyiets is currently manufactured by a third-partgtcactor in Mexico. A significant
disruption in the operations of this contractor nrapact the production of the Company’s productsafeubstantial period of time, which could
harm the Company’s business, financial conditiosh sults of operations.

Concentration of credit risk with respect to tradeounts receivable is considered to be limitedtdube diversity of the Company’s customer
base and geographic sales areas. At December B3 22@ 2012 , no customer accounted for 10% or wfogecounts receivable. For the years
ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 , no cast@presented 10% or more of revenue.

Property and equipmer

Property and equipment are stated at cost and defwé on a straight-line basis over the estimasedul economic lives of the assets. Assets
generally have useful economic lives of three yeacept for leasehold improvements, which are arestt
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using the straight-line method over the shorteahefremaining lease term or the estimated usdéubfithe related assets. Purchased or developed
software also generally has a three year usefulaoa life, except for major ERP implementatiors, Which the Company assumes a five year
useful economic life. Upon retirement or sale,dbst and related accumulated depreciation and &ation are removed from the consolidated
balance sheet and the resulting gain or lossliscatefl in operations. Maintenance and repairs whiemot considered improvements and do not
extend the useful life of the assets are chargegpdoations as incurred.

The Company periodically reviews property and eogpt for impairment whenever events or changegéumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset is impaired or the estimatefililigees are no longer appropriate. Fair valuesimated based on discounted future cash fl

If indicators of impairment exist and the undisc@ahprojected cash flows associated with such @issetless than the carrying amount of the
asset, an impairment loss is recorded to writeatiset down to its estimated fair values. To dateCtompany has not recorded any impairment
charges.

Software development cost

For internal-use software, the Company capitaleaztain internal and external costs incurred imdguisition and creation. Capitalized internal-
use software is included in property and equipmdrgn development is complete and is amortized stragght-line basis over the estimated
useful life of the related asset , generally thregrs, except that five years is assumed for niERl? implementations. Per the authoritative
guidance, costs incurred either before or afteptiréod satisfying the capitalization criteria, étlger with costs incurred for training and
maintenance, are expensed as incurred. For the gaded December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , the&uontapitalized costs of $2.1 million
$1.1 million and $0.3 million , respectively.

Goodwill and intangible assets

The Company allocates the purchase price of anyisitiqns to tangible assets and liabilities arehiifiable intangible assets acquired. Any
residual purchase price is recorded as goodwik dlfocation of the purchase price requires manageto make significant estimates in
determining the fair values of assets acquiredliiabdities assumed, especially with respect tamgfible assets. These estimates are based on
information obtained from management of the acguo@mpanies and historical experience. These estintan include, but are not limited to,
cash flows that an asset is expected to generdte ifuture, and the cost savings expected to beedefrom acquiring an asset. These estimates
are inherently uncertain and unpredictable, aniiffiérent estimates were used the purchase pricthéoacquisition could be allocated to the
acquired assets and liabilities differently frore #ilocation that the Company has made. In additinanticipated events and circumstances may
occur which may affect the accuracy or validitysath estimates. If such events occur we may beéregbto record a charge against the value
ascribed to an acquired asset or an increase mntioeints recorded for assumed liabilities.

Goodwiill

Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reportingt level at least annually or more often if et changes in circumstances indicate the
carrying value may not be recoverable. As of Deaan3d, 2013, no changes in circumstances indibategoodwill carrying values may not be
recoverable. Application of the goodwill impairmeest requires judgment. Circumstances that cdtgdtethe valuation of goodwill include,
among other things, a significant change in the gamg's business climate and the buying habitseoCthmpany's customers along with changes
in the costs to provide the Company's productssaéndces. The Company has identified two operatggments (Product and Service) which
management also considers to be reporting unitsthed2013 goodwill impairment test, the Compangduhe qualitative assessment permitted
under recent accounting guidance, and concluded thas no goodwill impairment, without proceedindgsteps 1 and 2 of the quantitative
approach.

Intangible asset

Intangible assets are amortized over their estidnaseful lives. Upon completion of development,uaed in-process research and development
assets are generally considered amortizable, finiéel assets and are amortized over their estinaseful lives. Finite-lived intangible assets
consist of customer relationships, developed teldgyotrademarks and non-compete agreements. The&@uy evaluates intangible assets for
impairment by assessing the recoverability of theessets whenever adverse events or changes imsii@uces or business climate indicate that
expected undiscounted future cash flows relatedith intangible assets may not be sufficient tgsttghe net book value of such assets. An
impairment is recognized in the period of idenéfion to the extent the carrying amount of an asseteds the fair value of such asset. No
impairment of intangible assets was recorded irB2&1012 or 2011 .

Significant judgments required in assessing theaimpent of goodwill and intangible assets include identification of reporting units,
identifying whether events or changes in circumzarrequire an impairment assessment, estimatingefaash flows, determining appropriate
discount and revenue growth rates and other asgamspChanges in these estimates and
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assumptions could materially affect the determomatf fair value as to whether an impairment exastd, if so, the amount of that impairment.
Convertible preferred stock

Prior to the Company’s IPO, the Company had issureHoutstanding six series of convertible prefestedk. As of December, 31, 2011, the
proceeds recorded were $53.0 million with liquidatpreference of $53.6 million . Each share ofgamefd stock was convertible, at the option of
the holder, into common stock. Series A, SerieS&ies D, Series E and Series F had a converdiorofal:1. Series B preferred stock had a
conversion ratio of 1:1.8304. In connection with thompany’s IPO, in April 2012, each share of tbatstanding preferred stock automatically
converted into common stock at the ratio descréddsal/e. In the statement of shareholders' equitthfoyear ended December 31, 2012 , this was
recorded as non-cash conversion of $53.4 milliomfpreferred stock to common stock.

Deferred Costs of Revent

When the Company’s products have been deliveradhbuyproduct revenue associated with the arrangehss been deferred as a result of not
meeting the revenue recognition criteria, the Camydso defers the related inventory costs forditlevered items. As of December 31, 2013 and
2012 , respectively, the Company included $144#@@0D$4,000 of such deferred cost of revenue aopéPrepaid expenses and other current
assets” in the accompanying consolidated balaneetsh

Revenue recognitiol

The Company derives revenue from the sales of carwation badges, smartphones, perpetual softwegades for software that is essential to
the functionality of the communication badges,\wafe maintenance, extended product warranty arfégsional services. The Company also
derives revenue from the sale of licenses for sitwhat is not essential to the functionalityt®f tommunication badges. Sales tax is excluded
from reported total revenue.

Revenue is recognized when all of the below ceatare met:

» there is persuasive evidence that an arrangeexésis, in the form of a written contract, amendtaeo that contract, or purchase orders from
a third party;

» delivery has occurred or services have been redj
« the price is fixed or determinable after evaluatimg risk of concession; a
» collectability is reasonably assured based on cust@reditworthiness and past history of collec

A typical sales arrangement involves multiple eletagsuch as sales of communication badges, patpstfiware licenses, professional services
and maintenance services which entitle customeausdpecified upgrades, bug fixes, patch releasgsedephone support. Revenue from the sale
of communication badges and perpetual softwaradies is recognized upon shipment or delivery attiséomers’ premises as the contractual
provisions governing sales of these products donotde any provisions regarding acceptance, pedoce or general right of return or
cancellation or termination provisions adversefgeting revenue recognition. Revenue from the ghlaaintenance services on software licenses
is recognized over the period during which the ises/are provided, which is generally one year.eReae from professional services is recogn
either on a fixed fee basis based on milestones artime and materials basis as the servicesravidpd, both of which generally take place over
a period of two to twelve weeks.

The Company also derives revenue from the provisfdrosted services on a subscription basis artd/ad sold under term licenses. Revenue
from the sale of these products and services drgahd as part of multiple element arrangementssaicth arrangements are recognized ratably
over the term of the arrangement.

Revenue from sale-type leases

A portion of the Company's sales are made througlti-year lease agreements with customers. Whesethaangements are considered sales-
type leases, upon delivery of leased products stoaoers, the Company recognizes revenue for swtupts in an amount equal to the net pre
value of the minimum lease payments. Unearned ieagmecognized as part of product revenue uneeeffiective interest method. The
Company recognizes revenue related to executotg eden such executory costs are incurred.

Proceeds from transfers of sales-type leasesrbplairty financial companies are allocated betwbemet investment in sales-type leases and the
executory cost component for remaining servicegalions based on relative present value. The diffex between the amount of proceeds
allocated to the net investment in lease and thging value of the net investment in lease isudeld in product revenue. Proceeds allocated to
the executory cost component are accounted fanasding liabilities.
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For the year ended December 31, 2013, the Compansferred $2.2 million of lease receivablesprdimg an immaterial net gain and $0.8
million of new financing liabilities for future prmance of executory service obligations. Forytbar ended December 31, 2012 , the Company
transferred $3.8 million of lease receivables, rditg an immaterial net gain and $1.1 millionnefwv financing liabilities for future performance
of executory service obligations.

For lease receivables retained as of Decemberd3B, and 2012 , respectively, the Company recordted million and $0.5 million of net
investment in sales-type leases, equivalent tonine@num lease payments for the delivered product.

Commissions expense

Sales commissions are recorded as sales and nmgrlkespense and accrued current liability as ordexsecorded; thus no contract acquisition
costs are capitalized.

Shipping and handling cost

Shipping and handling costs charged to customermaluded in revenue and the associated expemsedsded in cost of products sold in the
statements of operations for all periods presented.

Research and development expenditu

Research and development costs are charged tdiopsras incurred. Software development costs reduprior to the establishment of
technological feasibility are included in reseaactl development and are expensed as incurred. taftlenological feasibility is established,
material software development costs up to genewmlability of the software will be capitalized aadhortized on a straight-line basis over the
estimated product life, or based on the ratio ofent revenues to total projected product revenubighever is greater. To date, the time between
the establishment of technological feasibility gietheral availability has been very short and tleeesfio significant costs have been incurred.
Accordingly, the Company has not capitalized arfiwsare development costs.

Advertising cost:

Advertising costs are included in sales and mangetxpense and are expensed as incurred. Advgrtiests for the years ended December 31,
2013, 2012 and 2011 were immaterial.

Product warranties

The Company offers warranties on certain produatsracords a liability for the estimated futuretsasssociated with warranty claims, which is
based upon historical experience and the Compasyimate of the level of future costs. The Companoyides for the estimated costs of
hardware warranties at the time the related revetecognized. Costs are estimated based oniktand projected product failure rates,
historical and projected repair costs, and knowdeafgspecific product failures (if any). The sp&cHardware warranty includes parts and labor
over a period generally ranging from one to threarg. The Company provides no warranty for softweine Company regularly re-evaluates its
estimates to assess the adequacy of the recordeshtydiabilities and adjust the amounts as neargs®Varranty costs are reflected in the
consolidated statement of operations as cost e§sal

Stock-based compensation

For options granted to employees, stock-based casaien is measured at grant date based on thealaie of the award and is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the requisite servicequerirhe Company determines the grant date fairrvefuhe options using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model. Restricted stock awards axdricted stock units, first awarded in 2012, resutompensation expense, straightlined over
the requisite service period, based on the awarldasing stock price. Equity instruments issweddnemployees are recorded at their fair ve
on the measurement date and are subject to peadflistment as the underlying equity instrumenss.vehe fair value of options granted to non-
employees is amortized over the vesting period straight-line basis.

For stock options issued to employees and non-greptowith specific performance criteria, the Conypawakes a determination at each balance
sheet date whether the performance criteria afeapte of being achieved. Compensation expenseagnized until such time as the performa
criteria are met or when it is probable that thteda will not be met.

The Company will only recognize a tax benefit fretack-based awards in additional paid-in capitahifincremental tax benefit is realized after
all other tax attributes currently available to @@mpany have been utilized. In addition, the Comydzas elected to account for the indirect
effects of stock-based awards on other tax atefgguch as the research tax credit, throughaitsreent of operations.
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In 2012, the Company began incorporating restristedk awards and RSUs as an element of our cormpenplans. In 2012, the Company
granted certain of its directors restricted stotkolr vests 50% on the first anniversary of the gramd 50% on the second anniversary of the
grant. In 2013, the Company began granting cedfits directors RSUs which vest 100% on the firshiversary of the grant. In 2012, the
Company began granting certain employees RSUs hwigist one third on the first anniversary of thengrone third on the second anniversary of
the grant and one third upon the third anniverséthe grant.

Income taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability methatodunting for income taxes. Under this methodQbmpany records deferred income taxes
based on temporary differences between the finareparting and tax bases of assets and liabil#res use enacted tax rates and laws that the

Company expects will be in effect when they recdfiese assets or settle those liabilities, asdlse may be, to measure those taxes. In cases

where the expiration date of tax carryforwardsher projected operating results indicate that ratim is not likely, the Company provides for a

valuation allowance. Valuation allowances are dstiadd when necessary to reduce deferred tax assiis amounts expected to be realized.

The Company has deferred tax assets, resulting fiefroperating losses, research and developmalitcesnd temporary differences that may
reduce taxable income in future periods. A valuatitowance is required when it is more likely thrent that all or a portion of a deferred tax a
will not be realized. In assessing the need foalaation allowance, the Company estimates futwale income, considering the feasibility of
ongoing tax-planning strategies and the realizgbilf tax loss carryforwards. Valuation allowancekted to deferred tax assets can be impacted
by changes in tax laws, changes in statutory teesrand future taxable income levels. If the Corgpaere to determine that it would be able to
realize its deferred tax assets in the future oeeg of the net carrying amounts, it would decré@seecorded valuation allowance through an
increase to income in the period in which that deteation is made. Due to the history of lossesGbenpany has generated in the past, the
Company believes that it is not more likely tham that all of the deferred tax assets in the Unl. @anada can be realized as of December 31,
2013 and 2012, respectively. Accordingly, the Conypaas recorded a full valuation allowance on é@fedred tax assets for these years.

At December 31, 2013 , the Company had a valualiowance against net deferred tax assets of $8illidn . The Company reviews on a
quarterly basis its conclusions about the apprapaaount of its deferred income tax asset valoalitmwance. In the ordinary course of business
there is inherent uncertainty in quantifying thex@@any’s income tax positions. The Company asséfssiegome tax positions and records tax
benefits for all years subject to examination baggah management’s evaluation of the facts, cirtantes and information available at the
reporting date. For those tax positions wherertdse likely than not that a tax benefit will bestined, the Company has recorded the highest
amount of tax benefit with a greater than 50% iik@bd of being realized upon ultimate settlemenhwitaxing authority that has full knowledge
of all relevant information. For those income tasitions where it is not more likely than not thatx benefit will be realizable, no tax benefis
been recognized in the financial statements.

The Company includes interest and penalties witbrime taxes in the accompanying statement of opesatiAll of the Company’s net operating
losses and research credit carryforwards prioftB2are subject to tax authority adjustment anglesdrs after 2009 are still subject to tax autly
examinations. The Company is currently not suld@einy income tax audit examinations by tax autleiin any jurisdictions including U.S.
federal, state and local or foreign countries.

Foreign currency translation

The functional currency of the Company’s foreigbsdiaries is the U.S. dollar. Accordingly, momgtassets and liabilities in non-functional
currency of these subsidiaries are remeasured egtitange rates in effect at the end of the peRedenues and costs in local currency are
remeasured using average exchange rates for tiogl pexcept for costs related to those consolidatddnce sheet items that are remeasured
historical exchange rates. The resulting remeasemegains and losses are included in the Compayisolidated statements of operations.
Translation gains and losses have not been signifio date.

Segment:

Operating segments are components of an entefprigéhich separate financial information is avaiéabnd is evaluated regularly by the
Company’s chief operating decision maker in degjdiow to allocate resources and in assessing peaftge. The Company’s chief operating
decision maker is the Chief Executive Officer. Tampany has two operating segments which are lepitrtable business segments: (i) Product;
and (ii) Service.

Comprehensive income (loss)
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Before 2012, there were no components of compréleireome which were excluded from net incomegJoEor the years ended December 31,
2013 and 2012 , the Company had small unrealizet ga available-for-sale securities. There werether components within other
comprehensive income for the years ended Decenih@033 or 2012 .

Related party transaction

During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2E2Gompany billed a related party, the Universit€hicago Medical Center (“UCMC"),
$0.5 million in each year for consulting services éechnology solutions. One of the Company's bozthbers, Sharon O’'Keefe, is the President
of UCMC. These transactions were recorded at aemgth prices. There were no material related geatysactions for UCMC in the year ended
2011 . During the year ended December 31, 201&timepany billed a related party, the Hewlett-Paclk@othpany, approximately $9,200 for
software and support, at arms’ length prices. Taginaduly of 2013, John N. McMullen, one of the Compsa directors, served as Treasurer &
Senior Vice President at Hewlett-Packard. Thereevmer material related party transactions for Hevieickard in the years ended December 31,
2012 and 2011 .

Recent accounting pronouncemer

In July 2013, the FASB issued new guidance forgtiuss versus net presentation of unrecognizedeagflts. The FASB concluded that an
unrecognized tax benefit should be presented eduction of a deferred tax asset for a net operadiss (“NOL”) or other tax credit carryforward
when settlement in this manner is available unidetax law. The new guidance is effective for tleenPany's first quarter of 2014, applied
prospectively. The Company has the option to afipyrule retrospectively and early adoption is pged. Adoption of this standard is not
expected to impact the financial position or resaftoperations of the Company.

2. Fair value of financial instruments

The carrying values of the Company’s cash and egsivalents and short-term investments approxintegie fair value due to their short-term
nature. As a basis for determining the fair valfi#soassets and liabilities, the Company estabtish three-tier fair value hierarchy which
prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair vadgdollows: (Level 1) observable inputs such asteg prices in active markets; (Level 2) inputs
other than the quoted prices in active marketsdt@bbservable either directly or indirectly; ghdvel 3) unobservable inputs in which there is
little or no market data which requires the Compenglevelop its own assumptions. This hierarchyireg the Company to use observable m:
data, when available, and to minimize the use obsarvable inputs when determining fair value.theryears ended December 31, 2013, 2012
and 2011 there have been no transfers between Lerel Level 2 fair value instruments and no trarssin or out of Level 3.

The Company's money market funds are classifiekinvitevel 1 of the fair value hierarchy becausey thee valued using quoted market prices.
The fair value of the Company's Level 2 fixed ineosecurities are obtained from independent prisargices, which may use quoted market
prices for identical or comparable instruments odei-driven valuations using observable market datather inputs corroborated by observable
market data.

The table below summarizes the Compargssets that are measured at fair value on airggbasis, by level, within the fair value hierlayas o
December 31, 2013 and 2012 , respectively. There ne liabilities measured at fair value on a rengrbasis for these dates.

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

(in thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Total Levell LevelzZ Total
Assets
Money market funds $ 22,99 % — 3 22,99: $ 4504 $ — $  45,04(
Commercial paper — 90C 90C — 32,48’ 32,48
U.S. government and agency securities — 11,27¢ 11,27¢ — 10,00: 10,00:
U.S. Treasury securities — 5,23t 5,23t — — —
Municipal debt securities — 4,76 4,768 — — —
Corporate debt securities — 67,05¢ 67,05t — — —

Total assets measured at fair value $ 22990 % 8923 $ 112,22! $ 45040 $ 42,48t $ 87,52¢

The financial accounts that are not subject tomraayifair value measurement include trade andratbheeivables, prepaid expenses and other
current assets, total current liabilities and defgérevenues, both current and long-term. Duedi ghort
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maturities, the carrying amounts of these accoappsoximate their fair values.

3. Cash, Cash Equivalents and ShorfFerm Investments

The following tables display gross unrealized gaind gross unrealized losses for cash, cash egoigednd available-for-sale investments for the
periods presented:

As of December 31, 2013

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
(in thousands) Cost Gains Losses value
Cash and cash equivalents:
Demand deposits and other cash $ 1545, % — % — % 15,45:
Money market funds 22,99 — — 22,99:
Commercial paper 15C — — 15C
Corporate debt securities 1,06( — — 1,06(
Total cash and cash equivalents 39,65: — — 39,65:
Short-Term Investments:
Commercial paper 75C — — 75C
U.S. government agency securities 11,27¢ 5 (D) 11,27¢
U.S. Treasury securities 5,23¢ 2 — 5,23¢
Municipal debt securities 4,75¢ 7 — 4,76t
Corporate debt securities 65,98: 2C @) 65,99t
Total short-term investments 87,99¢ 34 (8 88,02
Total cash, cash equivalents and short-term
investments $ 127,65( $ 34 3 8 $ 127,67t
As of December 31, 2012
(in thousands) Amortized Cost Unrealized Gains  Unrealized Losses Fair value
Cash and cash equivalents:
Demand deposits and other cash $ 39,98: $ — % —  $ 39,98:
Money market funds 45,04( — — 45,04(
Commercial paper 7,49¢ 1 — 7,49¢
Total cash and cash equivalents 92,52( 1 — 92,52:
Short-Term Investments:
Commercial paper 24,98’ 1 — 24,98t¢
U.S. government agency securities 9,99¢ 3 — 10,00:
Total short-term investments 34,98t 4 — 34,98¢
Total cash, cash equivalents and short-term inverstsn $ 127,50t $ 5 % — § 127,51

The Company has determined that the unrealizeddams its short-term investments as of Decembe2(@®l3 do not constitute an "other than
temporary impairment”. There were no unrealized fussitions as of December 31, 2012. The unrealasss for the short-term investments as
of December 31, 2013 have all been in a continuousalized loss position for less than twelve menithe Company’s conclusion of no “other
than temporary impairment” is based on the higkiciguality of the securities, their short remamimaturity (less than five months, weighted
average) and the Company'’s intent and ability fd Bach loss securities until maturity.
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Classification of the cash, cash equivalent andtdkan investments by contractual maturity wasodlsws:

One year ol Between :

(in thousands) shorter and 2 year: Total
Balances as of December 31, 2013

Cash and cash equivalents (1) $ 39,65: $ — 3 39,65:
Short-term investments 71,46¢ 16,56( 88,02/
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments 111,11¢ 16,56( 127,67t
Balances as of December 31, 2012

Cash and cash equivalents (1) $ 92,52: $ — 3 92,52:
Short-term investments 34,98¢ — 34,98¢
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments $  12751C $ — $ 127,51

(1) Includes demand deposits and other cash, mmaelet funds and other cash equivalent securdiesjith 0-90 day maturity at purchase.

All the above tables exclude restricted cash, pilgnheld in certificates of deposit, of $0.3 milii as of December 31, 2013 and December 31,
2012 which is classified in prepaids and otherentrassets on the consolidated balance sheet.

4. Income (loss) per shar

For fiscal years preceding 2013, basic and dilaetdncome (loss) per common share is presentedriformity with the two-class method
required for participating securities. Immediatphjor to the completion of the Company’s IPO onihpr 2012, holders of Series A through
Series F preferred stock were each entitled tavec®n-cumulative dividends at the annual rat8%f per share per annum, respectively, pay
prior and in preference to any dividends on anyeshaf the Company’s common stock. In the eventidehd is paid on common stock, the
holders of preferred stock were entitled to a propoate share of any such dividend as if they virlders of common stock (on an as-if
converted basis). The holders of the preferreckadit not have a contractual obligation to sharthalosses of the Company. The Company
considered its preferred stock to be participasiagurities. Additionally, the Company considersrelassued upon the early exercise of options
subject to repurchase and unvested restrictedsstmbee participating securities as the holdetbese shares have a nonforfeitable right to
dividends. In accordance with the twtass method, earnings allocated to these partiegpaecurities and the related number of outstandhare
of the participating securities, which include cantual participation rights in undistributed eags, have been excluded from the computation of
basic and diluted net income (loss) per commoneshar

Under the two-class method, net income (loss)oattigible to common stockholders is determined mcating undistributed earnings, calculated
as net income less income attributable to partirigasecurities between common stock and particigatecurities. In computing diluted net
income (loss) attributable to common stockholderscélculation of diluted net income (loss) perrshandistributed earnings are re-allocated to
reflect the potential impact of dilutive securiti@asic net income (loss) per common share is cosapy dividing the net income (loss)
attributable to common stockholders by the weigtateelage number of common shares outstanding dtirengeriod. All participating securities
are excluded from basic weighted-average commorestautstanding. Diluted net income per sharebatizble to common stockholders is
computed by dividing the net income attributableaeaxmon stockholders for calculation of diluted imebme (loss) per share by the weighted-
average number of common shares outstanding, iimgjymbtential dilutive common shares assuming thaige effect of outstanding stock
options using the treasury stock method.

For fiscal year 2013, the two-class method is pplieable due to the net loss, which must be aiteih entirely to the common shareholders.
Additionally, as of December 31, 2013 , there arly @6,463 of participating securities, consistafgepurchasable shares issued from early
exercise of options and unvested restricted shaoethat the future effect of participating secesitvould generally be immaterial, even in years
with net income.

62




Table of Contents

The following table presents the calculation ofibasid diluted net income (loss) per share:

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands, except for share and per share amots) 2013 2012 2011
Numerator:
Net (loss) income $ (10,46 $ 2,89: % (2,479
Less: undistributed earnings attributable to pgditing securities — (1,366 —
Net (loss) income attributable to common stockhaide $ (10,46% $ 1,527 $ (2,479
Reallocation of undistributed earnings attributablgarticipating securities — 32 —
Net (loss) income attributable to common stockhadder diluted net (loss) income [
share $ (10,465 $ 155¢ $ (2,479

Denominator:

Weighted-average shares used to compute basinawhe (loss) per common share 24,62 17,97¢ 3,37(
Effect of potentially dilutive securities:
Employee stock options and restricted stock units — 2,547 —
Stock warrants — 82 —
Weighted average shares used to compute dilutetniecloss) per common share 24,62: 20,60¢ 3,37(
Net (loss) income per share
Net (loss) income per common share - basic dnted $(0.43) $0.08 $(0.74)

For the years ended 2013, 2012 and 2011, the fwitpsecurities were not included in the calculatbuliluted shares outstanding as the effect
would have been anti-dilutive:

As of December 31,

(in thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Convertible preferred stock (on an as if convebiasis) — — 12,91¢
Options to purchase common stock 3,33t 367 3,80¢
Common stock subject to repurchase 25 — 16¢
Warrants to purchase convertible preferred stock — — 218
Warrants to purchase common stock 44 — —
Restricted stock units 622 25 —
Restricted stock awards 12 — —

5. Goodwill and intangible asset

Goodwiill

The Company had $5.6 million of goodwill for eadttee years as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 . Withesl tested for impairment at the
reporting unit level at least annually or more pfteevents or changes in circumstances indicae#irying value may not be recoverable. The
Company has two reporting units: Product and Sepds of December 31, 2013 all of the Company'sigdbresides in the Product reporting
unit. The Company performed the annual requiretdofeisnpairment of goodwill as of September 30, 20For both 2013 and 2012, the Comp
used the qualitative assessment permitted undeostative accounting guidance. Among the qualrafactors considered were changes sinc
prior impairment in the following: industry and cpstitive environment, business strategy, produat imiyer and supplier bargaining power,
potential market size, consistency in operatinggimarand cash flows, change in reporting unit Hpa life cycle stage and earnings quality and
sustainability. The Company’s annual impairment dés not indicate impairment at any of its repogtunits. No impairment was recorded in
2013, 2012 or 2011 . As of December 31, 2013chamges in circumstances indicate that goodwillyoag values may not be recoverable.
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Triggering event for impairment analysis

During the three months ended June 30, 2013, thep@ny experienced a 37% one-day decrease in shieedglowing an earnings
announcement on May 2, 2013 of belguidance results for the first quarter of 2013 egdliced forward guidance for fiscal year 2013, Whis
considered a triggering event for further inquioy both goodwill and the acquired intangibles. Ae[SZero" impairment assessment for goodwill
and intangible assets was performed as part o&ttalysis, with the conclusion of no impairmengobdwill or intangibles. As of the September
30, 2013 annual assessment date, there were ngeshencircumstances indicating that the carryialges of goodwill or acquired intangibles
may not be recoverable.

Intangible asset:

The fair values for acquired intangible assets wietermined by management relying in part on vaduatperformed by independent valuation
specialists. Acquisition-related intangible assetsamortized over the life of the assets on aaleted basis that approximates the expected
economic benefit of the assets. This assumptiaritseis amortization that is higher in earlier pei$ of the useful life. To date there has been no
impairment of the Company's intangible assets.é&&tignated useful lives and carrying value of aagliintangible assets are as follows:

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
Weighted average Gross Net Gross Net
useful life carrying Accumulated carrying carrying Accumulated carrying
(in thousands) (years) amount amortization amount amount amortization amount
Intangible assets:

Customer relationships 9 $ 2350 % 1,44¢ % 901 $ 235 % 1,117 $ 1,23¢
Developed technology 6 $ 188 $ 1,26¢ $ 61€ $ 188C $ 89€ $ 984
Trademarks 7 $ 70 3% 43 % 27 % 70 3% 3 % 40
Non-compete Agreements 2 70 70 = 70 60 10
Total intangible assets, net $ 437 % 2,82¢ $ 154 $  437C $ 2,100 $ 2,267

Amortization of intangible assets was $0.7 millid0.9 million and $1.0 million for the years endgecember 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011,
respectively.

Amortization of acquired intangible assets is refe in the cost of revenues for developed tectyyodmd in operating expenses for the other
intangibles. The estimated future amortizationazfiared intangible assets as of December 31, 2@k3as follows:

Future
(in thousands) amortization
2014 567
2015 38¢
2016 25¢
2017 15€
2018 10€
Thereafter 68
Future amortization expense $ 1,54¢
6. Consolidated balance sheet componel
Inventories
December 31,
(in thousands) 2013 2012
Raw materials $ 80€ $ 23
Finished goods 4,85¢ 2,74¢
Total inventories $ 566 $ 2,77z
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Property and equipment, ne

December 31,

(in thousands) 2013 2012
Computer equipment and software $ 7,348 % 4,127
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 924 88¢
Leasehold improvements 2,12¢ 1,65¢
Manufacturing tools and equipment 3,081 2,71(
Construction in process 55k 1,10¢
Property and equipment, at cost 14,03( 10,47
Less: Accumulated depreciation (8,665 (6,846
Property and equipment, net $ 536 3,631

Depreciation and amortization expense for propany equipment for the years ended December 31, 2248 and 2011 was $1.8 million , $1.7
million , and $1.0 million , respectively.

Net investment in sale-type leases

The Company has sales-type leases with terms bftt.2 years. Sales-type lease receivables amteallized by the underlying equipment. The
components of our net investment in sales-typeekeage as follows:

December 31,

(in thousands) 2013 2012

Net minimum lease payments to be received $ 2597 $ 1,06:
Less: Unearned interest income and executory revpartion (1,167 (527)
Net investment in sales-type leases 1,43( 53¢
Less: Current portion (620 (243%)
Non-current net investment in sales-type leases $ 81C $ 29¢

There were no allowances for doubtful accountshese leases as of December 31, 2013 and 2012e iBhaw guaranteed or unguaranteed
residual value on the leased equipment. The cuamhhon-current net investments in sales-typesfeaf $0.6 million and $0.8 million as of
December 31, 2013 are reported as components obtisolidated balance sheet captions "other relgligaand "other long-tern assets”,
respectively.

The minimum lease payments expected for futuresyeader sales-type leases as of December 31, 2éxE3as follows:

(in thousands) Future lease payments
2014 $ 92¢
2015 80¢€
2016 63<
2017 22¢
Total $ 2,597
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Accrued payroll and other current liabilitie

December 31,

(in thousands) 2013 2012
Payroll and related expenses $ 5,06t $ 7,84¢
Accrued payables 2,25¢ 1,97¢
Deferred rent, current portion 49C 591
Lease financing, current portion 52¢ 21z
Product warranty 84C 297
Sales and use tax payable 25¢ 397
Other 40C 434
Total accrued payroll and other currertiliies $ 9,841 % 11,75

The Company provides for the estimated costs afvisare warranties at the time the related reventecizgnized. Costs are estimated based on
historical and projected product failure ratestdrisal and projected repair costs, and knowledggpecific product failures (if any). The specific
hardware warranty includes parts and labor ovesri@ generally ranging from one to three yearge Tbhmpany provides no warranty for
software. The Company regularly re-evaluates tisnates to assess the adequacy of the recordedntyliabilities and adjust the amounts as
necessary.

A reconciliation of the changes in the Company’sreaty reserve for 2013 , 2012 and 2011 is asvdlo

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Warranty balance at the beginning of the period $ 297 $ 98: % 60¢
Warranty expense accrued for shipments in period 1,18¢ 54C 1,56:
Changes in liability related to pre-existing waties 53¢ (242) 5C
Warranty settlements made (1,179 (984) (1,239
Warranty balance at the end of the period $ 84C $ 297§ 98¢

7. Commitments and contingencie

Non-cancelable purchase commitments

The Company enters into non-cancelable purchasendoments with its third-party manufacturer wherebg Company is required to purchase
any inventory held by the third-party manufactutext have been purchased by them based on confordeds from the Company. As of
December 31, 2013 and 2012 , approximately $3.lomidnd $4.1 million , respectively, of raw magtinventory was purchased and held by the
third-party manufacturer which was subject to spgfthase requirements.

Leases

The Company leases office space for its headqsaatet subsidiaries under non cancelable operaasges, which will expire between April 2014
and April 2017. The San Jose, California headquatéase ends March 31, 2016, with a single these-gxtension option at rates approximating
then-fair market value. Total rent expense forybars ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 2v@$rilion , $1.9 million and $1.7 million
respectively. The Company recognizes rent expensestraight-line basis over the lease period,hasdaccrued for rent expense incurred but not
paid.

66




Table of Contents

Future minimum lease payments at December 31, 26d8r non-cancelable operating leases are as fallow

Operating
(in thousands) leases
2014 1,54(
2015 1,47¢
2016 434
2017 28
Total minimum lease payments $ 3,47

Indemnifications

The Company undertakes, in the ordinary courseusiiess, to (i) defend customers and other pdrtes certain third-party claims associated
with allegations of trade secret misappropriatiofringement of copyright, patent or other intetlesd property right, or tortious damage to per:
or property and (ii) indemnify and hold harmlesstsparties from certain resulting damages, cosisoéimer liabilities. The term of these
undertakings may be perpetual and the maximum patédiability of the Company under certain of tkesndertakings is not determinable. Based
on its historical experience, the Company beligkediability associated with these undertakingsiisimal.

The Company has entered into indemnification agesdsnwith its directors and officers that may regtihe Company to indemnify its directors
and officers against liabilities that may ariserbgison of their status or service as directordfaeons, other than liabilities arising from willfu
misconduct of the individual. The Company curremidys directors and officers insurance. As thereokas no significant history of losses, no
expense accrual has been made.

Securities Litigation

On August 1, 2013, a purported securities classraentitied Michael Brado v. Vocera Communicatiéms., et al. was filed in the United States
District Court for the Northern District of Califoia, against the Company and certain of its officés board of directors, a former director are
underwriters for the Company's initial public offeg. A second purported securities class actiotitl@h Duncan v. Vocera Communications Inc.,
et al., was filed on August 21, 2013, also in tletNern District of California, against the sametipa. On September 27, 2013, the Court ordered
the matters related. The suits purport to allegend under Sections 11, 12(a)(2) and 15 of the rf@msuAct of 1933 and Section 10(b) and 20(a)
of the Exchange Act of 1934 for allegedly mislegdstatements in the registration statement foCtvapany's initial public offering and in
subsequent communications regarding its busines&irmamcial results. The suits are purportedly lgitwon behalf of purchasers of the Compa
securities between March 28, 2012 and May 3, 28i48,seek compensatory damages, rescission, feeostisgd as well as equitable and injunc

or other relief. The plaintiffs’ motion for consdétion of the actions and for appointment of lekihtiff has been granted, and the Company
anticipates that the plaintiffs will file an amendeonsolidated complaint. No response to the cumemplaints is due at this time.

Due to the inherent uncertainties of litigatiore thompany cannot accurately predict the ultimatearne of this matter. The Company is unable
at this time to determine whether the outcome eflittgation would have a material impact on itsukts of operations, financial condition or cash
flow. The Company has not established any resenvarfy potential liability relating to this lawsuitecause this contingency is not considered
probable and reasonably estimable.

From time to time, we may be involved in other laiis claims, investigations and proceedings, atimgj of intellectual property, commercial,
employment and other matters which arise in théarg course of business.

8. Common Stock and Sharehased Compensatio

The Company'’s certificate of incorporation, as adeeh authorizes the Company to issue 100 milli@reshof $0.0003 par value common stock.

At December 31, 2013 , the Company has reservedsfar issuance of common stock as follows:

Common Shares

Reserved under stock option plans 328,51¢
Exercise of warrants to purchase common stock 44,49
Total reserved for issuance 373,01(
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Incentive stock option plan

The Company has three equity incentive plans: @8 Ztock Option Plan (the “2000 Plan”), the 200&cs Option Plan (the “2006 Plan”) and

the 2012 Stock Option Plan (the “2012 Plan”). Orréha26, 2012, all shares that were reserved uh@e2@06 Plan but not subject to outstanding
awards became available for grant under the 2042 Rlo additional shares will be issued under 8@6ZPlan. The 2000 Plan terminated in
March 2010 and no additional shares will be isausdkr this plan. All options currently outstandingder the 2000 Plan and the 2006 Plan
continue to be governed by the terms and conditidtisose plans. Under the 2012 Plan, the Compasytie ability to issue incentive stock
options (“1SOs”), stock appreciation rights, regid stock, restricted stock units (“RSUs”), perfance awards and stock bonuses. The ISOs will
be granted at a price per share not less tharathedlue at date of grant. Options granted to haes generally vest over a 4 -year period with
25% vesting at the end of one year and the ren@irest monthly thereafter, options granted as nagrdrds generally vest monthly over a four-
year period. Options granted generally are exdstdsap to 10 years . As of December 31, 2013 gthere 328,518hares remaining available
future issuance under the 2012 Plan.

Early exercise of stock optior

The Company typically allows employees to exeroptons granted under the 2000 and 2006 Plans forieesting. The unvested shares are
subject to the Company'’s repurchase right at tiggnad purchase price. The proceeds initially aeorded as an accrued liability from the early
exercise of stock options and reclassified to comstock as the Company’s repurchase right lapseBedember 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011 ,
there were unvested shares in the amount of 14,8860 and 112,967 , respectively, which wergesilbo repurchase at an aggregate price of
$0.1 million , $0.2 million and $0.4 million , resgtively.

Stock Option Activity

The following table summarizes the combined stqafiom activity under the 2000 Plan, the 2006 Plad the 2012 Plan and non-plan stock
option agreements:

Options outstanding

Weighted Weighted
average average Aggregate
Number exercise remaining intrinsic
of options price contractual term value
(in years) (in thousands)

Outstanding at December 31, 2012 3,187,55' $ 7.51 6.81 $ 56,36
Options granted 675,46( 16.8¢
Options exercised (420,49) 3.94
Options canceled (142,109 12.17
Options expired (13,22) 22.47
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 3,287,20. % 9.62 6.45 $ 24,88(
Options vested and expected to vest as of
December 31, 2013 3,23893 $ 9.51 6.41 $ 24,82«
Options vested and exercisable as of December
31, 2013 1,996,06. $ 5.82 5.05 $ 21,16¢

At December 31, 2013 , there was $8.2 million afeangnized net compensation cost related to optidich is expected to be recognized over a
weighted-average period of 2.5 years The Compathyali grant non-employee options in either of tharg ended December 31, 2013 or 2012.

Using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, theighted-average grant-date fair value of optiositgrd to employees during the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $7.34 pez,s$ED.19 per share, and $3.30 per share, regpigctrurther information regarding the
value of employee options vested and exerciseaglthie years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 aridi2@#t forth below.

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2013 2012 2011
Grant-date fair value of options vested duringquri $ 3,05: % 2,25¢ % 881
Intrinsic value of options exercised during period 5,89¢ 24,84¢ 2,56t
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The Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricingehto calculate the fair value of stock optionstiweir grant date. This model requires the
following major inputs: the estimated fair valuetioé underlying common stock, the expected terth@bption, the expected volatility of the
underlying common stock over the expected lifehefdption, the risk-free interest rate and expediteidend yield. The following assumptions
were used for each respective period for emploieksased compensation:

Years ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Expected Term (in years) 5.38 - 5.43 5.23 - 5.60 5.49 - 5.73
Volatility 46.7% - 48.1% 47.9% - 48.7% 44.7% - 47.6%
Risk-free interest rate 0.81% - 1.80% 0.72% - 1.03% 0.98% - 2.48%
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

The computation of expected term is based on tterfigal exercise and forfeiture behavior of therpany’s employees, giving consideration to
the contractual terms of the stock-based awardsingeschedules and expectations of future emplbgbavior. For the expected term so
determined, the risk-free rate is the U.S. TreaRate for that term on the grant date. The Compaxypected common stock price volatility is
based on the historical volatility of a peer grafigublicly-traded companies, using the same exkterm. The peer group was selected based o
industry and market capitalization data. The Corggssumes the dividend yield to be zero , as tepg2ay has never declared or paid dividends
and does not expect to do so in the foreseeahlesfut

Employee Stock Purchase Pl:

In March 2012, the Company's board of directorsstndkholders approved the 2012 Employee StockagecPlan (the “ESPP”). The ESPP
allows eligible employees to purchase shares o€trapany's common stock at a discount through flajeductions of up to 15% of their
eligible compensation, subject to any plan lim@ati. The ESPP provides for six -month offering qsj except for the first offering period which
was for 11 months. Additionally, in April 2013, t@®mpany's compensation committee determined diiatving the February 15, 2013 six-
month offering period, the next offering period enthe ESPP would last for three months (commenaimgust 15, 2013 and expiring on
November 14, 2013) and, following the expiratiorso€h offering period, offering periods thereaftéf commence on November 15, 2013, ¢
May 15, 2014 and so on, each consisting of a ssigtenonth purchase period.

At the end of each offering period, employees aie # purchase shares at 85% of the lower ofdhierfarket value of the Company's common
stock on the first trading day of the offering pekior on the last day of the offering period. Dgrthe year ended December 31, 2013 , employees
purchased 215,039 shares of common stock at aagavpurchase price of $13.92 . No shares were gsedhunder the plan in 2012. As of
December 31, 2013, 193,920 shares remained aleaftaifuture issuance under the ESPP.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricingehto calculate the fair value of periodic ESPierings on their offer date. The following
assumptions were used for each respective periadiddESPP:

Years ended December 31,

2013 2012
Expected Term (in years) 0.25-0.50 0.50 - 0.88
Volatility 33.3% - 36.0% 43.2% - 50.0%
Risk-free interest rate 0.05% - 0.13% 0.14% - 0.18%
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0%

Restricted Stock Awards and Restricted Stock U

In 2012, the Company began incorporating restristedk awards and RSUs as an element of its corapenglans. In February 2012, the
Company granted certain of its directors restristie¢k awards that vest 50% on the first annivgrefthe grant, and 50% on the second
anniversary of the grant. In May 2012, the Compgmanted certain employees RSUs, which vest oné dmirthe first anniversary of the grant,
third on the second anniversary of the grant aredtbind upon the third anniversary of the grant.
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A summary of the restricted stock activity for fremar ended December 31, 2013 is presented below:

Restricted Stock Awards Restricted Stock Units

Weighted Average Weighted Average

Grant Date Fair Grant Date Fair

Number of shares Value per Share Number of shares Value per Share

Outstanding at December 31, 2012 24,15 $ 12.42 373,90¢ $ 25.3¢
Granted — — 558,68t 16.91
Vested (22,07¢ 12.4% (117,249 25.1¢
Forfeited — — (60,079 23.6:
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 12,07¢ ¢ 12.4; 755,27 § 19.2¢

At December 31, 2013 , there was $16,000 of unmézed net compensation cost related to restridtmzksawards which is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of Oatsye\t December 31, 2013 , there was $10.8 mithbanrecognized net compensation cost
related to RSUs, which is expected to be recogrozed a weighted-average period of 2.1 years.

Non-Employee Stock-Based Compensation

While the Company granted no options to non-emm@eyiring the years ended December 31, 2013 aril,28& Company granted 67,916
options to non-employees during the year ended bee31, 2011 . All options granted to non-emplayeering 2011 were fully vested on the
date of grant. Stock-based compensation experateddb stock options granted to non-employeescisgnized as the stock option vests, or if
fully vested, on the date of grant.

For stock options issued to non-employees withifipgerformance criteria, the Company makes ard@teation at each balance sheet date
whether the performance criteria are probable ofgoachieved. Compensation expense is recognizee ditme it is determined that it is probable
the performance criteria will be met. For the Nobem2010 ExperiaHealth acquisition, the entire $0illion consideration to the seller was in
form of revenue milestone performance options, Witf666 options for 2010 revenue performance anthan41,666 options for 2011. Of the
first tranche, 35,452 options ultimately vested] #re 2011 performance options for 41,666 sharstedesntirely in March 2012. Under
accounting guidance for acquisitions, such contibgensideration is recorded initially as a lililiand adjusted to fair value at each reporting
date through net income, until vested. The 201@myimodel assumptions below refer not to new nopleyee grants in 2012, but to revaluation
of the 2011 performance options. During the finsamger of 2012, the fair value of these increasechf$419,000 to $448,000 , resulting in 2012
stock-based compensation expense of $29,000 .rithelg liability was then reclassified back to Baeber 31, 2011 as equity.

The fair value of the stock options granted to epamployees was calculated using the Black-Scholgsrepricing model with the following
assumptions:

As of December 31,

2012 2011
Expected Term (in years) 8.67 8.83-10.0
Volatility 46.7% 45.0% - 54.0%
Risk-free interest rate 1.77% 1.63% - 3.41%
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0%

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 atid,28e Company recognized expenses of approXynegeo , $29,000 and $907,000 ,
respectively, related to these options.
Allocation of Stocl-Based Compensation Expense

Stock-based compensation expense is recognized basestraight-line amortization method over #sgpective vesting period of the award and
has been reduced for estimated forfeitures. Thepg2omestimated the expected forfeiture rate basets diistorical experience, considering
voluntary termination behaviors, trends of actwehal forfeitures, and other events that will impidet forfeiture rate. To the extent the
Company’s actual forfeiture rate is different fréime estimate, the stock-based compensation exjmeadgisted accordingly.

The following table presents the stock-based comsgitgon allocation of expense (both for employeasram-employees):
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Years ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Cost of revenue $ 967 $ 421 % 30
Research and development 861 44¢ 121
Sales and marketing 2,942 1,26 28E
General and administrative 3,897 2,10C 1,02z
Total stock-based compensation $ 8,660 $ 423: $ 1,45¢

Exercise of common stock warran

Prior to the April 2012 IPO, outstanding warramtgtirchase preferred stock were classified aditiasi which were adjusted to fair value at each
reporting period until the earlier of their exeeci expiration or the completion of a liquidatievent, including the completion of an initial publi
offering, at which time the preferred stock warrketility automatically converted into a warrantgurchase shares of common stock and was
reclassified to stockholders’ equity (deficit). TBempany recorded an expense in other income (egpemnet of zero , $1.6 million and $1.0
million for the years ended December 31, 2013 2281d 2011 , respectively, to reflect the changaerfair value of the outstanding preferred
stock warrants. Since April 2012, the converted rmmm stock warrants are classified within stockhiddequity (deficit) because they are
considered to be "indexed to the entity's own stock

The holders of all the common stock warrants dbedrabove may undertake a cashless conversioe @fatrant, in whole or in part, in lieu of
exercising the warrant. The number of shares tisdued in such a conversion shall be determinediigling (a) the aggregate fair market value
of the shares issuable upon the exercise of theamiaminus the aggregate warrant price of sucheshay (b) the fair market value of one share at
the time of conversion.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, holdezeramon stock warrants exercised 34,142 sharesafsit proceeds of $0.2 million . There
were no cash exercises in the prior twelve-montfodeDuring the year ended December 31, 2012ddrelof common stock warrants net
exercised warrants for the purchase of 108,15%shard received 78,487 shares. There were no asbless exercises in the current twelve
month period.

At December 31, 2013 warrants to purchase 44,48festof common stock, each with exercise priceéd 3, were outstanding and expire in
October 2015.

9. Segment

The Company has two operating segments which akerbportable segments: (i) Product; and (ii) Ssrvivhich are comprised of the Company’
and its wholly-owned subsidiaries’ results from i@tiens. Operating segments are defined as comfooéan enterprise about which separate
financial information is available that is evaluategularly by the chief operating decision make®DM), or decision making group, in deciding
how to allocate resources and in assessing perfmend he Company’s CODM is its Chief Executive G#fi

The CODM regularly receives information relateddeenue, cost of revenue, and gross profit for epenating segment, and uses this
information to assess performance and make resallozmtion decisions. All other financial inforraat, including operating expenses and as:
is prepared and reviewed by the CODM on a condalitbasis.

Assets are not a measure used to assess the partrof the Company by the CODM, therefore the Gomgloes not report assets by segment
internally or in its financial statements.
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The following table presents a summary of the dpegasegments:

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2013 2012 2011
Revenue
Product $ 62,39: $ 65,02¢ $ 50,32:
Service 40,10¢ 35,92¢ 29,18:
Total revenue 102,49¢ 100,95 79,50:

Cost of revenue

Product 21,71 21,55 17,46
Service 16,59¢ 15,07¢( 14,04
Total cost of revenue 38,30¢ 36,62 31,50°

Gross profit

Product 40,67¢ 43,47 32,85)
Service 23,51( 20,85¢ 15,13¢
Total gross profit 64,18¢ 64,33¢ 47,99¢
Operating expenses 74,74¢ 59,44( 48,80:
Interest income (expense), net and other 204 (1,376 (1,389
(Loss) income before income taxes $ (10,35 $ 352C ¢ (2,199

The following tables present the Company’s revdmuproduct line, as well as revenue and long-liassets by geographic region.

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2013 2012 2011
Revenue
Product
Device $ 46,63¢ $ 47,728 3 37,08t
Software 15,757 17,30: 13,23«
Total product 62,39 65,02¢ 50,32:
Service
Maintenance and support 31,55¢ 26,231 21,43¢
Professional services and training 8,54¢ 9,69: 7,742
Total service 40,10¢ 35,92¢ 29,18
Total revenue $ 102,49¢ $ 100,95 $ 79,50

The Company’s revenue by geographic region, basaaistomer location, is summarized as follows:

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2013 2012 2011
Revenue
United States $ 91,76 $ 90,10¢ $ 73,71¢
International 10,73¢ 10,84¢ 5,78¢
Total revenue $ 102,49¢ $ 100,95 $ 79,50
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The Company’s tangible long-lived assets by gedycagegion, consisting of net property and equiptnare summarized as follows:

December 31,

(in thousands) 2013 2012 2011
Property and equipment, net
United States $ 5,24¢ % 3,465 % 2,64¢
International 11€ 16€ 55
Total property and equipment, net $ 536 $ 3631 § 2,701

At December 31, 2013 and 2012 , no customer aceduot 10% or more of accounts receivable. Foy#ars ended December 31, 2013, 2012
and 2011 , no customer represented 10% or moevehue.

10. Income taxe:

The components of (loss) income before income taress follows:

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2013 2012 2011

United States $ (10,819 $ 3,208 % (2,427

International 45¢ 31¢ 227
Total (loss) income before income taxes $ (10,359 $ 352 § (2,199

The components of the provision for income taxesaarfollows:

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2013 2012 2011
Current
Federal $ — % 7 $ 25
State (40) 512 15€
Foreign 74 38 55
34 557 23¢
Deferred
Federal 60 6C 6C
State 4 1C 9
Foreign 11 g (20
75 7C 49
Total income tax provision $ 10¢ ¢ 627 $ 28t

The Company had an effective tax rate of (1.1)%.8% and (13.0)% for the years ended December@®13 22012 and 2011 , respectively.
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Reconciliation of the provision for income taxeshat statutory rate to the Company’s provisionifieome tax is as follows:

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2013 2012 2011
U.S. federal (tax benefit) provision at statutcater $ (3,567 $ 1,197 $ (74€)
State (tax benefit) income taxes, net of federakfie (33¢) 151 10¢
Foreign income taxes at rates other than the US rat (28) (20) (72)
Stock-based compensation 54¢ 397 34C
Change in valuation allowance 3,911 (1,494 54¢
Non-deductible warrant expense — 625 334
Research and development credits (527) (220) (290
Other 10¢ (19 64
Total $ 10¢ % 627 $ 28t

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effettermporary differences between the carrying anmmohtissets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for in¢arpurposes. The following table presents theifsigimt components of the Company’s
deferred tax assets and liabilities for the perjpasented:

As of December 31,

(in thousands) 2013 2012
Deferred tax assets
Net operating loss carryforward $ 11,87 $ 14,27(
Research and development credits 2,80¢ 2,637
Depreciation and amortization 28¢ 84
Reserves and accruals 6,06( 4,50z
Total deferred tax assets 21,03( 21,49
Valuation allowance (21,030 (21,199
Net deferred tax assets — 30C
Deferred tax liabilities (21€) (457)
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (21¢) $ (157)

The Company determines its valuation allowanceefarded tax assets by considering both positivereaggtive evidence in order to ascertain
whether it is more likely than not that deferrexi aasets will be realized. Realization of defetsedassets is dependent upon the generation of
future taxable income, if any, the timing and antaafrwhich are uncertain. Due to the history ofsles the Company has generated in the past, th
Company believes that it is not more likely tham that all of the deferred tax assets in the Unl. @anada can be realized as of December 31,
2013 ; accordingly, the Company has recorded avédllation allowance on its deferred tax assets.

The Company’s valuation allowance decreased by ®dl@n and $1.5 million for the years ended Debem31, 2013 and 2012 , respectively.
The changes in the valuation allowances were pifyndue to the addition of loss carryforwards.

At December 31, 2013 , the Company had $49.6 mikind $37.5 million , respectively, of federal atakte net operating loss carryforwards.
Included in the gross amount, approximately $27l2am of net operating loss is created by excesslsoption deduction. A credit to APIC will
be recorded when the excess stock option deduttrces the income tax payable.

The federal net operating loss carryforward begigsring in 2015, and the state net operating ¢t@ss/forward began expiring in 2014, if not
utilized.

In addition, the Company has federal research andldpment tax credits carryforwards of approxitya®d.7 million and state research and
development tax credit carryforwards of approxirfya$2.5 million . The federal credit carryforwarkegin expiring 2021 and the state credits
carry forward indefinitely . The Internal Revenuedg (IRC) contains provisions which limit the ambahnet operating loss (NOL) and research
credit carryforwards that can be used in any gixesar if a significant change in ownership has o@lirDuring the year, the Company determ
that prior changes in ownership as defined und€r $ection 382 had occurred, resulting in a redadtiche Company's NOL and credits
carryovers for amounts which will expire unutilizede to these limitations. Accordingly, the Compadegreased its deferred tax asset and
corresponding valuation allowance by $2.5 milliorreflect the reduction of these carryovers. ABetember 31, 2013, $12.8 million of the
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Company's NOL carryovers and $0.5 million of creditryovers are subject to an annual $0.6 millignitation, of which $7.5 million NOLs
would be available to offset future taxable incaméhe twenty-year carryforward period.

The following table displays by contributing factbe changes in the valuation allowance for defeta@ assets since January 1, 2011:

Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Balance at the beginning of the period $ 21,19: % 22,680 % 21,58t
Net operating loss utilization (2,399 (3,505 (889
R&D tax credit (decrease) increase 172 272 38¢
Depreciation and amortization increase (decrease) 204 2¢ (309)
Reserves and accruals increase 1,55¢ 1,27: 1,581
Deferred tax assets decrease 30C 437 32¢
Balance at the end of the period $ 21,03C  $ 21,190 § 22,68

The Company adopted the authoritative guidanc&&ocounting for Uncertainty of Income Taxes" on Jary 1, 2009. The following table
reflects changes in the unrecognized tax benéfiteslanuary 1, 2012:

Years ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2013 2012

Gross amount of unrecognized tax benefits as abdggnning of the period $ 1,07¢ % 90¢
Increases related to prior year tax provisions 3C 7
Decreases related to prior year tax provisions (239) —
Increases related to current year tax provisions 222 164
Gross amount of unrecognized tax benefits as oftiaeof the period $ 1,09 $ 1,07¢

As a result of the Company’s historic losses ateted valuation allowances, the Company has redattie uncertain tax amounts above entirely
as reductions to deferred tax assets which arestutgj a full valuation allowance in its consolehbalance sheet. The Company recognizes
interest and penalties relating to uncertain tasitfpms in income tax expense. For the years ebdmegmber 31, 2013 and 2012 , penalties and
interest were $26,000 and zero , respectivelyh&gdompany is not currently under examinatiors reasonable to assume that the balance of
gross unrecognized tax benefits will likely not e in the next twelve months.

The Company files income tax returns in the Unii¢gkes on a federal basis and in various statesCbimpany is not currently under any
international or any United States federal, statélacal income tax examinations for any taxablargeAll of the Company’s net operating losses
and research credit carryforwards prior to 2013salgect to tax authority adjustment and all yeditar 2008 are still subject to the tax authority
examinations.

The Company has not provided for U.S. federal an€ign withholding taxes on $0.9 million of the Cuamy’s non-U.S. subsidiaries’
undistributed earnings as of December 31, 2GiBce the Company intends to reinvest this amoutside the U.S. indefinitely. The tax impac
repatriating these earnings is not practical to mate.

11. Subsequent even

Business Acquisitior

On January 13, 2014 , the Company acquired cextsiats of mVisum, Inc., an innovative providerlafra management technology solutions for
health systems, for $3.5 million cash in an assethase transaction. This new acquisition spedli§iealdresses communications breakdowns
caused by alarm fatigue, which has become a topmatafety concern and a regulatory priority.

Alarm fatigue occurs when clinicians receive toagnalarms during a given shift with too little cert or data to assess the urgency or criticality
of the alarms, which can negatively affect patsgafety. The mVisum technology platform providesgesand data, including waveforms like
electrocardiograms, with the alarm notificationegity to the physician, nurse or other membersiefcare team so that they can prioritize their
response based on context and important information

75




Table of Contents

The acquisition is expected to align well with empany's strategic vision of being the leadeniagrated, intelligent communications solutions
for healthcare and other mission-critical environtse

The Company is currently completing the preliminpaychase price allocation and expects the majofitiie purchase consideration will be
allocable to intangibles and goodwiill.

Quarterly results of operations (unaudited)
The following tables present certain unaudited obdated quarterly financial information for eachtloe eight quarters ended December 31,

2013 . This quarterly information has been preparethe same basis as the consolidated finanaigmeents and includes all adjustments
necessary to state fairly the information for tleeigds presented.

(In thousands, except per share data) Quarter Ended

2013 March 31, June 30 September 3C December 31
Total revenue $ 22,41 $ 25,29¢ $ 26,067 $ 28,72:
Gross profit $ 13,71¢  $ 15,79 $ 16,277 $ 18,40:
Net loss $ (3499 $ (2,029 $ (3,109 $ (1,847
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (3,499 $ (2,029 $ (3,109 $ (1,84%)

Net loss per share attributable to common stoclkdisid
Basic and diluted $ (0.19 $ (0.0§) $ (0.19) $ (0.07)

Weighted average shares used to compute net inoss3 per
share attributable to common stockholders:

Basic and diluted 24,28: 24 ,55¢ 24,74° 24,89:

Quarter Ended
2012 March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,

Total revenue $ 23,11¢ $ 24,87¢ $ 25,96¢ $ 26,99:
Gross profit $ 14,12:  $ 15,58: $ 16,98¢ $ 17,64
Net (loss) income $ (83€) $ 1,181 $ 1,737 $ 811
Net (loss) income attributable to common stockhelde $ (83€) $ 102 % 1,72¢ % 80¢
Net (loss) income per share attributable to comstookholders:
Basic $ (0.29) $ 0.0C $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0
Diluted $ (0.29) $ 0.0C % 007 % 0.0z
Weighted average shares used to compute net inoss} per
common share:
Basic 3,661 21,73¢ 22,45( 23,95
Diluted 3,661 24,52( 25,33 26,13¢

Iltem 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Aounting and Financial Disclosur:

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedur

Disclosure controls and procedures are designedduore that information required to be discloseddin reports filed or submitted under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarizedegotted within the time periods specified in 8ecurities and Exchange Commission's
rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedmeade, without limitation, controls and procedsitdesigned to ensure that information
required to be disclosed in reports filed underikehange Act is accumulated and communicated tmgement, including principal executive
and principal financial officers, or persons penfarg similar functions, as appropriate to alloweisndecisions regarding required disclosure.
There are inherent
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limitations to the effectiveness of any systemis€lbsure controls and procedures, including tresiality of human error and the circumvention
or overriding of the controls and procedures. Adaagly, even effective disclosure controls and prhaes can only provide reasonable assurance
of achieving their control objectives.

As of December 31, 2013 we have carried out aruatiah under the supervision of, and with the pagrétion of our management, including our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officef the effectiveness of the design and operaifayur disclosure controls and procedures as
defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of thehBrge Act. Based on our evaluation, our Chief EtreeOfficer and Chief Financial Officer
concluded that our disclosure controls and proesiuere effective as of December 31, 2013 .

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Finarad Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f)
under the Exchange Act). Our management conductedsessment of the effectiveness of our intedtal over financial reporting based on
the criteria set forth in the original 1992 versigrthe Internal Control - Integrated Frameworluies by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission ("COSB8sed on the assessment, management has condiatiedrt internal control over

financial reporting was effective as of DecemberZ113 based on these criteria. This Annual Repoform 10K does not include an attestati
report of our registered public accounting firmaan internal control over financial reporting dweain exemption established by the JOBS Act for
"emerging growth companies".

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportm

Except for the ongoing implementation of a sopb&td ERP system, there was no change in our alteontrol over financial reporting which
occurred during the three months ended Decembex@B which has materially affected, or is reasbnkitely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.

PART llI

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace

The information required for this Item 10 is incorated by reference from our Proxy Statement tfildse in connection with our 2014 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required for this Item is incorpi@e by reference from our Proxy Statement to legl fibr our 2014 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andManagement and Related Stockholder Mattel

The information required for this Item is incorpiae by reference from our Proxy Statement to leg fibr our 2014 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders.

Iltem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an®irector Independence

The information required for this Item is incorpi@e by reference from our Proxy Statement to legl fibr our 2014 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Service

The information required for this Item is incorpiae by reference from our Proxy Statement to leg fibr our 2014 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders.

PART IV

Iltem 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule
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(a)The following documents are filed as a parhig Annual Report on Form 10-K:
1. Financial Statements:

The financial statements filed as part of this repee listed in the “Index to Financial Statemé&ntsder Part Il, Iltem 8 of this report.

2. Financial Statement Schedule:

All schedules are omitted as the required inforarats inapplicable or the information is preseritethe Consolidated Financial Statem:
or Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ulteler 8.
3. Exhibits:
See Exhibit Index following the signature pagehi$ report.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1é&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Resyisthas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereualy althorized.

VOCERA COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

Date: March 17, 2014 By: /s/ BrentD. Lang

Brent D. Lang
Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: March 17, 2014 By: /sl William R. Zerella

William R. Zerella
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each persorosé signature appears below constitutes and agdiant D. Lang,
William R. Zerella and Jay M. Spitzen, and eacthefm, as his true and lawful attorney-in-fact agdrd, with full power of substitution and
resubstitution, for him and in his name, place stiedd, in any and all capacities, to sign any draheendments (including post-effective
amendments) to this Annual Report on FormKl@nd to file the same, with all exhibits theredaod other documents in connection therewith,
the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and eacheont full power and authority to do and
perform each and every act and thing requisitereessary to be done in connection therewith, Igstéuall intents and purposes as he might or

could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirmaligthat said attorneys-in-fact and agents, ora@fthhem, or their or his substitutes, may
lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue thereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bblptte following persons on behalf of
the Company and in the capacities and on the datesated:
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Signature

Title

Date

/s/ Brent D. Lang

Brent D. Lang

/s/ William R. Zerella

William R. Zerella

/s/ Brian D. Ascher

Brian D. Ascher

/s/ John B. Grotting

John B. Grotting

/sl Jeffrey H. Hillebrand

Jeffrey H. Hillebrand

/s/ Howard E. Janzen

Howard E. Janzen

/s/ John N. McMullen

John N. McMullen

/sl Hany M. Nada

Hany M. Nada

/s/ Sharon O'Keefe

Sharon O'Keefe

/s/ Robert J. Zollars

Robert J. Zollars

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Incorporated by reference

Exhibit File Filed
Number Exhibit title Form No. Date Number herewith
3.01 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the S-1 333- August 24, 201 3.01

Registrant. 175932
3.02 Restated Bylaws of Vocera Communications, 8-K 001- July 30, 201: 3.01

Inc., as amended July 25, 2013. 35469
4.01 Amended and Restated Investor Rights S-1 333- August 1, 201, 4.0z

Agreement, dated as of October 10, 2006, by 175932

and among the Registrant and certain investors
of the Registrant.

10.01 Forms of Indemnity Agreement by and S-1 333- August 1, 201, 10.01
between the Registrant and each of its directors 175932
and executive officers.

10.02+ 2000 Stock Option Plan, as amended, and forsi1(A2) February 24, 201 10.0Z
of stock option agreement.

10.03+ 2006 Stock Option Plan, as amended, and forsa1(A2) 333- February 24, 201 10.0¢
of stock option agreement. 175932

10.04+ 2012 Equity Incentive Plan and forms of equitg-1(A3)  333- March 13, 201, 10.0¢
award agreements. 175932

10.05+ 2012 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. S-1(A3) 333- March 13, 201, 10.0¢
175932

10.06+ Form of Option Agreement dated July 31, S-1 333- August 1, 201, 10.0¢
2007, by and between the Registrant and each 175932

of Brent Lang and Robert Zollars.

10.07+ 2010 Stock Option Agreement to purchase S-1 333- August 1, 201 10.07
common stock, dated as of November 3, 2010, 175932
issued by the Registrant to DS Consulting
Associates, LLC and 2011 Stock Option
Agreement to purchase common stock, date
of November 3, 2010 issued by the Registrant
to DS Consulting Associates, LLC.

10.8 Lease Agreement, dated as of September 26, S-1 333- August 1, 201 10.11
2007, by and between 525 Race Street, LLC 175932
and the Registrant, as amended on February 17,
2011.

10.9t Original Equipment Manufacturer Agreement, S-1 333- August 1, 201 10.1:
dated as of April 25, 2002, by and between 175932

Nuance Communications, Inc. and the
Registrant, as amended through April 4, 2006.

10.10% Contract Manufacturing Agreement, dateda  S-1 333- August 1, 201 10.1¢
June 7, 2010, by and between SMTC 175932
Corporation and the Registrant.



10.11+

10.12+

21.01

Form of Change of Control Severance S-1(A2) 333- February 24, 201
Agreement by and between the Registrant and 175932
each of its executive officers.

Form of non-plan Restricted Stock Purchase S-1(A2) 333- February 24, 201
Agreement for non-employee directors. 175932

List of subsidiaries.
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23.01 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP,
independent registered public accounting firm.

24.01 Power of Attorney (included on signatpage).

31.01* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant
to Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) or
15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.02 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuawt
Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) or 15d-
14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.01 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS# XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH# XBRL Taxonomy Schema Linkbase Document
101.CAL# XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Docum
101.DEF# XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB# XBRL Taxonomy Labels Linkbase Document

101.PRE# XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase
Document

*  Indicates management contract or compensatorygslarrangement.

T Portions of have been granted confidential treatrbgrthe SEC.

*  This certification shall not be deemed “filed” fanrposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchardef1934, as amended, or otherwise subject ttiahgities
of that section, nor shall it be deemed incorpar@tereference into any filing under the Securifies of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exaldug of
1934, as amended, whether made before or aftefatiechereof and irrespective of any general incaitfmn language in any filings.

# In accordance with Rule 406T of Regulation S-T,ittiermation in these exhibits is furnished andrded not filed or part of a registration statement o
prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 oStwrities Act of 1933, as amended, is deemeélledtfor purposes of Section 18 of the Exchangé &c
1934, as amended, and otherwise is not subjeititity under these sections.
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EXHIBIT 21.01

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

VOCERA COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

Vocera Communications UK Ltd. (United Kingdom)
Vocera Communications Australia Pty Ltd. (Australia
V ocera Canada, Ltd. (Canada)

Vocera Communications India Private Limited



Exhibit 23.01

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtiee Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N83:180417 and 333-186818) of Vocera

Communications, Inc. of our report dated March2¥} 4 relating to the financial statements, whicpegps in this Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California
March 17, 2014



EXHIBIT 31.01

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT T O RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-
OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Brent D. Lang, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10fK/ocera Communications, Inc.:

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadoriny untrue statement of a material fact or donfitate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigtadiisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememt3,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, angtifie periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)1f6f the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedoresused such disclosure controls and procedaoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhsabsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duritg tperiod in which this report is being prepared,;

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finah@gaorting to be designed under «
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitte reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragisslosure controls and procedures and presentisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and prors] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegyig's internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the registrant’'s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth disguarter in the case of an annual report) thatnhaterially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s inted control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitac@mmittee of the registrant’s board of directfws persons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal comtver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfgaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invawveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrar®’interna
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 17, 2014 /s/ Brent D. Lang
Brent D. Lang
Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.02

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT T O RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-
OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, William R. Zerella, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10fK/ocera Communications, Inc.:

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadoriny untrue statement of a material fact or donfitate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigtadiisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememt3,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, angtifie periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)15¢r the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedaoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgabsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duritg tperiod in which this report is being prepared,;

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finah@gaorting to be designed under «
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitte reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragisslosure controls and procedures and presentisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and prors] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegyig's internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the registrant’'s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth disguarter in the case of an annual report) thatnhaterially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s inted control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anaave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitac@mmittee of the registrant’s board of direct(@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal comtver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfgaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invawveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrarg’interna
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 17, 2014 /s/ William R. Zerella
William R. Zerella
Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 32.01
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF  FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adoptediguirso Section 906 of the Sarbari@dey Act of 2002, Brent D. Lang, Chief ExecutivéiCer
of Vocera Communications, Inc. (the “Company”), aildliam R. Zerella, Chief Financial Officer of tt@ompany, each hereby certifies that, to
his knowledge:

1. The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for pleeiod ended December 31, 2013, to which thigifidation is attached as Exhibit 32.01
(the “Periodic Report”), fully complies with theqeirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) ofSkeurities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended; and

2. The information contained in the Periodic Refairly presents, in all material respects, thaficial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

In Witness Whereof, the undersigned have set Hagids hereto as of the 17th day of March 2014 .

/s/ Brent D. Lang /s/ William R. Zerella
Brent D. Lang William R. Zerella
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer




